OXFAMRESEARCH BACKGROUNDER

Caring in a changing climate

Centering care work in climate action

Sherilyn MacGregor, Seema Arora-Jonsson and Maeve Cohen



Contents

Ox	fam's Research Backgrounders	. iii
	hor Information and Acknowledgments	
Cita	ations of this paper	. iV
Acr	onyms and Abbreviations	. iv
Exe	ecutive summary	1
1.	Introduction	5
1.1	Literature Review and Methodology	8
	Limitations	
1.3	Report structure	10
	Conceptualizing and contextualizing care work	
	Defining care work	
	Analyzing unpaid care work as relational and contextual	16
	Unpaid care work in rural areas in low-income countries:	40
	ntextual factors	
2.4	Transforming unpaid care work inequalities	20
3.	Care work in a changing climate	32
3.1	Climate change and everyday life	32
	Gender and climate change	
	Impacts of climate change on unpaid care work	
3.4	Discussion	46
4.	Effects of climate change interventions on care work	50
4.1	Climate change interventions	52
4.2	Gender neutrality in climate change interventions	54
	Equating gender with women and disregarding gendered care	
	ntexts	
4.4	Summary	62
5.	Gender-just and care sensitive climate action	64
5.1	"Gender-just climate solutions"	64
	Care-sensitive climate action: Applying The 5R Framework	68
	Reducing and redistributing care work as part of climate	
	erventions	
5.4	Reflections on trade-offs and knowledge gaps	85
6.	Conclusions	88
6.1	Climate change intensifies gender-unjust care work inequalities	88
6.2	The importance of care-sensitive analysis	89

Gender-just and care-sensitive	climate action: Potential pathwa	ys91
References		96
Research Backgrounders Serie	s Listing	120

OXFAM'S RESEARCH BACKGROUNDERS

Series editor: Kimberly Pfeifer

Oxfam's Research Backgrounders are designed to inform and foster discussion about topics critical to poverty reduction. The series explores a range of issues on which Oxfam works—all within the broader context of international development and humanitarian relief. The series was designed to share Oxfam's rich research with a wide audience in hopes of fostering thoughtful debate and discussion. All Backgrounders are available as downloadable PDFs on our website, oxfamamerica.org/research, and may be distributed and cited with proper attribution (please see following page).

Topics of Oxfam's Research Backgrounders are selected to support Oxfam's development objectives or key aspects of our policy work. Each Backgrounder represents an initial effort by Oxfam to inform the strategic development of our work, and each is either a literature synthesis or original research, conducted or commissioned by Oxfam America. All Backgrounders have undergone peer review.

Oxfam's Research Backgrounders are not intended as advocacy or campaign tools; nor do they constitute an expression of Oxfam policy. The views expressed are those of the authors—not necessarily those of Oxfam. Nonetheless, we believe this research constitutes a useful body of work for all readers interested in poverty reduction.

For a full list of available Backgrounders, please see the "Research Backgrounder Series Listing" section of this report.

Author information and acknowledgments

Sherilyn MacGregor, PhD, is Reader in Environmental Politics at the University of Manchester in the UK. Seema Arora-Jonsson, PhD, is Professor of Rural Development at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Maeve Cohen is a UK-based environmental campaigner, project lead at the Social Guarantee and co-founder of Rethinking Economics.

The authors thank James Morrissey (Oxfam America), Jerome De Henau (Open University), Anna-Maria Köhke (University of Manchester), and the three anonymous peer reviewers for their feedback and input at various stages of the process. Maeve Cohen's research assistance was generously funded by the Sustainable Consumption Institute at the University of Manchester.

Citations of this paper

Please use the following format when citing this paper:

MacGregor, Sherilyn, Arora-Jonsson, Seema and Cohen, Maeve "Caring in a changing climate: Centering care work in climate action," Oxfam Research Backgrounder series (2022): https://www.oxfamamerica.org/explore/research-publications/caring-in-a-changing-climate/

For permission to publish a larger excerpt, please email your request to permissions@oxfamamerica.org.

acronyms and abbreviations

CCA Climate Change Adaptation

CGIAR Consultative Group for International Agricultural Research

CIS Climate Information Services

CSA Climate Smart Agriculture

DRR Disaster Risk Reduction

FANRPAN Food, Agriculture & Natural Resources Policy Analysis

Network

ATONU Agriculture to Nutrition

FUNDAECO Foundation for Ecodevelopment and Conservation

GBV Gender Based Violence

GCA Global Commission on Adaptation

GHG Greenhouse Gas

GJCS Gender Just Climate Solutions

GRAD Graduation with Resilience to Achieve Sustainable

Development

HHM Household Methodologies

ICT Information Communication Technology

ILO International Labor Organization

IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change

IUCN International Union for the Conservation of Nature

NGO Non-governmental Organization

NREGS National Rural Employment Guarantee Scheme

NTFP non-Timber Forest Products

REDD+ Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Degradation (and

the role of conservation, sustainable management of forests and enhancement of forest carbon stocks in developing

countries)

SDG Sustainable Development Goal

SP Social Protection

SSA sub-Saharan Africa

UN United Nations

UNFCCC United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

WEDO Women's Environment and Development Organization

WGC Women's and Gender Constituency

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The global care crisis is being exacerbated by the global climate emergency, with interlocking impacts that threaten lives and livelihoods in all parts of the world. These impacts are particularly severe in resource-based economies and make everyday life difficult for people living with scarce resources and low incomes in rural areas of the global South. Climate change intensifies the work involved in caring for people, animals, plants, and places. It reduces the availability and quality of public services in marginalized communities and directly compounds the unfair distribution of unpaid care work that sustains gender inequality.

Yet the intersections of climate change and care work have been overlooked in the development literature. A lack of research has led to gaps in climate policy and planning. Strategies for climate mitigation and adaptation have paid relatively little attention to how care work is affected by climate impacts, nor have they considered whether interventions improve or intensify the situation of carers. Instead, when designing "gender-sensitive" climate actions, the focus has been largely on women's economic empowerment as opposed to alleviating or transforming existing distributions of care work.

The aim of this report is to fill a knowledge gap by examining the points of interaction between climate change impacts and the amount, distribution, and conditions of unpaid care work. We focus on care workers rather than those who are cared for, while stressing the relational nature of care and acknowledging that carers too require care.

We adopt a definition of unpaid care work that includes direct and indirect care for people as well as for living environments, as this work is central to people's everyday lives in rural areas. Direct care refers to hands-on care for people; indirect care refers to provisioning of necessary goods and services for people. By environmental care work we mean activities that take place outside the household that are necessary for provisioning and subsistence (including caring for animals, plants, and common spaces on which households depend). We discuss these types of care as interconnected, often carried out simultaneously (with each other and with income-generating work) and notoriously difficult to measure.

We take a relational approach to gender, regarding it as a set of power relations, and rather than concentrating on individual women as carers we focus on the dynamics of care work in different contexts. Here it is important to recognize that the intersection of different axes of inequality (including class/caste, race, age, sexuality, and dis/ability) shapes the meaning of gender and the distribution of this work. We discuss differences in the roles and responses of men and boys in regards to care work, but note a lack of relevant empirical research to draw upon.

Our review of the literature on the existing and potential effects of climate change interventions finds that mitigation and adaptation strategies tend to prioritize the biophysical environment and technical fixes while ignoring unpaid care work. Climate change-related stressors exacerbate existing inequalities, but so do climate change programs that can reproduce, exacerbate, and introduce new inequalities. We identify a number of ways that climate interventions exacerbate or fail to redress care work burdens and inequalities, in part due to problematic understandings of gender relations.

For at least two decades, feminists have used a set of R words—recognize, redistribute, reduce, represent, and reward—to propose gender-transformative care policies. We apply this 5R framework to analyze the extent to which existing climate interventions make a difference to care work for people living with climate impacts in low-income rural settings in the global South.

Building on the 5R framework, we argue for care-sensitive climate actions that are gender transformative rather than merely responsive to existing gender norms. To be gender transformative, interventions should be care sensitive so that they make care work possible and rewarding for all genders, and integral to climate mitigation and adaptation. Recognizing and valuing the work of caring offers a counter-narrative to the dominant positioning of poor women as vulnerable victims of climate change. Redistributing care work so that it is not seen as women's work, or treated as a free natural resource to be exploited, but rather shared fairly in households and other spheres of society is a necessary step towards transforming existing gender injustices.

Increasing the representation of carers and enabling their active participation and leadership is an important strategy for redressing the use of simplistic narratives by development practitioners and researchers. However, more involvement will not automatically lead to transformative change unless it is facilitated by structural changes to support it. For example, projects that are demanding of women's time without a reduction in caring responsibilities will entrench rather than alleviate gendered disadvantages.

Climate change policies and programs may have moved from being gender insensitive to gender responsive, but there is still a long way to go to become gender transformative, largely because of an enduring assumption that care is a feature of gender relations (or "women's work") rather than a collective necessity that is as foundational to economies and human survival as agriculture. Gender-transformative policies are those that redress the underlying causes of gender inequality, two of which are the feminization and invisibilization of care work, so that the goal of gender equality can be realized and sustained.

These and other findings lead us to suggest potential pathways for the realization of care-sensitive climate actions, which we present as a set of policy arguments and areas for further research, including:

- Climate interventions must be care sensitive: they must accept, first, that care
 work is foundational to all societies (and economies) and, second, that efforts
 to respond to climate change will not be socially just unless the value of care
 work and the needs, experiences, and knowledge of carers are included at all
 stages and unless they are developed with both the 5Rs of the care
 framework and an intersectional-relational understanding of gender in mind.
- Physical infrastructure and labor-saving technologies that are compatible with
 the needs and practices of users and that facilitate daily care work, such as
 solutions for water access, low-impact cookstoves, and mobile climate
 information services, can make a positive difference and are essential for
 meeting the challenges presented by climate change impacts when they
 succeed at reducing the time demands and drudgery of care work.
- It is highly likely that the most gender-transformative way to redistribute care
 work is through provision of services, infrastructure, and social protection (in
 line with Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 5: Gender Equality). Simply
 providing physical infrastructure and technologies is not enough: there needs
 to be increased state investment in policies and services that socialize the
 provision of care and collectivize the work involved.
- Gender-sensitive research does not necessarily lead (and thus far has not led) to adequate knowledge of the specificities of the care-climate nexus.
 Researching gender is not the same as researching care.
- The 5R framework is about care work with little consideration of the synergies as well as tensions and trade-offs between the different Rs (e.g., reduce, reward) for sustainable development or for tackling climate breakdown. There are potential "win-win" pathways, where climate actions can simultaneously contribute to gender-transformative change, but more research is needed to develop interdisciplinary, evidence-based, and contextual analyses of these potential pathways.
- Research in this field should continue to use innovative participatory, household, and community-based methods that can amplify the voices of carers, capture evidence of the valuable knowledge and expertise they hold for developing climate solutions, and involve men and boys as equal partners in care work as well as in achieving gender-just climate solutions.
- There are gaps in the existing literature on care work that result from the
 tendency to focus on women and/or heterosexual couple households. We
 recommend more research on the role and practices of men and boys in care
 work. In addition, as in the field of development studies and policy more
 generally, gender-based analyses of the care-climate nexus should challenge
 heteronormativity by researching how sexual orientation, gender

identity/expression, and structural discrimination and violence against LGBTQI+ people affect the experience of caring in a changing climate.

1. INTRODUCTION

A wealth of research over the past four decades has shown that women and girls do the majority of unpaid and underpaid care work. Women do more than double the amount of care work as men, and if paid and unpaid work are combined, women's daily working time is longer than men's in almost all countries around the world (UN Women 2015; FAO and CARE 2019). Oxfam has emphasized the foundational nature of this work to the global economy, calculating that it adds value to the economy equivalent to at least US\$10.8 trillion a year (Coffey et al. 2020,12; Mugehera and Parkes 2020). Women's disproportionate responsibility for care work is a major cause of their lower status relative to men, which is connected to gender discrimination, lower earnings, and less time for education, leisure, and political engagement (Rost et al. 2015).

In the international policy arena, care work has gained more attention since the 1990s and now features as a key concern in the United Nations (UN) Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Goal 5 on gender equality and women's empowerment calls on states to "recognize and value unpaid care and domestic work through the provision of public services, infrastructure and social protection policies and the promotion of shared responsibility within the household and the family as nationally appropriate" (UNDP 2015). The recognition given to care work in the SDGs has been welcomed by feminist economists and gender and development scholars as a sign that one of the main drivers of gender inequality is finally being addressed. Most agree that tackling the exploitation and undervaluation of care work, locally and globally, must be part of any discussion of women's empowerment in public and private spheres of life. Moreover, there is a consensus among feminist experts that transforming "caring as usual" is essential for achieving gender justice (Rao, N. 2018; Elson 2017; Razavi 2007; Folbre 2006).

Most scholars who research care work agree that the exploitation and undervaluation of care (Adatti et al. 2018) has resulted in a global care crisis (Coffey et al. 2020; Dowling 2021). The impacts of global climate breakdown are exacerbating the care crisis in a number of specific ways we go on to discuss in this report. Extreme weather, flooding, pandemics, and droughts are especially serious in low-income countries and less industrialized, resource-based economies located in the global South. These climate change impacts are

¹ We use "global South" to refer to countries geographically in Asia, Africa, and Latin/South America. The global South, as a term, indicates more than geography. It points to "an entire history of colonialism, neo-imperialism, and differential economic and social change through which large inequalities in living standard, life expectancy, and access to resources are maintained" (Dados and Connell 2012, 13). In that sense, as postcolonial and decolonial scholars have argued there are "pockets of the South" in the

widely acknowledged to exacerbate existing inequalities and make everyday life more difficult for people living in poverty without access to the support taken for granted in rich, more industrialized countries with CO₂-intensive economies and lifestyles (IPCC 2014). As the Covid-19 pandemic has made clear, some of the most severe impacts increase the level of care required while reducing the number of people who are able to undertake care work. Insofar as women's unpaid care work provides a "shock absorber" (Elson 1991) for all sorts of threats and crises, it is inevitable that climate change impacts make caring even more time consuming and difficult. While it is common to read that women and girls must walk longer distances to fetch water in climate-challenged contexts, this is only one example of the myriad challenges people of all genders and ages are facing. Yet, at present, there is scant research on the care work-climate change nexus (Butt et al. 2020).

We show how the lack of attention to the intersections of climate change and care inequalities means that strategies for mitigation and adaptation that are pursued by governments and organizations have paid very little attention to care work (Bee 2013; Gay-Antaki 2016). The Paris Agreement within the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) mandates that climate intervention strategies be "gender responsive" and contribute to building the capacity of women to be agents of change (UNFCCC 2015; UN Women 2016). In the process of designing climate actions that are responsive and sensitive to gender, governments and other actors have focused primarily on women's economic activities and overlooked how paid and unpaid care are interconnected or how intra-household distributions of care work are negotiated or entrenched (Westholm and Arora-Jonsson 2015). Efforts to be gender responsive, or to center women's empowerment in climate change programs, are not necessarily care sensitive in that they do not take the specific concerns of carers into account, much less try to redress problems stemming from care work burdens and inequalities. Developing an approach to climate action that is care sensitive requires systematic analysis of how climate change impacts and uncertainties affect the amount and distribution of care work as well as the factors that make care work more or less difficult, and more or less rewarding.

This report fills a knowledge gap by examining the points of interaction between climate change impacts and the amount and distribution of unpaid care work as well as the conditions in which it is carried out in rural households and communities in very low-income countries. We locate the analysis in these countries because of Oxfam's primary focus on these contexts,² and because

global North. In this report, as we explain further, we limit our focus to the low-income countries in the global South.

² The Scope of Work for this commissioned research paper states, "All of the research questions...pertain to *rural livelihoods, in extremely low-income contexts*" and specifies that the literature review should be limited to "*very low-income, rural contexts*" (no

these are the parts of the world where climate change impacts—and the impacts of mitigation and adaptation strategies—are most disastrous for livelihoods due to poverty and other colonial legacies. These hotspot areas are also the most vulnerable to extreme changes in climate due to a dependence on rain-fed agriculture, with countries of Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) among the worst affected (WB 2013; Bryan et al. 2018). The overwhelming majority of the population in these areas is engaged in small-scale farming and gathering for their livelihoods (FAO 2012). Research on climate-driven livelihood stresses and climate adaptation, in both the academic and grey literature, is mainly situated in the global South, although there is an increasing amount of literature on Northern contexts.

There is also a body of research on how climate change impacts are gendered and how interventions that aim to redress these impacts have gendered results. It is less clear how interventions affect the work of caring in a changing climate. Our research looks at the extent to which existing climate change interventions make a difference to care work for people in rural areas of low-income countries in the global South where there is a lack of social and physical infrastructures to support people to cope with the most serious of climate impacts. Care work in these areas carries on largely unsupported and under ever-worsening conditions (Babugura 2017; UNHRC 2019; UN 2019). Analyzing the specific impacts that climate change has on care work in these systemically underserved and vulnerable places enables us to suggest actions that could potentially alleviate the negative outcomes and accentuate the positive outcomes. These caresensitive actions are informed by the "5R framework," which (in varying forms) has been used for at least two decades by feminist researchers and advocates to develop policies for transforming gendered care work inequalities (Elson 2017; Esquivel 2014).3 It consists of five verbs beginning with the letter "R"—recognize, redistribute, reduce, represent, and reward—that each call for a set of positive actions. As further elaborated in section 2.4 (p. 28), this framework provides important resources for understanding the challenges and opportunities for addressing gender inequalities by changing care work. They have been adopted by many organizations, including Oxfam.4

specific definition or criteria for inclusion is given beyond this). We have followed Oxfam's guidance and focused on low-income countries in the global South, specifically Sub-Saharan African, South Asian, and Latin American countries. However, we acknowledge that there are low-income rural contexts in the global North that we have not considered in this report.

³ The model started out as the Triple R framework, first developed by Elson (2009), was further elaborated by Esquivel (2013, 2014), and has since expanded to become the 4 and 5R frameworks.

⁴ The fifth R—reward—is a topic of debate. Many organizations and projects, including Oxfam's WE-Care, use the 4Rs (probably) because they prefer not to advocate

1.1 LITERATURE REVIEWED AND METHODOLOGY

The report is the product of an extensive review of both grey and academic literature published in English. We collected grey literature by exploring the archives of leading organizations producing work on climate change and gender, using keyword searches. We then searched the reference lists of relevant reports for more related literature until saturation was reached. Recent reports by major organizations, networks, and think tanks, including UN Women, the International Labour Organization (ILO), the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN), the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), and the UNFCCC's Women's and Gender Constituency (WGC), which are themselves based on comprehensive literature reviews, were used to check comprehensiveness. In addition, we reviewed a number of relevant Oxfam Research Backgrounders and briefing papers on care work, poverty alleviation, energy access, and responses to climate change in low-income, rural, and agrarian settings in the global South.

The peer-reviewed academic literature was collected in a similar way. We drew on our own expert knowledge of the most up-to-date academic research, enabling us to identify key articles and reports. Through keyword searches in Google Scholar and the use of up-to-date literature reviews, we compiled an extensive library of articles. We compared the bibliographies of existing literature reviews and reports until a large sample of relevant recent research was found. We did not apply methods of a systematic review but instead conducted contextual and theoretical analysis using our own social scientific expertise. In order to consolidate the information and evidence, and to draw attention to key themes in the literature, we developed tables. Our presentation of evidence in these tables is synthetic and indicative rather than comprehensive because climate impacts are highly contextual.

Because the question of how care work has been affected by climatic changes has not been a focus in the grey or academic literature, we draw on intersecting bodies of literature to conceptualize and reflect on the care-climate nexus. First, we draw on literature on care that comes from feminist economics/social policy; second from studies on gender and climate change that have focused on the differentiated impacts of climate change; and third, the body of work on adaptation and mitigation that conceptualizes the differentiated impacts of climate policies, strategies, and projects. Scholarly work on gender inequalities and care work is concentrated in four main clusters of approaches, namely: feminist economics/political economy (including feminist ecological economics

remuneration for unpaid care work. We use the 5R for reasons explained in section 2.4 (p. 28).

and ecofeminist political economy); feminist social policy; gender, development, and environment studies; and feminist political ecology/ecofeminism.

Our search in the academic literature found relevant articles in an eclectic range of journals. Among the more frequently cited journals are *World Development*, *Climate and Development*, *Global Environmental Change*, *Gender & Development*, and *Women's Studies International Forum*. There appears to be a degree of overlap between academic and policy-focused research in this field, as several leading feminist economists and social policy experts produce reports for different institutions and organizations (e.g., the UN, IUCN, ILO, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Oxfam, CARE, etc.).

We concentrated on evidence from low-income countries, many of which are in the global South. While much of the literature focuses on low-income countries as defined by the World Bank,⁵ because the literature on care and climate change is scarce, we also refer to examples and experiences from other countries in the global South and do not follow a strict definition of "low-income country."

1.2 LIMITATIONS

Some limitations of this research should be noted. First, there is the obvious limitation of being able to review only literature published in English. Although this means we did not have access to evidence published in other languages, because the working language of academic journals, UN agencies, and other transnational organizations is English, much of the translation work to capture findings from non-English-speaking contexts has been done prior to publication of the sources reviewed. We acknowledge that a disproportionate amount of academic sources are both in English and written by academics based in the global North.

A second limitation is the time available for carrying out a review of what is a vast body of literature. While there is a lack of literature on the climate-care work nexus, the bodies of literature on care work, on climate change interventions, and more broadly on gender and climate change in the global South is extremely large. We provide a comprehensive review of the grey and academic research on the themes closely related to the research questions, but there are additional bodies of potentially relevant literature that we have not had the time to cover as extensively. For example, the research on the design and delivery of social

⁵ World Bank country and lending group classifications: https://datahelpdesk.worldbank.org/knowledgebase/articles/906519 (last accessed August 31, 2021).

welfare and protection policies/programs such as cash transfers might have allowed for more detailed recommendations for care-sensitive climate action. Similarly, we did not delve into research on climate finance to consider how it might be relevant to care work; there is almost no academic literature on this connection, but there may be resources within the grey literature. The timing of this project was such that we have not been able to reflect on the impacts and implications of the Covid-19 pandemic, nor have we incorporated findings from the IPCC's Sixth Assessment Report (delayed by the pandemic and set to be published in 2022).

While the use of evidence reviews and research backgrounders in the grey literature was expedient for our research, we also have to be aware of the existence of what colloquially might be called "zombie facts," which is a third limitation. These are "well-intentioned but statistically unfounded" facts (i.e., myths) that tend to be uncritically reproduced across the literature and therefore are to be treated with caution (Doss et al. 2018, 69). We discuss this point and give some examples in section 3.4 (p. 46).

For some readers our focus on women's unpaid care work might be interpreted as a limitation. We specify that women should not be treated as a homogenous group, and we have problematized the tendency in the gender and climate change field to equate gender with women. At the same time, we also accept the overwhelming evidence that, globally, the devaluation and drudgery of care work affect women and girls significantly more than men and boys (Adatti et al. 2018). We mention and cite relevant research about the roles and experiences of men and boys vis-a-vis care work where possible across the report, and we problematize the dominance of heteronormative⁶ treatments of care inequalities in both the gender and care work and gender and climate change literatures. However, due to the shortage of resources to draw on (especially on LGBTQI+ people, care, and climate), we have not been able to integrate these dimensions into this report. We do, however, recommend these as areas for future research on care work and climate change.

1.3 REPORT STRUCTURE

The next section 2 (p. 12) provides a discussion of how we conceptualize care work for the purposes of this report and sets out the main elements needed for an analysis of the care work-climate change nexus. We offer a detailed discussion of the contextual factors that shape the performance and distribution of care work before providing specific examples of how climate change affects care work; the rationale for this decision is provided below. In section 3 (p. 32)

⁶ Heteronormativity refers to the positioning of heterosexuality as normal and natural (Butler 2017).

we present and discuss the findings of our analysis of how climatic changes in low-income and primarily rural settings affect the amount and distribution of unpaid care work, as well as the conditions in which people do this work. In section 4 (p. 50) we consider whether and to what extent various climate change interventions, both for mitigation and adaptation, are sensitive to gender relations and care work inequality and how gender-insensitive interventions affect unpaid care work. Section 5 (p. 64) identifies interventions that researchers and organizations believe are important for integrating the goals of climate mitigation and adaptation with goals of transforming the root causes of gendered care work inequalities. Because there is a lack of attention to how these interventions could or should be designed to limit the negative impacts of climate change on care work, we argue for developing a care-sensitive approach. Finally, we offer suggestions for how Oxfam might highlight the need for more care-sensitive climate action through its influencing and advocacy work.

2 CONCEPTUALIZING AND CONTEXTUALIZING CARE WORK

The report begins with an extended discussion of care work before looking at examples of how climate change affects care work in section 3 (p. 32). The rationale for starting with a section on care rather than climate is threefold. First, it is important to situate the analysis within the vast body of feminist research on gender and care work that pre-dates a focus on climate change by several decades. There is, in fact, very little research on gender and climate change that looks specifically at care work. Second, we contend that because climate impacts exacerbate already existing inequalities and dimensions of care work, starting with the climate-care nexus before examining care work risks creating the perception that its contours are unique or novel.

Third, we wish to resist any hint of a "climatization" of care work analysis that could be perceived as a rebranding of long-standing problems (Doyle et al. 2015). In academic environmental politics literature, critical scholars have analyzed the power relations involved when actors based in the Global North reframe long-standing features of global injustice as "new" problems to be solved as part of the climate mitigation and adaptation agenda. Akin to what Jinnah (2011) calls "climate change bandwagoning," these moves are problematized by "critical adaptation" and postcolonial scholars for paving the way for managerial and/or technocratic strategies that serve the interests of economic elites (Mikulewicz 2020). This is not to question Oxfam's interest in how climate change is affecting care work and care workers, but rather to explain why this report prepares the analytical ground with a contextual-conceptual discussion instead of jumping straight to examples and evidence.

Oxfam has published a number of reports on care work in recent years (e.g., stemming from the 2014 women's empowerment and care project "WE-Care;" see: Karimli et al. 2016; Newth 2016; Rost et al. 2015). Two in particular serve as valuable references for the present discussion of concepts and contexts. Esquivel's (2013) background paper "Care in households and communities" provides a concise discussion of conceptualizations and debates pertaining to care and care work, drawing on a comprehensive review of academic and grey literatures. It offers both a conceptual framework for analyzing the relationship between care work and gender inequality and an examination of methods for measuring care. Coffey et al.'s briefing paper "Time to care" (2020) builds on and extends the 2013 backgrounder by examining a wider range of care work (underpaid and unpaid) and presents evidence of how care shapes and is

shaped by intersecting axes of inequality—from the global to the local—that determine the intensity and distribution of care work across the world.

Our report takes these two Oxfam backgrounders as a starting point and engages with their content. It consolidates evidence and insights from existing research, offering critical analysis where appropriate. Since neither of these documents systematically considers the impacts of climate change on care work, or how Oxfam's work can respond to the challenges and potential opportunities presented by these impacts, our report fills a gap. In addition, drawing on feminist scholars who have been influential in this field, and our own expertise as such scholars, we suggest an expanded definition of care work that includes environmental labor. This section establishes the foundations for the in-depth discussion of the care work-climate change nexus that is presented in section 3 (p. 32).

2.1 DEFINING CARE WORK

Because the concept of care work is defined and referred to in different ways in academic, policy, and practitioner literatures, it can be confusing to research. Esquivel claims that "in recent international debates, care is more widely used than care work, because it conveys broader meanings" (2013, 10). While this may be true in general discussions, the importance of treating care as a form of work is well established in approaches for which inequality is a focus. For example, the "Time to care" report, which examines the relationship between care work and the global crisis of inequality, the concept of "care work" is used throughout. A distinction is made between paid and unpaid care work, but all forms of care work are treated as foundational to the human economy (Coffey et al. 2020).

In academic scholarship, care work is widely used alongside and/or interchangeably with a set of related concepts such as "caregiving" and "care services" (Razavi 2007), "domestic labor" (Molyneux 1979), "sustaining services" (Perkins 2007), and "social reproduction" (Bakker 2007; Bhattacharya 2017; see also Rao, N. 2018 for a discussion). In feminist political economy scholarship, "social reproduction" refers to the daily and generational renewal of life that is essential to sustaining societies and their economies. It originates in a critique of mainstream economics/political economy for recognizing only the monetized and "productive" aspects of the economy and ignoring the multiple processes and range of non-monetized activities on which societies depend (Himmelweit 1995). Although there are terminological differences and debates within the field, the common aims in care work literature have been to valorize and make visible unpaid reproductive work.

Razavi, an important voice in gender and development debates, argues for treating care work as exclusively related to caring for humans, paid or unpaid. For her this includes "direct care of persons" (bathing, feeding, talking, etc.) as well as activities that provide the necessary conditions for caregiving, including cooking, washing clothes, and shopping (Razavi 2007, 6). This definition resonates with that offered by the feminist economist Folbre (also oft-cited) who distinguishes between direct/interactive (hands-on) care work and indirect/support care work (provisioning of necessary goods and services) for people (Folbre 2006, 2014, 2018). Care responsibilities can include caring for sick and elderly people outside of the immediate family, and this is more common in some cultural contexts than others. A major report by the ILO says unpaid care work is performed without any explicit monetary compensation and that it almost always takes place "within the household." However, the report accepts that care work is also done voluntarily and for no remuneration for non-family members in community settings (Adatti et al. 2018, 53).

However, boundaries between paid and unpaid, and direct and indirect, care are often porous and difficult to draw. Different forms of care work are regularly performed simultaneously in low-income settings. Feminists have long pointed to the analytical links and transmission channels between paid and unpaid work and how women's multiple and overlapping roles within the productive and reproductive spheres tend to be disregarded (see, e.g., Mies 1986; Beneria 1992; Waring 1999; Folbre 2006; Elson 1991, Fraser 2013; Esquivel 2014; Nelson and Power 2018). This is especially so in relation to the care of the environment.

Ecofeminist, feminist political ecology, and gender and development research in the 1980s and early 1990s was crucial in bringing to light rural women's indispensable, yet invisible, contributions to food production and environmental care (Sen and Grown 1987; Shiva 1989; Agarwal 1992; Rocheleau et al. 1996). More recently, feminists working on the environment (e.g., Arora-Jonsson 2013; Graddy-Lovelace 2018; Yurco 2018; Gay-Antaki 2016) have shown how women's environmental care includes caring for animals, plants, and common spaces (e.g., village commons, forests, neighborhoods, gardens, pastoral homes), and multiple, gendered spaces and levels where resources are managed. This work takes place within the home but also outside the immediate household and often collaboratively, with other family and community members, and sometimes contributes to household incomes. Such work highlights the entanglements of human-nature relationships, the disregard of which has led to the climate crises today. This primarily unpaid work of care props up the hidden infrastructure of environmental use and governance. It is crucial for maintaining healthy environments, and resisting environmental and gendered violence (Arora-Jonsson et al. 2019; 2021).

Arora-Jonsson (2013) makes a case for recognizing care work more broadly, and women's environmental care specifically, in questions of environmental governance. The reverse is equally important. There is a need to address the environment in conceptualizing care. That this has been disregarded may be the case because such work is not "for" people in private households; it could be called subsistence work instead. Some contend that activities like caring for domestic animals produce goods for family consumption but also for markets and does not always count as "unpaid;" indeed it might well be counted in Systems of National Accounts (SNAs) (Charmes 2015, 14). Still others might include it but refer to activities such as fetching fuel and water as "ancillary." (Chopra and Zambelli 2017, 3).

Given the porous boundaries between paid work for household incomes and unpaid care work both in households and in the care of the environment, we include in our definition of unpaid care work activities care for "the environment." The environment includes other species and living beings (e.g., trees), things, and places (e.g., water sources, common land, village spaces, and community activities). Including environmental care beyond the household sphere enables greater attention to men's engagement in unpaid activities that protect and sustain the natural world. For example, Chopra and Zambelli (2017, 19) find a high rate of sharing between men and women in care for animals. Kristjanson et al. (2017) report that more men than women engage in water and soil conservation practices. However, because care is feminized (cf. Lau et al. 2021), the environmental care work that men do is rarely labelled as such. Drawing on ecofeminist literature, Barca (2020, 36) argues for a broad understanding of environmental care that includes the everyday work and political resistance struggles of women, peasants, and Indigenous people; she also recognizes that this work can be a cause of marginalization, exploitation, and vulnerability to climate change for all those who do it.8

A further point to note concerning the conceptualization of care work in our report is that care work activities are not limited to physical tasks. Our definition includes responsibility for care, which is difficult to measure but is nonetheless important in determining how people organize their time and attention on a daily basis (Folbre 2014, i136). Some feminist literature uses the concept of

⁷ In some of the literature by economists, there is a tendency to define work in reference to how it is treated in the System of National Accounts (SNA). We are not doing that here because economic analysis is not our remit (or expertise) and we do not consider this debate to be directly relevant for answering our research questions.

⁸ Lau et al. (2021) offer a useful discussion of problematic gender assumptions and stereotypes that hinder climate policy, including the myths that "women are more caring, connected to the environment" than men. However, we reject their assertion that these myths originate with ecofeminists in the 1970s. As Barca (2020) and many other ecofeminist theorists have explained, these myths are a product of—and functional to—processes of capitalist-colonial-patriarchal accumulation (cf. Mies 1986; Salleh 2009).

"emotional labor" for the essential work of attending to the non-material (e.g., psychological) well-being of people and relationships (Tronto 2013). For example, parenting children combines physical and affective activities, usually simultaneously, and it is important to include both when referring to it as work. Emotional and psychological aspects of care can be extremely taxing, especially in times of hardship, disaster, and stressful circumstances. There is a lack of research on these dimensions of care work, especially in very low-income country contexts.

Table 2.1 presents a summary of the above discussion of how care work is defined in this report. This typology of unpaid care work and associated activities is an analytical device that helps to make different dimensions visible. It should be read with awareness that, as shown in time use surveys, these types are frequently overlapping and coincidental, especially in the everyday lives of people in rural areas of the global South (Rost et al. 2015; Oxfam 2018).

Table 2.1 Conceptualizing three types of unpaid care work

Type of unpaid care work	Activities	
Direct care for persons.	Hands-on caring for the well-being of people in one's family or household, including children, elderly and sick relatives as well as non-kin people in one's community via volunteer work. Responsibility for care (planning, management, anticipation). Emotional labor (love, support, worry, maintaining relationships). Household/domestic work that provides the (pre)conditions for direct care. Household chores (cleaning, waste disposal, washing clothes, bedding). Provisioning of food, water, clothing, energy, shelter. Preparing and cooking food.	
Indirect care for persons.		
Local environmental care. Caring for the commons.	Care beyond the domestic "indoor" space, including: Direct care for animals and plants for own/communal purposes; small-holding; vegetable gardening; keeping animals (e.g., chickens and goats); collecting and carrying fodder and water for animals; manure application to fields, weeding and pest control; managing woodland and water sources; managing village commons and keeping them clean; community gardens.	

2.2 ANALYZING UNPAID CARE WORK AS RELATIONAL AND CONTEXTUAL

The literature on unpaid care work makes clear that it is never a solely private matter: it is foundational to economies and societal well-being. In most countries,

the state has an interest in supporting or delivering care. Analyses of unpaid care work should involve the care worker as an individual, the beneficiaries or recipients of care in relationship with the carer, as well as the conditions and environments in which it is being conducted. Unpaid care work is embedded in a web of relations and an assemblage of actors that together constitute what Razavi (2007) calls "the social organisation of care" that is distributed across families, the state, the market, and the community.

The concept of "care economy" is a term commonly used by feminist economists to situate unpaid care work in a system that is made up of a mix of different actors, relationships, and spaces that together organize and ensure social reproduction (cf. Folbre 2006, 2014; Elson 2017). It is used to understand how inequalities and divisions of paid/unpaid labor within families are connected to and influenced by external factors, including institutions and cultural norms (Esquivel 2014, i129). This conceptualization necessarily avoids individualizing care work.

Given that analyses of unpaid care work in households and communities are inevitably also analyses of gender differences and asymmetries, we adopt a feminist approach that treats gender as a category that helps to analyze how power relations between men and women intersect with dimensions of power (including class, ethnicity, race, sexuality, urban or rural residence, occupation) to produce outcomes in different contexts. We avoid reifying gender or equating gender with women and attempt, where possible, to highlight how different men and women (though primarily women since most of the research on care and/or gender has focused on women) experience climate change and care based on their intersecting identities. By extension, we consider the experiences of men and women when possible/relevant, while still recognizing inequalities. By focusing on the conditions and dynamics of care work rather than on individuals, we recognize that both women and men are involved in care work, albeit in different ways. This recognition is central to the care-sensitive approach we develop in this report.

Central to this approach is the feminist insight that intersectional inequalities shape the very meaning of gender, so single-axis analyses are problematic and to be avoided. Class-based differences may be as significant as gender when analyzing unpaid care work because income level determines whether it can be carried out with relative ease (even outsourced) or in relative drudgery. Also important is recognizing non-binary gender and non-heteronormativity, even though research is scarce in the climate change literature.⁹

⁹ A review article on gender equality in climate change policy published in *Nature Climate Change* does not mention or cite any research on non-binary gender or LGBTQI+ people (Lau et al. 2021). See Mason (2018) for a discussion of why there has been silence on LGBTQI+ experiences in development policy and research, as well as how scholars in

Current care work scholarship acknowledges the fact that care work is a concept that is both context-dependent and contested (Esquivel 2014). It does not mean the same thing universally, and there are empirical as well as theoretical and normative dimensions to any examination of care work. Nitya Rao stresses the importance of understanding unpaid care work, as well as debates over it, in relation to national context: "varying geographies, governance systems, economic structures and social relations" (2018, 738). Chopra and Zambelli's study of unpaid care in Nepal, India, Rwanda, and Tanzania finds both similarities and differences, leading them to note that "patterns are driven by country-specific variations, reflecting the context-specific nature of gender norms across these countries" (2017, 22). Chung et al. (2019) emphasize that both regional variability and diversity of lived experience of unpaid care work in different global South contexts should be taken into account in research, policy-making, and practice.

Table 2.2 illustrates our multi-level approach and the key factors that we consider in this report. This approach enables the analysis to be attentive to the implications of care work on the individual lives of women and men as well as recognizing that care work is relational and context dependent. Here again we note that it is important to treat this as a tool that separates what are in reality intertwined aspects for analytical purposes.

Table 2.2 Multi-level approach to unpaid care work

Levels/sites of care work	Who/what is involved in care work
Individual carers	Minds and bodies, agency and autonomy of individual carers.
Family and household	Relations between givers and recipients of care work. Spouses/partners, parents and children. Grandparents and other extended relations. Domestic animals (pets).
Local community and environment	Groups outside the private household. Networks, informal groups. Collective actions. Forests, pastures, water sources. Livestock animals (chickens, goats).

Oxfam Research Backgrounder

the field of queer development studies have responded through their research and activism. We note that neither care nor climate change appear in the index of this otherwise comprehensive *Handbook of queer development studies* (Mason 2018).

2.3 UNPAID CARE WORK IN RURAL AREAS IN LOW-INCOME COUNTRIES: CONTEXTUAL FACTORS

There are a number of contextual factors shaping care work in rural settings in low-income countries in the global South, which should inform a review of how climate change impacts affect unpaid care work. Listed in Box 2.1 are six factors that are important for understanding how climate change impacts affect unpaid care work. Each is explained in detail in this section.

Box 2.1 Contextual factors shaping care work

Gender norms and divisions: Unpaid care work is primarily done by women and girls.

Everyday environmental relations: Subsistence work is done alongside care work.

Social safety net (SSN) policies: When there are no state SSNs, such as child and elder care, unpaid care work falls to private households.

Physical infrastructure: Lack of infrastructure and technologies (plumbing and electricity) increases the drudgery of doing everyday care work.

Health, fertility, and mortality: The amount and type of care work depends on household make-up (very young, very old, very sick).

Migration and displacement: The amount and type of care work done and needed by people left behind is affected when family members migrate; displacement increases physical and mental stresses, which make care work more difficult.

A review of the literature suggests that these factors have been central to research on gendered dimensions of care work for many decades, even before a focus on climate impacts emerged. It is important to review them here, not only because they shape the amount, distribution, and conditions of care work in low-income global South contexts, but also because starting this discussion with climate change impacts would incorrectly suggest that climate-related pressures on care work are in some way unique or new.

The academic feminist literature generally accepts that it is difficult to measure accurately the amount of work that takes place in informal and domestic contexts given its invisibility (cf. Esquivel 2013; Folbre 2006; Waring 1999). The literature frequently points out that the lack of empirical research on this topic remains despite the push by gender and development specialists for improved data collection since the 1995 Beijing Declaration (N. Rao 2018). Whereas countries

such as India and China have implemented time-use surveys of unpaid care work, Folbre (2014) notes that most Sub-Saharan African countries do not have the necessary data for thorough analyses. Many forms of unpaid care work continue to be invisible in national accounts (e.g., gross domestic product (GDP)) because they are not considered economically productive. The ILO report "Care work and care jobs" is the most useful recent source of data on the amount of hours spent in care work, and these data are disaggregated by gender and country income category (i.e. low, middle, high) (Adatti et al. 2018).

As demonstrated in section 3 (p. 32), climate change exacerbates already existing inequalities and challenges for those who do care work, while also creating new ones (Butt et al. 2020). We therefore look more closely at climatic changes as an important contextual factor that shapes the demand for care as well as the conditions in which care work takes place.

Gender norms and divisions

In most countries, even though it is less invisible than it once was, unpaid care work is taken for granted, treated as an extension of the family's and, more specifically, women's natural role. This is especially so in very low-income countries given that there are fewer systems in place to provide care other than informally by family members and/or by informally paid care workers in household contexts (Rao et al. 2020).

Research on gender divisions of labor in global South contexts tends to focus on unpaid care work because this accounts for the bulk of women's work (Folbre 2018, 1). Women have relatively lower levels of participation in waged work in the formal economy, so their time is spent in informal and home-based production and social reproduction (Folbre 2018, 6; Adatti et al. 2018; Mies 1986).¹⁰ In countries with low levels of economic development, there tends to be a high degree of gender differences in total hours worked, with women working more hours than men when time spent in paid work, unpaid care work, and subsistence work is combined (Folbre 2014, i140; Budlender 2008; FAO and CARE 2019). Women in rural areas of low-income and less-industrialized countries spend the most amount of time on unpaid care work of any women (Coffey et al. 2020). Time use studies suggest they may spend five times more hours engaged in unpaid care work than men, which can be up to fourteen hours a day in some areas (Coffey et al. 2020). Another statistic is that women spend

¹⁰ Folbre's study focuses on the very lowest-income region of the world: Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA). It is important to note that alongside women's unpaid care work there is also a feminization of paid labor occurring all over the world and in a range of different sectors. In addition, 61 percent of the global labor force works in the informal economy. A significant percentage of those employed in the informal economy are women. According to a report for the ILO, women are often missing from labor statistics, namely those women who work outside the home, but identify themselves as "homemakers" because they devalue and under-report their paid work (Adatti et al. 2018, 73).

19 percent of their time on unpaid care work, compared to 8 percent for men (High-level Political Forum on Sustainable Development 2017, 2). Women's informal work in the economy is extremely high in countries in the global South (Adatti et al. 2018). There is also a great deal of overlap between their paid and unpaid work.¹¹

Gender norms, the informal social rules that determine socially acceptable behavior for men and women, make caring women's duty (N. Rao 2018). These norms operate and must be understood in a very specific, localized context, even though general patterns exist. For example, all people may engage in care work, but women are primarily responsible for unpaid care work, with men found generally to "help out" sporadically or in emergencies (Budlender 2008; Chopra and Zambelli 2017; FAO and CARE 2019; Adatti et al. 2018). Similarly, local norms about farming practices may vary but, in most countries across the world, a gendered pattern exists where men are regarded as farmers, women as "farmer's wives" or subsistence growers/gatherers instead (Hillenbrand and Maruka 2019; Babugura 2010, 2017).

In addition to efforts to quantify unpaid care work in economic and temporal terms, and developing a profile of who does the most, there are two key themes in the literature that are worth summarizing because they are relevant to subsequent analysis in the report.

First, the literature explains that unpaid care work is carried out by both women and men but there are differences in the types of work as well as how they are valued socially (Esquivel 2014; Coffey et al. 2020). For example, the gender division of unpaid care work tends to follow a gendered pattern whereby indoor/household and provisioning work is seen as women's work, with direct care for family members mostly performed by women, although men participate to some extent in care for their own children. This division is sustained intergenerationally, with girls and older women carrying out significantly more unpaid care work relative to boys and older men. On the other hand, women's care of the environment and village spaces is not seen as "work" (Arora-Jonsson 2013). Such differences stem from and sustain asymmetrical power relations between men and women, where men as a group are more powerful than women as a group, especially in formal and public spheres of life. The value of care and allocation of duties by gender impacts on individuals, maintaining

¹¹ For a discussion of time-use survey methodologies see, e.g., Rai et al. (2014).

¹² The ILO report by Adatti et al. provides comprehensive statistical data on the amount of care work performed by women/girls and men/boys. By way of summary, they write: "Women spend more time in unpaid care work than men in every region, ranging from 1.7 times more in the Americas to 4.7 times in the Arab States. Globally, unpaid care work is most intensive for girls and women living in middle-income countries, those married and of adult age, with lower educational achievement, resident in rural areas, and with children under school age" (2018, xxx).

systems and ideologies that tend to lead to women having lower status compared to men.

Second, the literature details a range of ways the responsibility for unpaid care work affects the lives of individual carers (cf. Chopra and Zambelli 2017). Care work can provide a measure of authority as well as power and esteem for the caregiver. Engagement in collective environmental care work has provided women's groups with recognized space for agency from which to challenge harassment and inequalities (Arora-Jonsson 2013). However, the undervaluing of their care work in the formal economy shows that women and girls are more disadvantaged economically. The majority of the literature emphasizes the drudgery related to care work (Chopra and Zambelli 2017; Butt et al. 2020). Empirical evidence overwhelmingly shows that women and girls are more disadvantaged economically by care responsibilities than men and boys (Coffey et al. 2020; Adatti et al. 2018). The undervaluing of care work creates a vicious circle of economic inequality wherein women's contributions to society are regarded as less worthy of support, leading to lower wages, institutional barriers to bank loans, credit, extension services, and lack of access to technologies and land (see Yadav and Lal 2018 for comprehensive discussion).

Cross-national research finds that care workload adversely affects women's quality of life, reducing their overall well-being (Adatti et al. 2018). Time poverty and lack of rest and relaxation caused by juggling many different types of work (often multi-tasking by, for example, taking care of children while preparing food and engaging in craft work at home to earn money) is endemic (Irani and Vemireddy 2021). In low-income countries, it is well known that poor rural women lack time to gain education (Coffey et al. 2020) and opportunities for the kinds of activities needed to maintain physical and mental health and psychological well-being (Folbre 2014, i146). The report by Chopra and Zambelli (2017) "No time to rest" details the poor quality of life and health implications of women's time poverty and heavy daily workloads. Razavi (2007, iii) explains that although the toll it takes on women and girls is high, "their own needs for care tend to be downplayed and neglected."

A further aspect that is well documented in the literature is the effects of women's care burdens and time poverty on children. When women are unable to carry their load, due to paid work or health reasons such as pregnancy and childbirth, children may be required to step in to do the essential work. Consequently, children, especially girls, lack time for rest, play, and education (Lam 2019). For example, the UN finds that 15 million girls never gain a school education (compared to 10 million boys) because they are needed at home to do care and domestic work (UN Women n.d.; see also Yadav and Lal 2018; Lam 2019). Lack of education then leads to lack of paid work opportunities, which in turn means that girls and women have no choice but to carry on with unpaid care work, and in some cases early marriage, and the cycle continues to the next generation.

Inequality and poor quality of life caused by specialization in unpaid care combine to be the main cause of women's disempowerment (Folbre 2014, i142; FAO and CARE 2019). This is a dominant view in a great deal of gender and development scholarship, drawing on the work of feminist economists, backed by empirical evidence from low-income countries (DAWN 1995; Esquivel 2014; Elson 2015, 2017). Other forms of disempowerment include lack of ability to make strategic life choices and speak up against exploitation, as well as non-participation in decision-making in political or community life alongside men. Gender-based violence can impede women's self-assertion, leading to male-biased perspectives on household needs. Disempowerment means women cannot escape from violent relationships or resist misogynist abuse (Roseborough et al. 2009).

In addition to gender norms and divisions, any analysis of care work in lowincome rural, primarily agrarian, settings must take into account the following factors that shape the context of and demand for care work and the ability of people to provide care in the informal care economy.

Everyday environmental relations

In many rural communities, men and women spend a high proportion of their everyday lives involved in forest- and agriculture-related activities (Resurrección 2019; Babugura 2017; FAO and CARE 2019). The relationship between women and the environment, especially in less-industrialized contexts in the global South, has been at the heart of debates on development and a central question for sustainability.

In Sub-Saharan African countries, such as Burkina Faso, Benin, Tanzania, and Rwanda, for example, women spend a significant proportion of their days in small-scale agricultural activities for family provisioning. They often engage in food production or forest work at the same time as supervising children (Arora-Jonsson et al. 2019, 158). They are also involved in informal income-generating craft production in the household, which they combine with household tasks in order to take advantage of energy use (Rewald 2017, 10; Clancy and Dutta 2005). This means that the subsistence work of agriculture, forestry, animal husbandry, or income-generation activities in the home are often interconnected and take place simultaneously (Irani and Vemireddy 2021; Chung et al. 2019; Arora-Jonsson et al. 2019; Mies 1982). As discussed above, this environmental care work that is performed by women is vital in sustaining environments and their communities as well as in coping with myriad stresses and threats (see also Arora-Jonsson et al. 2019). However, scholars have pointed to the critical gap between the work of care and the well-being of those who perform it. There is a lack of attention both to individual carers and to the households and communities in which care work takes place. In the absence of the recognition of the value of care, the neglect of individuals, households, and communities engaged in this

work remains understudied. Thus, it cannot be easily mapped, and the consequences remain unaddressed (Rai et al. 2014).

Writing on Indigenous women in Latin America and their contribution to traditional agricultural systems, Lopez-Alzina (2020) argues that women are often the keepers of seed diversity and knowledge about traditional agricultural systems. Yet the significance of their contributions is largely ignored because they are not regarded as economically productive. Similarly, Yurco's (2018) study on pastoralists in Kenya shows how most mainstream studies on pastoralism focus only on rangelands and the men who manage them, underemphasizing women's roles in managing livestock-related resources as well as the spaces beyond the rangelands such as the pastoral home where livestock is managed. That this disregard recurs across different fields can be seen in international agricultural biodiversity conservation where environmental care work with significant gendered implications is ignored in training and programs (Graddy-Lovelace 2018). It also leads to an increase of economic vulnerability that in times of crisis exacerbates the social costs of market failure (Rai et al. 2014).

Drawing on the work of early feminist political ecologists, as well as her own collaboration with rural women's groups, Arora-Jonsson (2013) points out that women's work in the environment often takes place in "in-between" spaces such as such as hedgerows or the understory in coffee or cocoa plots cultivated by them or where tree tenure could be wholly separate from underlying land rights (Rocheleau and Edmunds 1997; Fortmann and Rocheleau 1985; Fortmann and Bruce 1988). She also points to the "in-between" times in which such work takes place, such as between routine activities such as meal preparation, fuelwood collection, care of children, or work on their agricultural plots and thus is easily disregarded. Seasonal patterns are an important dimension in how this work is organized and carried out in/by low-income families, as well as its intensity and drudgery (Butt et al. 2020). How seasons and other natural cycles shape care work becomes even more relevant when considering the effects of climate change and so is a key theme discussed with examples in section 3 (p. 32). Further, as we show in sections 4 and 5 (p. 50 and p. 64), climate programs and their accompanying "climate assemblages," including actors from across different levels (global, national, and local), are taking on increasing importance in such everyday relations of environmental care and in the lives of men and women in rural contexts in the global South (see Peluso and Lund 2011; Arora-Jonsson et al. 2016). Thus, in spaces of unpaid, informal, and paid labor, actors far beyond the local contexts, through their decision-making on local environments, are assuming an as-yet-unstudied role in the everyday work of care.

Social protection and social safety net policies

Some scholars refer to social safety net (SSN) policies and other state-provided services as "social infrastructure" (Kumari and Sharma 2017; Gnade et al. 2017; de Henau and Himmelweit 2020). Weak government institutions, and lack of

public services and other social infrastructure—also known as social protection and social safety net policies—in low-income countries mean that it is assumed that families and communities will provide the care required for social reproduction. The concept of "care deficit" captures the lack of provision and coordination of care services across all sectors of societies (Schatz and Seely 2015; Upton 2003). However, it has been noted that when there are care-related social protection policies, such as paid maternity leave, they are limited to jobs in formal employment, which means only a small percentage of the population even benefit from them (Peterman et al. 2019).

The provision of social safety net programs has been expanding over the past decade in Africa and other parts of the global South (Peterman et al. 2019), and to some extent they have been combined with climate adaptation as well as disaster risk reduction programs. Support for poor and vulnerable people through various forms of cash transfer and programs tackling food insecurity is increasingly being provided by governments and is often targeted at women as those responsible for care of children and other dependent family members (cf. UNICEF 2017).

Even though the situation is changing, the need for more social protection to reduce care work burdens on women as a target for meeting SDG 5 suggests that there is still a long way to go in many parts of the global South (Adatti et al. 2018; Rao et al. 2020). Less than one-third of the world's population enjoy full access to social protection, whereas three-quarters are covered partially or not at all, and women are overrepresented among the unprotected (UN Women 2015). There is a need for more attention to the impact of social safety net policies on gender equality.

Physical infrastructure

It is important to consider how the availability and accessibility of physical infrastructure and technologies affect unpaid care work. The ILO uses the phrase "care related infrastructure" to refer to the water, sanitation, and energy sources that make it possible to do care and domestic work without excessive drudgery (Adatti et al. 2018, 38) In rural areas of the global South, the lack of this infrastructure and the lack of domestic labor-saving technologies are well researched. Rewald's (2017) Oxfam background paper on "Energy and women and girls" gives a comprehensive overview of the extent of energy poverty in these settings, as well as the way care burdens are intensified as a result. For example, she notes that "lack of transportation technologies, water pumps, modern cooking fuels, electrical appliances, and other tools that require energy access mean that women in poor households have to exert much more of their own energy" (Rewald 2017, 12). A report by International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) (2016) discusses both the lack of labor-saving technologies that reduce unpaid care and domestic work as well as the barriers to their access, use, and acceptability in rural areas in global South contexts.

A common theme in the development literature on unpaid care is the drudgery of women having to walk long distances and carry heavy loads, and to work long hours, in order to carry out their daily domestic chores (e.g., Sultana 2011; Gururani 2002). Numerous studies indicate that a lack of physical infrastructure increases the time and stress of care work. Conversely, investments in physical/technological infrastructure, as well as availability of some types of labor-saving domestic appliances, have been found—in some contexts and under certain conditions—to reduce time poverty, leading to benefits for those responsible for care work (Chopra and Zambelli 2017; see also IFAD 2016). Rost et al. (2015) note that time saved by having access to water taps or cookstoves is used by some women to do more direct care, thus having minimal effect on the overall amount of care work. In other contexts, research has shown that laborsaving technologies can increase working hours by changing expectations (e.g., of cleanliness, productivity) or requiring additional effort to learn, maintain, and repair appliances (Bittman et al. 2004). Oxfam's research in the WE-Care initiative finds that unintended consequences can be negative if the introduction of technologies is not combined with changes in social norms, or if it not approached in a participatory way at every stage from design to implementation (Aranas et al. 2020).

Health, fertility, and mortality

The amount and type of care work that people do depends on numbers of very young and very old people and sick people requiring care as well as family size and composition. The concept of a global care crisis captures the fact that the overall number of people needing care is growing steadily, with an estimated 2.3 billion, mainly children and elderly people, requiring care by 2030 (Adatti et al. 2018). Across the global South, growing demand and lack of state provided services mean that women, in particular, become shock absorbers for the extra care that needs to be undertaken. Children and older people must also carry out significant amounts of care work, especially girls and older women, and especially when families are under health- or environment-related stress.¹³

Serious health crises in low-income rural contexts, such as in southern African countries, have a significant effect on women's and girls' unpaid care and domestic work, especially in households with incomes too low to afford paying for help or other forms of assistance (Razavi 2007, 10). The number of sick and

¹³ We have decided not to discuss them in this report, but it is important to acknowledge that connections are commonly (increasingly?) drawn between population growth, environmental stresses, and climate change, with many non-governmental organizations (NGOs) calling for more funding for family planning and contraceptives as part of climate mitigation and climate finance measures. Feminists have long cautioned against playing into neo-Malthusian and racist-misogynist attitudes and insist on centering reproductive rights whenever such connections are made (see, for example, Sasser 2018). We acknowledge that there is need to be cautious but also not to avoid doing feminist and decolonial research and advocacy in this area.

disabled family members in a household increases the time required to care. It is mentioned frequently in the literature that demand for care work is high in countries where HIV/AIDS and other epidemics have increased mortality rates and the need for long-term care, combined with lack of access to health care services (IFAD 2016; Sellers 2016). Women and girls in households affected by HIV/AIDS can bear a significantly higher burden of care (Sellers 2016; Razavi 2009). It is around caring for HIV/AIDS patients that a lot of political mobilization around care has been seen in southern African countries. The intensified burden on families has led to marked increases in women's economic vulnerability (Razavi 2007, 22; Coffey et al. 2020). But, according to Razavi (2007), when the state steps in to offer alternative forms of care, it mostly uses low-paid homebased female workers who are very poorly supported to do the work. Research in Latin America also shows health inequalities related to unpaid care work and paid work that depend on the interaction between gender and informal employment. Policies need to consider both the labor (increasing social security coverage) and domestic spheres (co-responsibility of care) to reduce such inequalities (Lopez-Ruiz et al. 2017).

Migration and displacement

Migration, for paid work or because of displacement due to conflict, development, and climatic changes, is a fact of life in low-income and less-industrialized areas of the global South (King-Dejardin 2019). Many countries have seen an increase in long-term male out-migration that has affected the distribution of gender roles, responsibilities, and resources (Rao, Lawson et al. 2019; Rao, Mishra et al. 2019). The literature we reviewed suggests that migration affects care work in two significant ways. First, there are increased care responsibilities and work when family members are left behind when people migrate for care work to support their family (Lam 2019). Men are more likely than women to migrate for work, leaving women (in heterosexual couple families) to assume the position as household head and sole parent (Bryan et al. 2018; Coffey et al. 2020, 33). Rao, Mishra et al. (2019) give the example from Kenya where, when men migrate with cattle, women are left behind and struggle to manage without milk either to sell or feed to their children. They quote a woman: "My husband is sometimes away for four to five days. I manage the shop, cook, and look after the children. I have no help" (p. 967).

Second, a growing number of women are migrating to find paid jobs in care work, including migrating to high-income countries where domestic workers are insufficiently protected by rights/laws and so are at high risk of exploitation and abuse (as reports on modern slavery evidence) (Coffey et al. 2020, 15). This international division of care work highlights the intersection of gender, class/caste, and racialization in that it is poor women in the global South who make up the majority of migrant care workers in the global North (King-Dejardin 2019; Lam 2019). Care workers who do work in domestic settings for people not related to them are a significant part of the picture in low-income countries where

families depend on remittances (Razavi 2007; Hennebry et al. 2019; Bastia and Piper 2019).

Challenging the claim that the feminization of agriculture leads to greater empowerment, Clement et al. (2019) show that in Bangladesh, Nepal, and Tajikistan, increased control over decision-making within the household did not necessarily match with women's own perceptions of their empowerment, as their care burden increased exponentially when men from their households were away. Many women felt powerless in the face of challenges related to exploitative credit systems, social norms, masculine bureaucracies, or double standards to access public services. Such cases demonstrate the complicated relationships between men and women as well as their deep interdependencies within households. There are a number of effects on unpaid care work in families left behind, such as children missing parental care and grandparents assuming additional responsibility and work (Dolbin-MacNab and Yancura 2018; Lam and Yeoh 2019).

Migration and displacement are especially relevant when looking at the careclimate nexus (Oxfam 2019). Climatic changes are rarely the sole driver of migration, but migration can become a livelihood strategy when climate impacts combine with other reasons (e.g., labor demand, conflict), and changes to household structures and dynamics that result from migration can have a number of effects on care work (cf. Rao et al. 2020; Clement et al. 2019).

2.4 TRANSFORMING UNPAID CARE WORK INEQUALITIES

Analyses of how the feminization of care work sustains inequalities of power, status, and money between women and men have been mainstreamed into social policy at all levels. For example, the UN SDG 5 on gender equality makes the connection between improving the lives of women and girls and addressing their disproportionate responsibility for unpaid care work (UNDP 2015). Policy approaches to addressing this connection can be conservative, in that they seek to make women's care work easier to do and/or a source of empowerment, or they can be transformative, in that they seek to change the patriarchal norms that underpin the devaluation of care and women's disproportionate responsibility for it, thereby aiming for gender justice (cf. Fraser 1997, 2013).

There is a perennial tension within feminist research on care work between the desire to recognize and improve conditions of women's care work and to liberate them from it.¹⁴ This tension is especially acute in contexts where women's role as

Oxfam Research Backgrounder

¹⁴ This tension is captured in the feminist development literature by the distinction between practical and strategic gender needs (Moser 1989).

caregivers is what gives them status/identity (e.g., as mothers or farmers), is a source of satisfaction and fulfilment, and is what women chose to do even at considerable cost to themselves (Chung et al. 2019). A feminist agenda for transformation is therefore broad and explicitly normative, offering answers to the questions of "who should provide care, for whom, and bearing which costs...and which institutions, economic structures, gender norms and public policies would be conducive" to gender equality (Esquivel 2014, 433–434).

The feminist case for transforming how and by whom unpaid care work is performed in low-income countries is uncontroversial: there is widespread agreement in the literature that heavy unpaid care responsibilities limit women's lives and that transformation is necessary for gender justice. And as Chopra and Zambelli (2017, 39) note, most women who shoulder a disproportionate amount of care work relative to their male counterparts express a desire to change the gender norms that prevent greater sharing.

The most commonly proposed framework for transformation of unpaid care work in the literature is the 3R, 4R, and sometimes 5R framework (see Table 2.3) (Elson 2017; Esquivel 2014; Adatti et al. 2018; Coffey et al. 2020). The 4R version is reproduced in Oxfam backgrounders on unpaid care and domestic work in Africa as recently as 2020 (Mugehera and Parkes 2020) and applied in the WE Care project (Aranas et al. 2020). The ILO provides a concise definition of the 5R framework as:

a human rights-based and gender-responsive approach to public policy. The framework creates a virtuous circle that mitigates care-related inequalities, addresses the barriers preventing women from entering paid work, and improves the conditions of all care workers and, by extension, the quality of care. (Adatti et al. 2018, xliv)

29

¹⁵ Elson first coined the 3R framework for analyzing unpaid work in a seminar organized by the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) in New York, NY in 2009. It was subsequently used by UNDP and has since then been used, albeit with some variations (i.e., 4 and 5R), by a wide range of international organizations including Oxfam (Elson 2017).

Table 2.3 The 5R framework for transforming gendered care work inequalities

Principle	Explanation	Examples
Recognize care work	Acknowledge the nature, extent, and contribution of unpaid care work to human development.	Make care visible in policies; gather qualitative and quantitative data; mainstream care into policies and programs.
Reduce care work	Reduce the amount of time required to carry out care work by making it more convenient, safer, and less physically and temporally demanding.	Provide social and physical infrastructure that reduces demands on individuals to provide care. State-provided health and childcare services. Labor-saving technologies, e.g., electricity and plumbing.
Redistribute care work	Share care work between adult family members (e.g., women and men in heterosexual couple households); challenge norms that make women responsible for care work. Collectivize/socialize care work through state policies, services, and facilities.	Workplace crèches; equal maternity and paternity leave. Media campaigns challenging stereotypes that only women and girls should do care work and promoting care work among men and boys.
Represent care workers	Give care workers a voice in decision- making; gather data that illuminates their lived experiences, concerns, and ideas for change.	Research that centers the lived experiences of women whose lives are dominated by care work; organizations that mobilize and advocate on behalf of carers.
Reward carers for their work	Pay for hitherto unpaid care work through direct cash transfers or tax rebates.	Mother's allowances. Carer's income. Universal basic income.

Remuneration is controversial and not shared by all experts. Although forms of monetary reward for care work (such as in a care income) has academic and activist champions (e.g., James 2021; Dowling 2021; Barca 2020), it seems that only in the ILO report is this fifth R included explicitly in the grey literature we reviewed (Adatti et al. 2018). We have not found it in the literature on care work in low-income agrarian and rural contexts. In fact, the Oxfam WE-Care program uses the 4 R framework, leaving out remuneration (cf. Mugehera and Parkes 2020). We have left it in because, from our perspective, it seems worth considering as a future policy strategy and could be relevant to discussions of climate financing. However, as noted in sections 4 and 5 (p. 50 and p. 64), there

is little academic research (focused on global South contexts) that looks at it in this way.

The important point is that the 4 or 5R framework highlights that interventions, in the form of public policies and services and infrastructural and technological changes, are needed to increase the recognition, reduction, and redistribution of unpaid care work between women and men, as well as between families and the State. There is also support in the ILO report, and in feminist scholarship more widely, for greater representation of the most marginalized caregivers to ensure that they have a voice in the design and delivery of policies, services, and systems that affect their lives (Adatti et al. 2018; Esquivel 2013, 17–18). Representation may enable greater critical scrutiny of programs designed by development non-governmental organizations (NGOs) to achieve "women's economic empowerment" (WEE). As we go on to show later in this report, people involved in unpaid care work may not feel that being "liberated" from their responsibilities in order to be able to take on paid work is their idea of empowerment (cf. Bradshaw 2010). In fact, through their qualitative research in Africa and South Asia, Chopra and Zambelli (2017) found that women were ambivalent about economic empowerment programs that focus on employment without sufficient support to help them balance paid with existing care work responsibilities. It is therefore important to be sensitive to the needs and concerns of carers and to be mindful of imposing assumptions and agenda.

Greater representation can also be an outcome of research methodologies that center the voices of carers and involve them as co-producers of knowledge and in actions that lead to concrete, durable interventions. Participatory methods are used in women's empowerment and climate programs. Beyond representing individual carers, it seems important to conduct research that yields information about care relationships and dynamics in diverse households and how they change over time. IFAD (2016) recommends "household methodologies" (HHM) that involve all household members in discussion of gender inequalities, tensions, and individual and collective goals. As we discuss in section 5 (p. 64), greater participation and representation of givers and receivers of care work appear to be essential to the development of gender-transformative and culturally appropriate responses to inequality.

3 CARE WORK IN A CHANGING CLIMATE

In this section, we synthesize the available evidence to present a comprehensive account of the interactions between climate change and care work in low-income, less-industrialized, and rural contexts. The discussion is organized around the following questions: How are current changes to everyday life in the context of climate change impacts affecting the gender dimensions of care work? How will these impacts affect the amount and distribution of care work as well as the conditions in which care work is performed by women and men?

To answer these questions, we review the literature, first on climate change impacts in general, and then on the gendered impacts of climate change in particular. Grey literature has tended to be more useful for locating macro-level information on impacts than academic journal articles. Our review of major reports, including a report commissioned by the Global Commission on Adaptation (GCA) (Resurrección et al. 2019) and the IPCC's Fifth Assessment Report, found considerable overlap in information sources, with most identifying the same impacts and citing the same publications. We summarize the themes commonly identified in this literature before presenting the findings of our original analysis of how climate change and unpaid care work intersect.

3.1 CLIMATE CHANGE AND EVERYDAY LIFE

The causes and consequences of global climate change are well known and reported on by major institutions, including the UN and the IPCC. Changes to the Earth's climate system, attributed directly or indirectly to human activities, stem from alterations of the atmosphere and are additional to natural climate variability observed over comparable time periods (UNFCCC 2011). Climate change involves long-term changes in the temperature and precipitation, as well as increased intensity and frequency of extreme weather events such as floods, droughts, and storms (Yadav and Lal 2018). Deserts are becoming hotter and

¹⁶ The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) was established in 1988. It is the UN body comprising scientists across a range of disciplines charged with assessing the science related to climate change. The IPCC prepares regular assessments on climate change, its causes, and potential impacts as well as response options for policy makers. The Fifth Assessment Report (5AR) in 2014 was the first time that the questions of gender and climate change were taken up in an IPCC report. The 6AR by Working Groups II (impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability) and III (mitigation) is due in 2022.

drier, and agricultural land is becoming less productive (Elsner et al. 2008; Christiano 2014; Gentle et al. 2014). Oceans are warming, leading to melting glaciers and sea level rise (IPCC 2014). Natural habitats are changing, and biodiversity is being lost (IPBES 2018). These and many other climatic and environmental changes are affecting everyday life everywhere, but the impacts are most severe for people in low-income communities and less-industrialized countries of the global South, especially in rural areas of Sub-Saharan Africa, South Asia, and Latin America (Hallegatte et al. 2015). People who depend largely on the extraction and cultivation of natural resources for survival are the most vulnerable and are being affected now and will be increasingly so in the coming years.

Table 3.1 summarizes the most commonly mentioned impacts and livelihood stresses, along with evidence and examples of how the changes affect everyday life in these parts of the world. These impacts are interrelated and interact in complex ways. It is also important to note that many of these impacts are complex. In many cases, it would be wrong to attribute them solely to climate change.

Table 3.1 Summary of major impacts of climate change

Climate change impacts	Examples
Extreme and unpredictable weather	Increasing drought, flooding, and heat waves in regions across much of the global South (IPCC 2014). Increased frequency of storms, cyclones, hurricanes. Wildfires caused by drought.
Food insecurity and scarcity	Agricultural production affected by climate changes. Decreased crop yields, most severe in tropical and semi-arid regions. Livestock, pastureland, and crops destroyed by extreme drought. Increasing numbers of people going hungry; 52 million at risk across Africa (IPCC 2014).
Water insecurity and scarcity	By 2025, 1.8 billion people are expected to be living with absolute water scarcity, and two-thirds of the world's population could be facing water insecurity and stress (UN Water 2018).
Energy insecurity/fuel scarcity	Fuelwood supply reduced and threatened climate change (Wheeler and von Braun 2013).
Poverty	Those already poor made poorer due to loss of livelihood, land and property. Increasing numbers of people living in poverty (Rao, Mishra et al. 2019). Inability to rebuild after disasters due to no savings or insurance.

Health threats	Climate change is "the biggest global health threat of the 21st century" (Costello et al. 2009, 1693). Increased malnutrition and climate-related disease outbreaks (e.g., water- and insect-borne illnesses such as malaria, diarrhea) (IPCC 2014). Heat stress (WB 2013). Deaths and injuries from climate-related disasters. Poor mental health due to trauma, anxiety, and loss (LEG 2015).
Migration and displacement	Climate change will significantly contribute to population displacement (Klepp 2017) and migration (IPCC 2014). Increasing numbers of people displaced by extreme, sudden-onset weather disasters as well as slower-onset changes from long-term drought (e.g., in Horn of Africa) and sea level rise in low-lying and small island states (IDMC 2011). Climate variability and environmental degradation are drivers of migration, in which people are forced to move away from settled places of residence to find water, food, shelter, and work (Sellers 2016). Some family members move, leaving others behind, often with reduced capacity to cope. Males migrate due to loss of resource-based income earning, resulting in increase in female-headed households (Resurrección et al. 2019; Rao, Lawson et al. 2019; Rao et al. 2020) Loss of connection to ancestral lands, loss of community ties (UN 2019). Hardship and stigma, racism towards refugees and migrants.
Conflict	Climate crisis exacerbates social instability, leading to tensions between communities and worsening conditions that lead to conflict (LEG 2015). Conflict within communities and families due to stress; increases in interpersonal violence (Castañeda Camey et al. 2020).

3.2 GENDER AND CLIMATE CHANGE

There is now a sizable body of literature that documents and explains how gender intersects with other differences to intensify vulnerability and exacerbate inequalities. After decades of lobbying and research by gender experts and activists, the Gender Action Plan of the UNFCCC explicitly acknowledges (and aims to redress) the fact that women as a group face greater threats and burdens from the impacts of climate change than men as a group, while being underrepresented in climate policy-making. (Until relatively recently, climate change research lacked attention to gender and insensitivity to the complexities of gender relations, and/or a tendency to pay lip service to gender differences remains in much mainstream climate change literature (MacGregor 2010, 2017; Buckingham and Le Masson 2017)). Lau et al. (2021, 190) find that it is an ongoing challenge to build the evidence base of reliable sex- and gender-disaggregated data necessary for understanding the connections between gender equality policies and climate change initiatives.

While some publications include women and men in the discussion of genderdifferentiated impacts, vulnerabilities, and responses, much of the research to date has focused on negative impacts on women. An overarching theme in this literature is captured by the concept of a "vicious circle" wherein "the more women are affected negatively by climate change, the worse the inequalities get. And the worse the inequalities get, the worse the impact becomes" (Panitchpakdi 2008,107, quoted in Eastin 2018, 291).

A report published by the Global Gender and Climate Alliance (GGCA) (Sellers 2016) presents a review of evidence relating to gender and climate change, noting a focus on Sub-Saharan Africa and Asia across the literature. At the time of writing this report, a background paper commissioned by the Global Commission on Adaptation (GCA) (Resurrección et al. 2019) is the most comprehensive review of existing literature and data on the impacts of climate change on the most vulnerable populations, with specific attention given to how these impacts lead to gender inequalities in all regions of the world. The purpose of the GCA report is to show how gender inequalities and intersecting forms of discrimination must be addressed for climate adaptation programs to be successful.

A great deal of research on gender and climate change points out the need to understand structural causes of inequality and intersecting dimensions of power (e.g., Carr and Thompson 2014; Arora-Jonsson 2011). The social, economic, and cultural implications of gender inequality shape how individuals experience and are able to respond to the impacts of climate change. According to the Least Developed Countries Expert Group (LEG), a research body established under the UNFCCC, impacts can be clustered into three areas: resource access, health risks and outcomes, and personal security/violence. In each of these areas, it is claimed that women and girls are disproportionately vulnerable due to their subordinate status, social roles, and, sometimes, their physiological make-up (LEG 2015). However, there is growing recognition of the importance of considering the specific ways in which men are affected and their related coping strategies (cf. Kato-Wallace et al. 2019), as well as where there are no differences along gender lines (Sellers 2016). Several note that there is a need to correct the impression that initiatives on gender and climate change only have to address women (Babugura 2019; Gonda 2017; Gay-Antaki 2020).

Gendered access to livelihood resources

Women and men the world over are negatively affected by climate change because of financial or resource constraints. In low-income rural settings, people are heavily dependent on agriculture and natural resources for subsistence and often do not have access to other means of support (Yadav and Lal 2018; Butt et al. 2020). There are few opportunities for paid employment for women, so they generate income through small-scale production, gathering and foraging (Romero Gonzales et al. 2011). Climatic changes reduce their ability to grow and earn money to purchase food, resulting in food insecurity for their households. In general, many people are vulnerable to climate change impacts because they are heavily dependent on climate-sensitive livelihoods and because there are no social safety nets for them to rely on in times of crisis (Pettengell 2015). Gender

norms, specifically male-dominated land tenure systems, are such that women are less likely than men to have access to, and ownership and inheritance of, land and resources. In many countries, women's rights to claim and protect land assets are limited and/or not guaranteed (Ferrant and Thim 2019). Women tend to have less access to agricultural resources such as extension services, cash/credit, fertilizers, and labor-saving technologies for ploughing and irrigation that they need not only to produce food but also to adapt to climatic variability and change (Arora-Jonsson 2011; FAO 2011; Kakota et al. 2011; Nelson and Stathers 2009; Peterman et al. 2010; Wright and Chandani 2014). Many negative impacts, including water, food, and fuel insecurity, are linked to inequalities in land and resource access, including forests and fishing grounds (Resurrección et al. 2019). In turn, supply insecurity and lack of access to basic necessities intensify the work of provisioning for which women and girls are primarily responsible.

At the same time, the agricultural practices that women tend to engage in may increase their adaptive capacity in the face of climate changes relative to men's. For example, in many places women tend to keep gardens and small animals such as chicken and goats, which are less likely to be affected by climate impacts and more likely to contribute to long-term food security (Resurrección et al. 2019). Men tend to grow crops and tend animals (e.g., cattle) for the market that are more vulnerable to climate impacts and therefore less reliable for livelihood (Sellers 2016). It is well documented that men are generally more likely than women to migrate (Warner and Afifi 2014), leaving women behind to engage in subsistence gardening and forest product collection (Sellers 2016, 11).

A key theme in the literature on gender and climate change is that women are responsible for resource management, agricultural production, and provisioning yet hold very little decision-making authority. So their workloads increase, but low levels of power in the household and community remain the same (Webb 2015; Babugura 2017; Butt et al. 2020). Women left behind to care for households when men migrate for paid work are sometimes excluded from community decision-making and therefore cannot access support for agricultural production and other provisioning activities (Clement et al. 2019; FAO 2011). Lack of power and voice means gender inequality remains and women's adaptive capacity is held back.

In addition to the abovementioned impacts of climate change on rural livelihoods, which stem from structural and material inequalities, it is important to summarize differences in health risks and individual safety, which are two areas where sex

¹⁷ The evidence on the impacts of increasing women's labor burden on their decision-making power is mixed. For example, there is evidence that when men migrate and women's productive labor burden increases, they enjoy greater decision-making power (See, for example, Kawarazuka et al. 2020).

and gender intersect in multiple ways. These gendered impacts are especially relevant to unpaid care work.

Gender-specific health risks and outcomes

The GGCA (2016) evidence review identifies a number of climate impacts on men's and women's health, noting that there are significant gender-based differences. As the report notes, gendered social, economic, cultural, and political factors shape vulnerability, and poverty is likely the most significant determinant of gendered health risks and vulnerability to climate hazards (Sellers 2016; see also Neumayer and Plümper 2007).

Climate change increases the prevalence of food insecurity, leading to malnourishment and related health problems for women due to their child-bearing role. The GGCA cites studies from such countries as Malawi, Nicaragua, and Bangladesh that find that women reduce the amount of food they eat so that there is more for children and male family members (Sellers 2016, 25–26; see also Goh 2012).¹⁸

Due to their gendered roles and the care work for which they are responsible, women are at higher risk of contracting infectious diseases. For example, they are involved in caring for infected people, spend time near water sources, and cook outdoors at times when mosquitos are out. Pregnant and postpartum women experience health impacts of climate change due to the many physiological and social changes that occur as a result of pregnancy. They are vulnerable to temperature extremes and to dehydration. Heat stress can lead to adverse birth outcomes and infant mortality (PHI/CCCH 2016).

Mental health is another area discussed in the literature, but less frequently than physical health. Climate change can exacerbate stresses that involve mental health crises: in some contexts, the depression and suicide rates among male farmers has been found to rise when work invested in agricultural production fails to earn income for households (Kennedy and King 2014). Men's mental health is mentioned almost exclusively in relation to their higher rates of suicide compared to women.¹⁹ It is important to note that this was happening well before links were made to climate change impacts (Arora-Jonsson 2011).

¹⁸ There has been criticism of this argument. We note here that the Sellers 2016 report, which is "a closer look at the existing evidence" published by the Global Gender and Climate Alliance, seems to be repeating the usual grey literature claims about women's vulnerability that have been criticized over the years by academics (including Jackson 1996; Arora-Jonsson 2011).

¹⁹ Although building mainly on studies from the global North, Bryant (2020) takes up the question of male farmer suicide across the world. She writes that the focus on male farmer suicides ignores the higher rates of attempted suicide and self-harm among farm women. She argues that the concepts of mental health or mental ill-health are limiting and that the term "distressed sociobodies" better accounts for distress and suicide for those engaged in farming.

Goh notes that there is a lack of research on the psychological impacts of climate change on both women and men in the global South, but cites evidence that the "psychological and emotional toll of climate events appears to be heavier for women as they are unable to carry out their tasks and roles, especially to provide care for their children and other family members" (2012, 11). The GGCA report states that in general women are more likely than men to suffer from stress, anxiety, PTSD, and depression as a result of climate-related impacts (Sellers 2016). Evidence presented from research on a number of disasters around the world (e.g., floods, hurricanes, cyclones, bushfires), as well as slow-onset crises such as food and water scarcity, suggests that there is a strong correlation between climate impacts and poor mental health among women. For example, in their study of the gendered impacts of Hurricanes María and Irma on access to water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) in rural communities of Puerto Rico, Smyrilli et al. (2018) found that women were more likely than men to report stress, anxiety, and depression.

Gender-based violence

Pressures on environmental resources exacerbate gender inequality and power imbalances in communities and households, making it difficult to cope with resource scarcity and societal stress and conflict. The IUCN has produced a comprehensive report on the linkages between environmental stresses and gender-based violence (GBV), with a chapter dedicated to the impacts of climate change on GBV (Castañeda Camey et al. 2020). Evidence is presented to show how GBV is used as a form of social control that determines the rights and prospects of people, most often of women and girls, across a range of contexts. In the case of climate impacts, the report details how women living in poverty and who are marginalized because of their race, ethnicity, sexuality, and other factors face increased threats to personal safety and experiences of violence in both intimate relationships and local communities as well as from strangers, employers, and police/military.

Disaster situations, such as extreme weather events and mass crop failures due to drought, have been found to be dangerous times for women; loss of security and other forms of stress can lead to an increase in violent behaviors among men (Sellers 2016).²⁰ For example, after tropical cyclones in Vanuatu, there was a 300 percent increase in new cases of domestic violence (UN Women Fiji 2014; Castañeda Camey et al. 2020, 139). It is important to remember, however, that while a great deal of violence is contingent and transitory, an increasing amount is institutional and structural: initiated, advocated, and enforced systematically by laws and institutions of the state, corporate organizations, and community or family and can be psychological, sexual, and cultural. Feminists have brought

_

²⁰ Increases in male violence in times of environmental stress is a phenomenon found in developed and developing country contexts as gender inequalities persist globally (Alston and Whittenbury 2013).

attention to how violence cuts across places and scales, and how violence in intimate spaces is associated with regional, national, and global processes that may also be related to environmental and development interventions (Arora-Jonsson et al. 2021, 297).

The IUCN report identifies several other types of violence that may result from climate change that have gender-specific traits. Leaving aside cases of war, militarism, and police repression of political protest, the risk of everyday GBV in families and households seems to increase as environmental conditions threaten livelihoods. There are numerous mentions of women being attacked and raped when venturing far from home to fetch water, fuel, and food (e.g., Zaman 2020; Rezwana and Pain 2020). The risks are even higher when women live in refugee camps post-disaster. A report from Eastern Chad found that 91 percent of cases occurred outside refugee camps when women were collecting firewood (WRC 2011); another from South Sudan found high rates of violence, including sexual abuse, beatings, and attempted rape, at water collection points within camps (DRC 2012; Listo 2018).

Human Rights Watch (2015) reports that natural disasters and environmental shocks, which may contribute to conflict and impoverishment, leading in some places to an increase in child marriage as a coping strategy. Child marriage constitutes a form of GBV. For example, the Government of Malawi has identified child marriage as a risk for women and girls resulting from disasters such as floods (Government of Malawi 2015). There is evidence that sexual exploitation and trafficking of women and children may also increase as a result of climate-related disasters, but the IUCN report acknowledges a lack of research on these issues.

Box 3.1 Gender-differentiated impacts of climate change in low-income rural contexts

Resource access: To the extent poor rural women are more involved in and dependent on natural resources than men, have fewer resource rights and entitlements than men, and have less control over decision-making than men, they are more severely affected by climate impacts than men.

Health: As a result of gender roles and physiological differences, women are more likely to experience poor physical and mental health as a result of climate change. Women are also responsible for taking care of others who are adversely affected by climate-related impacts.

Violence: Resource stress due to climate change exacerbates existing tensions between and within social groups and families, resulting in increased levels of violence, in which women are victimized by male violence in interpersonal relationships and in extra-familial settings such as refugee camps and while away from home collecting water, food, and fuel.

All of these gendered impacts (as summarized in Box 3.1) have implications for unpaid care work, even though these implications are not always considered explicitly in the literature. There is in fact a lack of research on and attention to "the care dimension" in climate change policy and programming (Butt et al. 2020, 495). There is a tendency to look more at impacts on individuals than on how impacts affect relationships within families, households, and communities. For example, there are statistics on individual displacement, mortality, suicide, and infection rates, but scant consideration of the lasting impacts of death and illness within families and, in particular, how coping with pain, loss, sadness, and depression as a result of these impacts affects other people. There are few studies, for example, that examine what daily life is like for parents raising distressed children and keeping a family safe in the aftermath of a cyclone or in the context of a refugee camp. Nor have we found any mention of carers' own need for care, either given by others or "self-care," when coping with the emotional effects of loss, damage, and uncertainty. There are few studies, if any, that consider care work as rewarding or unchanged in the face of climate stresses. Potential increases in sharing, cooperation, and solidarity in households and communities experiencing climate stresses have so far not featured in the gender and climate change literature. Whenever unpaid care work is mentioned, the increase in the amount of care work due to climatic changes and naming care roles as a main reason for why women are adversely affected by climate impacts are the central themes.

3.3 IMPACTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE ON UNPAID CARE WORK

We next synthesize key themes in the literature on the impacts of climate change on unpaid care work, looking across three types of unpaid care work and three sites where care work is carried out (listed in Tables 2.1 and 2.2 respectively) in order to develop a holistic, relational account.

It is widely accepted that there is a crisis of care due to gender inequality, lack of government spending on social protection, and the effects of climate change, which are all interlocking pressures affecting the need for, and distribution of, care work, as well as the conditions in which care work is performed (Fraser 2021). The Oxfam backgrounder "Time to care" identifies climate change as a cause of the care crisis, noting but not elaborating that environmental and climate change exacerbates the burdens and inequalities of unpaid care work. As Coffey et al. write: "Existing economic systems have already pushed carers and their dependents to the brink, and now the environmental degradation they promote could tip them over the edge" (2020, 41).

Section 2 (p. 12) provided a detailed discussion of the literature on the conditions of unpaid care work and care inequalities. The focus of this section is to identify the interactions between climate change impacts listed in Table 3.1 and care work, looking first at how climate changes impact the three types of care work we identified in section 2: direct, indirect, and environmental (Table 2.1). We then identify and discuss how these effects on care work can be experienced by individual carers, within families/households and in the wider community and surrounding environments (Table 2.2). These interactions are presented in Tables 3.2 and 3.3 respectively. The tables synthesize a large body of literature and reduce the need for detailed explanatory text, although brief explanations of the impacts-effects nexus are provided below. A short summary discussion of the central findings of these tables is presented at the end of this chapter.

It is important to stress that the purpose of these tables is to capture the range of effects that are mentioned in the literature; they are imperfect and not exhaustive. Because all of these effects are highly contextual, it would be impossible and problematic to present these as universal effects or common experiences. Most of the literature that lists these effects is either based in local/regional case studies (and even then the diversity and fluidity of experiences is usually recognized) or is a synthesis of existing evidence that may reflect a highly generalized picture. Some may contain zombie facts, meaning "well-intentioned but statistically unfounded stylized facts" that should be treated with caution (for a discussion, see Doss et al. 2018; Arora-Jonsson 2011; Cornwall et al. 2007). Therefore, Tables 3.2 and 3.3 represent our efforts to paint an initial picture of the interactions of climate impacts and care work. Nothing like this exists in the literature to date, and further research is needed to correct this gap.

Impacts of climate change on care work

Table 3.2 aims to answer the question of how climate change and related impacts are affecting care work. To do so, it reproduces the general list of climate-related impacts summarized in Table 3.1 and identifies how these impacts affect the types of care work discussed in section 2 (p. 12) (Table 2.1): direct care for people (the well-being of children, elders, other close family members); indirect care/domestic work in households (provisioning resources, maintaining clean and liveable domestic conditions); and environmental care (tending the commons, maintaining livelihoods beyond the private household). While the overarching theme is that all climate impacts make all forms of care work more difficult, it is instructive to disentangle the different intersections of climate impacts and care to gain a more detailed understanding as well as to organize the available evidence found in the literature. This table and Table 3.3 present commonly cited examples of the impacts and includes indicative references to existing research.

Table 3.2 Impacts of climate change on care work

	Effects on care work			
Climate-related impact	Direct care work	Indirect care work	Environmental care work	
Extreme weather events (heat waves, droughts, floods, hurricanes)	High death rates for low-income women, loss of primary carers disaster. Loss of health infrastructure (UN		Failed crops and sick animals; loss of crops and animals (IPCC 2014). Loss of possessions, tools (Oxfam 2019). Changes to ecosystems affects traditional knowledge of land (Aguilar et al. 2008).	
Food insecurity due to climatic changes	Choosing to ration food (Sellers 2016). Hunger (FAO 2016). Malnutrition during pregnancy, lactation and childbirth (FAO et al. 2017). Increased care burden due to malnourished children (FAO et al. 2017).	Difficulty finding food; stretching/budgeting food (FAO 2016). Increase in price of food decreases ability to pay for other necessities (Oxfam 2020).	Difficult to find fodder for animals (IPCC 2014). Changes to ecosystems affect traditional knowledge of land (Aguilar et al. 2008).	
Water scarcity Rationing water; delegating water collection to children (Otzelberger 2014). Increase in water-borne disease and ill health, leading to increased care burden (Gabrielson and Ramasar 2013). Increased risk of physical/sexual abuse in fuel/water collection (Meyiwa et al. 2014). Psychological impact of more dangerous journeys (UNHRC 2019). Lack of sanitation for care work.		Travel far distances to fetch water (Oxfam 2019). Coping with contaminated water; spend time purifying (Oxfam 2019). Harder to cook and clean (IPCC 2014). Harder to maintain hygiene (Dico-Young et al. 2017). Reduced time for other caring responsibilities (Resurrección et al. 2019). Menstruating girls prevented from attending school (UN Women 2014).	Harder to keep plants and animals alive (FAO 2016); Increase in pests and disease in livestock (Meyiwa et al. 2014). Decreased productivity from livestock, crops, fisheries, foraging (Goh 2012).	

	Loss of dignity for menstruating women (Oxfam 2017); lack of water particularly affecting people who are old, sick or pregnant. (PHI/CCCH 2016)		
Energy and fuel shortages	Lack of access to energy means exerting more human energy into productive and reproductive labor, with consequences for caring (Goh 2012). Increased risk of physical/sexual abuse in fuel/water collection (UN Women 2014). Psychological impact of more dangerous journeys (UNHRC 2019).	More difficult to find fuel sources such as firewood (Oxfam 2020). Use of dirty indoor cooking fuels leads to poor health (ENERGIA 2019). Increased time to collect fuel means less time for other caring responsibilities (Resurrección et al. 2019).	Biomass collection, leading to forest degradation (Morrissey 2018).
Poor physical health due to malnutrition and climate-related disease outbreaks	More people requiring care (UNHRC 2019). Fewer people able to provide care (UNFPA 2015).	Direct and indirect caring become impossible for those suffering from poor physical health (UNFPA 2015).	Loss of able-bodied labor to care for land (Slavchevska et al. 2016). Loss of technical knowledge for agricultural management (Aguilar et al. 2015).
Poor mental health/lack of well-being	Feelings of anxiety and loss (FAO 2016). Parenting challenges. Bereaved family members; explaining loss to children. Increases in substance abuse (Aguilar et al. 2015). Increase in suicide, particularly male (Aguilar et al. 2015).	Direct and indirect caring become impossible for those suffering from poor physical health.	Loss of labor to care for land (Sellers 2016). Loss of technical knowledge for agricultural management.

Changes to household structure/ dynamics and social networks	Loss of primary caregivers (Sellers 2016). Increase in femaleheaded and womenonly households in some contexts (Rao 2019). Breakdown of personal networks and support (Oxfam 2020). Increased childcare burden due to lack of other parent; caring for dependents alone (Oxfam 2017). Children left behind (Butt et al. 2020; Lam 2019). Children becoming carers; children raised by older siblings, grandparents (UNFPA 2015).	More work for women carers left behind when family members (mostly men) migrate for paid work (Rao et al. 2020). Loss of income of family members (UNFPA 2015). Increased remittances can help households cope with stresses (Szabo et al. 2018).	Loss of labor to care for land. Breakdown of community-level collective networks used to manage common resources (Rao et al. 2020). Strengthening of social networks to manage resources in times of stress.
Loss of and/or inability to use traditional knowledge due to changing environments	Increased probability of migration to seek new livelihoods (UNFPA 2015).	Decreased ability to provide food/a nutritionally and culturally appropriate diet (FAO et al. 2017). Loss of access to medicinal plants (Sellers 2016).	Loss of traditional knowledge of land (Richards and Bradshaw 2017). Changes in land-use (Carr and Hartl 2008). Loss of technical knowledge for agricultural management (UN 2019).

Implications of climate-related care work impacts for individuals, households, and communities

Table 3.3 extracts what we have identified as the main impacts that climate change stresses are having on care work (from Table 3.2) and further distills the literature to answer the question of how these impacts and stresses are affecting the distribution of care work and the conditions in which care work is performed. It should be read with the key themes of how both impacts and care work are gendered (presented above) in mind. We think this step of disaggregating the different sites and spaces in which climate-related impacts on care work are felt by individuals is a valuable way to maintain a contextual analysis that captures relational dimensions. In addition, it significantly broadens the focus to include increased time poverty and drudgery as one of many themes, rather than being the central theme, as often found in the literature.

Table 3.3 Implications of climate-related care work impacts for individuals, households, and communities

	How impacts are felt in sites/spaces of care work		
Climate- related care work impact	Individual carers	Households/families	Community/ environment
Loss of secure and stable conditions in which to do care work	Caring for others while ignoring own distress (UN 2019). Loss of access to caring resources (Oxfam 2020). Stress from uncertainty.	Loss of family members to migration/death (Richards and Bradshaw 2017). Poor physical and mental health of family members (Ciaconi et al. 2020). Intra-household tension (Aguilar et al. 2015) Gender-based violence (Castañeda Camey et al. 2020).	Breakdown of social networks and support. Changes to ecosystems affects traditional knowledge of land; loss of resources/physical infrastructure to provide care (UN 2019).
Loss of means (income) needed to provide care	Prone to exploitation—trafficking and sex work to earn money (Sellers 2016). Mental distress (UNHRC 2019). Hunger and malnutrition (FAO et al. 2017). Outward migration to earn wages leading to increased workload (Oxfam 2019).	Poor physical and mental health of family members. Food rationing, disproportionately affecting women. Loss of family members to migration/death (Richards and Bradshaw 2017).	Lack of investment, leading to decreased productivity from livestock, crops, fisheries, foraging (FAO 2016). Biomass collection, leading to forest degradation (Morrissey 2018).
Loss of and damage to necessary resources to carry out care work	Hunger and malnutrition (FAO 2017 et al.). Time poverty (Grassi et al. 2015). Increased pressure/higher stakes leading to mental ill health (UNHRC 2019). Risk of violence.	Intra-household tension; gender-based violence (Castañeda Camey et al. 2020).	Lack of time for leisure, education, and civic participation (Adatti et al. 2018). Lack of time for environmental/agricultural labor (Grassi et al. 2015).
Increased "drudgery" and time poverty	Decline in physical health through exhaustion and injury. Lack of time for income-generating activities, leisure, education, and participation (Grassi et al. 2015; Rao et al. 2020).	Poor physical and mental health of family members (Sellers 2016).	Fewer people with time for leisure, education, and participation.

More people requiring care Fewer people to deliver care	More time spent on caring activities (UNHRC 2019). Lack of time for income-generating activities, leisure, education, and participation.	Less time to carry out income-generating work, leading to loss of income (Grassi et al. 2015). Children and older adults taking on caregiver roles (Chopra and Zambelli 2017).	Fewer people involved in community-level work, participation, and decision-making. Fewer people with time for environmental or agricultural labor (FAO and CARE 2019).
Caring in temporary shelters and camps	Women and children exposed to sexual and intimate partner violence in and outside of evacuation camps (UNFPA 2015). Coerced transactional sex (UNFPA 2015).	Poor physical and mental health of family members. Intrahousehold tension; gender-based violence.	Lack of necessary resources and infrastructure to provide care.
Decreased well-being/ increased demand for emotional labor	Poor mental health, depression (Quisumbing et al. 2019). Carers lacking time to care for own health and well-being (Olsson et al. 2014; Rao, Mishra et al. 2019).	Poor physical and mental health of family members. Intrahousehold tension; gender-based violence.	Loss of beneficial effects of natural environments on wellbeing.

3.4 DISCUSSION

Climate change exacerbates existing inequalities and intensifies the work involved in caring for people, animals, plants, and places. The impacts and stresses of a changing and changed climate are placing a further strain on rural livelihoods, reducing the availability and quality of public services that support care work in and for marginalized communities, and directly compounding the existing unfair distribution of care between women and men. The connection between gender inequality and gendered divisions of care work is cyclical (Butt et al. 2020), but, as explained earlier, it is important to avoid creating an impression that climate change impacts affect unpaid care work in new or unique ways. Most of the impacts that are attributed to climate change have been experienced in rural areas in low-income and less-industrialized countries for a very long time. It is also difficult to determine what is and is not attributable to climate change. because people in these areas are affected by multiple, interconnected stressors including poverty, resource insecurity, systemic violence and exploitation, and illhealth (Jerneck 2018). Yet, at the same time as recognizing that these interactions are not novel exogenous pressures, it is undeniable that the rate of change is unprecedented, with more frequently occurring extreme events, loss of

and damage to livelihoods, and intensified environmental challenges in daily life (IPCC 2014).

A substantial amount of literature claims that women are more vulnerable than men to many climate impacts, largely because of their disproportionate responsibility for caring for households and environments. However, caveats are needed when considering the findings presented in this section. First, we noted in section 1 (p. 5) that our collection of grey literature contains several evidence reviews that refer to the same facts and figures about how climate change impacts affect women and men. In presenting the results of our research, we have included some commonly made claims about women's vulnerability and the ways in which they are negatively affected, such as by extreme weather events and food insecurity. However, the evidence for some of these claims is hard to find. Many are based on generalizations that are unlikely to stand up under scrutiny and against empirical research into the complexities on the ground. For example, the oft-cited fact that women are more likely than men to die in disasters has been challenged for lack of evidence (Arora-Jonsson 2011). In addition, claims that women and girls are more likely than men and boys to voluntarily eat less in order to leave more food for the rest of the family, while frequently made, rest on debatable interpretations of the evidence (Jackson 1996). Our point is that when such claims are repeatedly made in the grey literature, with major organizations citing the same studies and/or citing each other, the result is that myths and stereotypes about poor women in the global South are reproduced and sustained. A dangerous outcome is that these myths and "zombie facts" are used to justify the status quo and/or interventions that can contribute to rather than resist the root causes of gender and climate injustice (Arora-Jonsson 2011; Doss et al. 2018). We strongly advise caution and resistance to this trend in the development field (see also Lau et al. 2021).

Second, it is important to avoid the problematic tendency in some gender and development literature to falsely homogenize women's interests and their experiences of care work (Webb 2015). Applying an intersectional lens and being attendant to contextual factors is increasingly regarded as best practice, but there remains a tendency in the grey literature on gender and climate change to use statistics and facts about women-as-a-group for strategic/advocacy-oriented purposes (Lau et al. 2021). Feminist scholars criticize the prevalence of vulnerability discourse in climate change narratives that tend to play into stereotypes of women in very low-income countries as passive, downtrodden victims (Arora-Jonsson 2011; Rao, Lawson et al. 2019; Rao, Mishra et al. 2019; Lau et al. 2021). Moreover, while a significant amount of the research emphasizes the burdens and drudgery of feminized care work and connects care responsibilities with climate vulnerability (Yadav and Lal 2018; Dah-gbeto and Villemore 2016), research with women also finds that some types of care work (especially direct care for people) is a choice that can be rewarding. It also can be economically rational for women to do the bulk of unpaid care work in

households and local communities; they may get status and other forms of nonmonetary reward for doing it. For example, the women interviewed in a recent study by Butt et al. (2020, 493) claimed to regard their unpaid care work "as a privilege rather than a burden," an honorable duty. Drawing on participatory research with women in rural Tanzania, Chung et al. (2019, 1545) argue that unpaid care work is both a burden and a source of "joy, satisfaction and fulfilment." Here it is interesting to note their finding that caring for children and tending to kitchen gardens are identified by women as sources of joy and contentment, even when faced with environmental and other uncertainties or hardships in everyday life. Although seldom reported in the literature, increased solidarity and efficacy by acting collectively with other women (and men) to carry out care work, especially in relation to the environment, has been empowering for women's groups (Arora-Jonsson 2013). There is thus reason to believe that for individual women faced with climate stress, collective care work could provide a space for coping strategies as well as innovative solutions.

As explained in section 2 (p. 12), we argue for including environmental care work in this report, even though it is not a dimension that is studied specifically in the literature we reviewed. However, by including it in an analysis of how climate change impacts affect the amount and distribution of unpaid care work, we need to avoid supporting the flip side of victim narratives, which connect all women with environmental care work in a way that naturalizes their knowledge or turns it into a resource to be "harnessed" in development projects. Feminist scholarship has for decades challenged "women-as-victim-then-as-agent" narratives and argued instead for multi-dimensional explanations of women and men's dispositions, decision-making, and varied use and management of environmental resources that are attentive to "complex and daily realities of resource use, power and negotiation" (Resurrección 2013, 34; Arora-Jonsson 2014; Rao et al. 2020; Lau et al. 2021).

Much of the feminist gender and climate change literature argues against treating gender as synonymous with women and is increasingly addressing the roles and agency of men (cf. Kato-Wallace et al. 2019). In care work research, this means avoiding the impression that, although it is true that women do the majority of it, unpaid care work is not performed by men or that men are uninterested or irresponsible. There is research to complicate standard scenarios by showing deep interdependencies between men and women even within unequal social structures (Clement et al. 2019; Arora-Jonsson 2013). We note here Rewald's comment that local examples of men's subsistence labor, such as fuelwood collection in Madagascar, demonstrate that "gender norms vary from place to place, and any assumptions and generalisations may lead to ineffective projects and policies" (2017, 9–10). Similarly, in her research with smallholder farming families in Nicaragua, Gonda (2017) found examples of men's involvement in (and in some cases primary responsibility for) direct and indirect care work (e.g., childcare and fuelwood collection), while noting that climate adaptation projects

assumed these to be the exclusive domain of the women (more on this point in section 4 (p. 50). More research on how masculinities intersect with other axes of difference to produce men who engage actively with or claim no responsibility for care work is needed in all parts of the world, not just in the global South (Tronto 2013).

Interventions designed to tackle gender inequality while also adapting to or mitigating climate change impacts must be based on a nuanced picture of complex and shifting gender identities and relations to avoid creating greater inequality, or even conflict, between social groups (Webb 2015). It is important to take an holistic and nuanced view of how caring is affected by climate change that is sensitive to dynamics and relations within groups—women and men in relations within households, with dependent children and elders—some of which are not static but change over time while others are difficult to change (Butt et al. 2020). However, it is evident from a review of the literature that few existing climate change interventions take the kind of nuanced and holistic approach that we advocate.

4 EFFECTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE INTERVENTIONS ON CARE WORK

This section reviews the literature that assesses the existing and potential effects of climate change interventions—including policies and projects—on care work. We first discuss the problem of gender insensitivity as it affects the design and implementation of interventions. Then we examine the extent to which prominent types of interventions (see Table 4.1 for explanations and examples), ranging from the gender insensitive to those that specifically target women, affect the amount and distribution of care work, and may potentially reproduce or change existing gender norms and power relations. Climate change policies have sought to respond to climate change impacts primarily through adaptation strategies, while mitigation policies seek to reduce emissions. The various strategies and projects designed to achieve adaptation and mitigation are "exemplars of policy" (Mosse 2004), and so critically examining them is vital for understanding policymaking on climate change.

Climate adaptation refers to efforts to reduce the impact of climate change on well-being. Adaptation strategies aim to help communities reduce their vulnerability to climate change and contribute to sustainable development. Many take the form of rural livelihood projects and community-based activities in a range of areas such as health, ecosystem and water management, and climate-smart agriculture (CSA). Humanitarian aid to help people cope with and adapt to the loss and damage caused by crisis has been shown to have gendered consequences. For example, Bradshaw (2010) shows how women are often targeted as recipients of aid to restore their communities, further exacerbating their burden.²¹

Climate mitigation refers to the policy of reducing the emission of greenhouse gasses into the atmosphere or removing them from the atmosphere. Climate mitigation strategies are designed to aid countries to cut down on greenhouse gas emissions. Mitigation methods promoted in low-income agrarian contexts, such as changing systems of rice intensification (SRI), are typically seen as combining ecological and social benefits (i.e., co-benefits) such as by increasing

²¹ It is important to recognize that climate change policy is—or should be—about more than adaptation and mitigation. It is also about addressing the losses and damages that many vulnerable, rural communities are experiencing. We have included issues of loss and damage, and how they may increase the need for direct, indirect, and environmental care, in section 3 (p. 32) but have not integrated it into our examination of climate change interventions.

food security, minimizing water consumption, and reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (cf. Andrea 2018; Jones 2020). An example that has attracted much social science research is REDD+ (Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Degradation). REDD+ programs are intended to generate carbon credits by paying rural villagers in low-income countries to preserve forests, and thereby are expected to simultaneously mitigate climate change and reduce poverty (Westholm and Arora-Jonsson 2015; Bee and Sijapati Bassnett 2017).²²

Table 4.1 Typology of climate change interventions

Policy	Type of intervention	Examples of projects
Climate change mitigation aims at reducing GHG emissions and enhance sinks.	Reduce use of fossil fuels. Rain water harvesting. Forest conservation. Systems of rice intensification (SRI).	Efficient wood stoves, renewable energy (solar cookstoves, biofuels), trombe walls, ²³ passive housing. UN REDD+.
Climate change adaptation aims at reducing the vulnerability of natural and human systems against actual or expected climate change effects (Verbruggen 2007).	Climate-smart agriculture (CSA). Flood defenses. Enhancing resilience and capacity. Disaster risk reduction/preparedness.	Substitution of more temperature shock-resistant plants for sensitive ones, irrigation techniques, and other agricultural technologies. Raising river or coastal dykes. Providing climate services (climate and weather information in agrarian contexts). Early warning systems (EWS).

²² REDD+ is not the only relevant example of UN schemes. But it is a unique case because it was pressured by women's groups to take up gender equality, and in part thanks to the engagement of feminists in bureaucracies and women's organizations (such as Women's Environment and Development Organization (WEDO) and Women Organizing for Change in Agriculture and Natural Resource Management (WOCAN)). REDD+ projects do actually mention gender (unlike the Clean Development Mechanisms, which completely ignored gender). REDD+ has been researched a lot by climate change experts. It therefore occupies a large place in the grey and academic literature on gender and climate action. It is also the example with which we are most familiar.

²³ A trombe wall is a dark painted cement wall, covered with a glass on the outside to provide an insulating air gap between the wall and the glaze. As the air in the air gap is heated by sunlight, its density decreases and it rises upwards, where a small hole in the upper wall allows the heated air to flow into the room. The subsequent pressure drop causes an influx of cooler air from the room through a vent near the bottom of the wall. Additionally, the wall absorbs thermal energy from incident sunlight that passes through the wall into the room. It is usually constructed so that energy from the first rays of sunlight reach the inner room at sunset. This allows the trombe wall to "store" heat, providing a source of energy during the night as well.

4.1 CLIMATE CHANGE INTERVENTIONS

While climate change emerged as, and in many ways continues to be, a policy issue concerned with the biophysical environment to be solved by technical solutions, environmental policy-making has increasingly turned to the question of gender, often to rally support from donors and others for programs already underway (Arora-Jonsson 2014). Gender has been mobilized in a number of ways in climate change policies, and yet these policies have seldom addressed the care work dimension (Arora-Jonsson 2011; Butt et al. 2020). However, policy approaches can play an important part in resisting or reproducing unequal gender relations and divisions of care work, especially when willing to address institutional and social constraints (Pearson 2004; Mínguez 2012; Cook et al. 2019; Arora-Jonsson 2014). While there is relatively little research on care specifically in the literature on climate interventions, and most focuses on the gendered nature of climate change interventions, in this section we reflect on what the findings of this body of work imply for care in relation to the individual, families, communities, and their environments.

The literature on climate programs and gender is overwhelmingly critical of how policies and programs have or have not dealt with the gender-care nexus. The insensitivity to gender has ranged from being gender neutral, where gender is not considered specifically at all, to taking on gender as a category but equating it with women and/or reproducing binary categories (men-women), thereby disregarding the complex and intersecting dimensions of power that organize relationships between men and women. Table 4.2 provides an overview of some of the negative effects of gender-insensitive climate interventions on care work, which we go on to elaborate below.

Table 4.2 Examples of negative impacts of climate interventions on care work

Policy	Type of intervention	Examples	Negative impacts on care work
Climate mitigation aims at reducing GHG emissions and	Reduce use of fossil fuels via renewable energy and biofuels	Renewable energy— solar/low impact cookstoves. Grow biofuel crops to replace petrol/diesel.	Marginal land previously used for subsistence food crops now used for biofuels, with negative impact on women's care work.
enhancing sinks.	Eco- technologies	Efficient wood stoves, compost bins, water cisterns, dry toilets.	Intended to mitigate and reduce domestic drudgery but women don't use them (not designed with participation of users and attention to context). Users can't afford/incur debt; don't know how to repair and maintain over time.
	Forest conservation	REDD+ projects/non- timber forest products (NTFPs).	Restrictions on men's work in forests creates increased care work for women—compensate for loss of livelihood.
Climate adaptation aims at reducing the vulnerability of natural and human systems	Climate- smart agriculture (CSA)	The substitution of more shock-resistant plants for sensitive ones. Composting and vermiculture.	New tasks are more labor intensive and fall on women. Technologies and strategies designed without end users in mind, leading to CSA that doesn't work for women.
against actual or expected climate	Climate information services (CIS)	Information and education campaigns.	Interventions ignore the relevant social differences that shape people's livelihoods, reproducing gendered inequalities in care.
change effects.	Enhancing resilience and capacity in local communities		Much of the increased labor due to the new techniques falls on women, compounding their work of care. Gendered relations remain the same and no redistribution of care work.
	Economic empowerment	Women sought to be included in national and international markets for NTFP projects as part of climate mitigation policies that restrict men's use of forests.	While women's inclusion in NTFP markets has benefited some, mitigation policies do this in the absence of any social policy that acknowledges the care work already being carried out by women. When projects increase paid work but don't reduce care work, women shoulder double day of work.

Climate interventions have tended to ignore questions of care that underpin the labor of people most affected by climate interventions, especially women. Research indicates that climate change-related stressors exacerbate existing inequalities, but so do climate change interventions that can reproduce, exacerbate, and introduce new inequalities (Westholm and Arora-Jonsson 2015). This is as true of policies that are framed as gender neutral as those that target women specifically. Moreover, an interesting finding of studying the programmatic implications of policies on the ground is that despite gender being addressed in some policies and not in others, the implications of climate interventions on the ground can be very similar. This leads us to advocate (in section 6 (p. 88) the need for a more robust analysis of how gender is addressed in climate change policies but also to argue that all types of interventions need to address underlying structures, relations, and contexts shaping unpaid care work.

4.2 GENDER NEUTRALITY IN CLIMATE CHANGE INTERVENTIONS

Gender-neutral climate interventions ignore gendered differences and tend to take dominant and unequal gender relations as the norm. Conventionally, both mitigation and adaptation have been regarded as biophysical interventions to be achieved by natural science approaches and technical solutions. The social sciences have been secondary (see Deering 2019). Despite increasing attention to the socially differentiated and gendered impacts of climate change, policies have continued to focus on technologies and market mechanisms to enhance ecosystem services or carbon sequestration. This may be seen both in adaptation interventions, such as in CSA approaches, as well as in mitigation, for example, in forest conservation.

Gender-neutral climate policies tend to ignore the increased burden of labor that arises as a result of climate interventions. There are often two important implications of this tendency towards gender-neutral approaches to care work in adaptation strategies. First, considerable research shows that new tasks that are more labor intensive fall on women. These are regarded as an extension of their care work without attention to how climate change interventions increase their burden of work and care, resulting in a low uptake of the programs. This can be seen in research carried out in Uganda, Ghana, and Bangladesh wherein new labor-intensive tasks as part of climate adaptation programs, such as composting and vermiculture, seemed to fall on women (Jost et al. 2016). The women in these settings cited this increased work as a disincentive to changing their agricultural practices. The researchers conclude that changes in agricultural practices seem to occur mainly within existing gender roles, rather than new CSA

practices enabling a reorganization of unequal gender roles. Attention is needed to womens' and girls' use of time, in unpaid domestic work and other activities where they are considered providers of manual labor (Deering 2019, 23).

Secondly, local people, and especially women, who are targeted by projects rarely have a voice in their design. Women also often lack information needed to participate. As Bryan et al. (2018, 424) point out, adaptation strategies that rely on new technologies in order to promote a shift away from fossil fuels tend not to consider the preferences of the end users of a technology during the design and planning stage, in turn affecting the adoption of that technology. Different women have different preferences and needs for adaptation given their gendered roles within the household. Studies based on sex-disaggregated data have shown that when gendered differences are not taken into consideration in the technology design process or when they are introduced to agricultural households, which they often are not, climate-smart technologies do not work well for them (Doss 2001; Beuchelt and Badstue 2013; Bryan et al. 2018, 418; FAO and CARE 2019).

Gender-neutral approaches disregard the gendered nature of climate information services where women often do not have access to information. The lack of access to information and resources can be seen to have important implications for care work. Sandström and Strapasson's (2017) work in Tanzania on the use of climate information services indicated that a link exists between households accessing productive assets and taking action on the basis of climate information. They found that the more members of the household who access information, the more likely it is to be used by the household. This implies that even though women might not be the final decision-making authority in a household on a livelihood-related issue (such as when to plant a particular crop), ensuring that women have information strengthens their role in the bargaining process within the households and leads to the household being more likely to act on the information. The lack of women's access to information as well as their "lack of technology ownership" (Jost et al. 2016) point to the disregard for their contexts as well as the power dynamics in households. This disregard for their contexts makes it unlikely that women will adopt climate strategies that do not also consider their care work.

Similarly, climate mitigation interventions have important implications for care work. Studies of REDD+ programs that seek to preserve forests in order to sequester carbon, for example, show that women have had limited participation in discussions on questions of climate change or REDD+ (Peach-Brown 2011). An international study of 23 REDD+ climate projects found that women's well-being had actually dropped in villages since the introduction of the projects, often because women were not considered stakeholders in the new programs. These projects were creating new inequalities, because the new programs impinged on women's work and access to resources, but women had no insight into these

programs nor were they involved in the decision-making or management (Larson et al. 2015).²⁴ Much like in the research cited above (e.g., Jost et al. 2016), one could imagine that the disregard for women's contexts, and the sets of power relations that affect the distribution of their productive and care work within the family and for the environment in the programs, constituted a significant part of the problem.

Mitigation efforts often, but not always, rely on market mechanisms and carbonoffset trading. While development plans and projects in low-income countries have always involved a range of actors beyond the state, this involvement has increased significantly with climate programs. International donors and bureaucrats, NGOs (both grassroots and international), and especially private interests have assumed important roles in what Arora-Jonsson et al. (2016) call climate assemblages. For the countries and actors in the global North who finance these interventions, such carbon mitigation projects provide a costeffective solution for shifting their responsibility to reduce carbon build-up caused by years of industrial development to the global South. Choices made by distant consumers and buyers of carbon credits in the global North affect everyday decisions and resource access for people in low-income countries in the global South. In the case of REDD+, this has entailed cordoning off forests that people depend upon for subsistence. As everyday production and reproduction activities are disrupted, this has negative implications for care work at home, in the community, and in the local environment (Arora-Jonsson et al. 2016).

Studies have shown that the gender neutrality of such projects ignores not only the gendered division of labor including care, but also the deep interrelations and interdependencies between men and women and the various entanglements of their productive and care work. For example, REDD+ climate programs did not consider that policies and programs that have a direct effect on men's work also have immense implications for women's productive and care work. This was clear in Lindi District in Tanzania, where the cordoning off of the forests resulted

_

²⁴ The studies carried out focus group interviews with both men and women, and surveys were used to gather secondary data. The women's survey focused on perceptions of participation in community decision-making, as well as on how men and women use the forest. The participants of the women's focus groups were asked to vote on a series of statements regarding their perception of participation and influence in village and household decisions, including forest rule making. They used four conditions to assess well-being and participation before and after the program implementation: 1) that women have a strong voice in village decision-making; 2) that women have a strong role in forest rule making; 3) that women use forest resources as much or more than men; and 4) that initiatives take an explicit gendered approach to REDD+.

in an increased pressure on women to compensate for the loss of men's livelihoods from the forests. There was greater pressure for them to produce food from their small agricultural plots, and some spoke about having to take on work such as starting tea shops on roadsides or at local markets to compensate for the loss of family income. Given their gender-based roles, it was not considered appropriate for men to undertake many such activities, thus significantly increasing pressure on women in relation to both care and productive work (Arora-Jonsson et al. 2016).

Linking back to the 5R framework, since women carry out most of the care work, especially in the home, the lack of recognition of the gendered division of labor in climate policies and the absence of women's representation in design processes and decision-making (combined with their lack of access of information and to technology) means that instead of reducing their care work burdens, this type of project can in fact intensify it. The implicit inequalities of the distribution of care work are sustained rather than transformed in such cases.

4.3 EQUATING GENDER WITH WOMEN AND DISREGARDING GENDERED CARE CONTEXTS

Some climate interventions have sought to include gendered concerns while failing to treat gender as a set of power relationships and/or failing to tackle injustice at its roots. Such moves have particular implications for the ability of these interventions to address care work inequalities or the negative impacts of climate change on the lives and working conditions of carers. We find two types of problems with the way gender appears in these interventions.

The first problem is the practice of equating gender with women, thereby ignoring men and making women the prime targets of interventions while also disregarding diverse care contexts. For example, Westholm and Arora-Jonsson (2015) have pointed to how, even when gender has been a focus in climate policies and women's inclusion in income-generation activities and markets is the cornerstone, women's work of care is ignored, as are the implications of the added care work burdens for women created as a result of the interventions. In addition, adaptation and mitigation strategies tend to disregard interdependencies between men and women, as discussed above.

The second problem is the tendency to treat gender as a binary opposition between men and women, ignoring experiences of gender non-binary and LGBTQI+ people, as well as the many other intersecting dimensions of power that shape community outcomes. Here heteronormative notions of men and women and gendered roles are often reproduced uncritically.

If we take gender to mean the social organization of the relationships of intersecting dimensions of power between groups of men and women, then many climate interventions have a problematic or insensitive understanding of gender (e.g., see Bryan et al. 2018). Many such approaches work towards empowering women through economic activities, which, while crucial, tend to ignore the larger gendered constraints in which women operate and thus magnify their burden, both of care and productive work (Westholm and Arora-Jonsson 2015).

Gender mainstreaming is advocated by most organizations working on climate adaptation and mitigation in the global South. The Global Gender and Climate Alliance (GGCA), which is a body created by the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), and Women's Environment and Development Organization (WEDO), promotes gender mainstreaming in climate change policy- and decision-making and supports countries to adopt this approach (see LEG 2015, 28). However, gender mainstreaming has all too often amounted to targeting women and disregarding gendered care contexts, and climate policies and actions are no exception.

Climate interventions are often centered around eco-technologies²⁵ and solutions that are aimed at women as a way to achieve a win-win solution: that is, they are seen as redressing climate change and at the same time reducing women's drudgery. But Gay-Antaki's (2020) work shows that carbon mitigation interventions, often devised in the global North with little or no discussion or consultation with the recipients, often tend to be ignored and disregarded. In Mexico, for example, a climate project provided construction materials to build efficient wood stoves, compost bins, water cisterns, dry toilets, and home gardens intended to help women by cutting down the time needed for domestic work. When asked if they liked the technologies, many women replied, "Yes, they are great," but in fact, except for the water cisterns, not a single woman seemed

²⁵ The term "eco-technologies" has become a buzzword and is used very differently by scholars. However, simply put, eco-technologies may be understood as technological interventions in the form of practices and processes using biological, physical, and chemical processes to minimize harm to the environment and provide services of value to society (for example, see Haddaway et al. 2018).

to be using any of the eco-technologies. Gay-Antaki argues that an inadequate understanding of the women's lives, and the targeting of the women while ignoring the men (who were expected to help install these technologies), contributed to sending skewed messages about the project.

In another example from Kenya, Wang and Corson (2015) found that women's labor was used in projects without full compensation. Women were meant to use efficient cookstoves and create carbon emissions reductions, which then became tradable virtual commodities. A significant problem was women's inconsistent stove adoption and the resulting difficulty in measuring and producing carbon offsets. This was compounded by the fact that the original owner of the emission-reducing technology is usually deemed the owner of the reductions. This meant that once the stove owner bought the stove, the ownership of reductions was transferred to the local NGO, who in turn transferred them to the European developer. The researchers argue that while introducing some improvements in cooking time, smoke level, and labor, the improved cookstoves' carbon offset ultimately constituted an accumulation of wealth for investors in the global North and further marginalized rural Kenyan women (Wang and Corson 2015).

These examples suggest that an understanding of context is vital for understanding everyday factors that may actually transform people's care work burdens (Gay-Antaki 2020). Further, they show how actors beyond those in the local context are implicit in reordering care work in particular contexts, often without much knowledge about the lives of the people they affect. This lack of knowledge and analysis of the care aspects of climate interventions is a serious shortcoming in climate policies.

A related vet different facet of the importance of context is evident in the work of Acosta et al. (2019) who study the uptake of CSA projects by local bureaucracies in Uganda. Their studies show that it is not the lack of knowledge about the context but the reluctance and inability to challenge problematic and unequal relations of gender and care that are problematic (see also Opuko and Glazebrook's (2018) study of agriculture in Ghana and Mersha and Laerhoven's (2016) study of forests in Ethiopia who come to similar conclusions). Acosta et al. (2019) found that policies that emphasized gender mainstreaming in CSA tended to be translated in a way that resonated with international discourses and yet permitted policy-makers and bureaucrats to conform to domestic norms and logics that dictated inequalities in care work. While it was clear that the unequal ownership of assets in the agricultural sector held a central place in women's unequal care work, the prescriptions proposed by local bureaucracies centered largely on sensitization of gender roles to the policy area of education, thereby backgrounding other structural areas and discriminatory patterns. Thus, while policies and projects seemingly embraced a gender mainstreaming discourse, their implementation simultaneously perpetuated gender stereotypes (discussed in the next subsection (p. 64). In these cases, bureaucrats embraced a

"discursive hybridity," couching gender (and care) in generic terms in policy-making so as to enable governments and development organizations to engage with gender mainstreaming discourse while at the same time maintaining the incumbent local social order. Importantly, Acosta et al.'s (2019) case highlights that, though gender inequality was discussed as a legitimate object of governance, at no level of administration was this language ever sufficiently elaborated.

In a survey of practitioners working on climate adaptation in SSA countries, Bryan et al. (2018) found that targeting women often leads to the marginalization of gender equality initiatives and can prompt resistance to them in some communities. They argue that climate interventions need to have community support before they can try to address gender inequalities by targeting women. They recommend that the community be fully engaged and involved in designing the project, and once there is a consensus on what is to be done, programs must work with both men and women. Carr and Thompson (2014) argue that this will require an expanded, rigorous empirical base of evidence as well as methodological innovations, which are thus far under-addressed in the gender and climate change literature.

The focus on women is equally a feature of mitigation programs. Mitigation programs such as REDD+ advocate forest conservation and limit logging, largely a male occupation. In order to offset the disadvantages of the loss of timber from the forests, national climate policies (such as in REDD+ in Burkina Faso) have directed their attention to women's involvement in non-timber forest products (NTFP), highlighting win-win prospects for all concerned: offering carbon sequestration, poverty reduction, and women's empowerment by including them in markets for NTFPs. The attention to gender, and specifically to women's forest work—which is often of the kind that we would call environmental care—legitimized their program in relation to international donors (Westholm and Arora-Jonsson 2015).

This focus on women's often informal environmental care work on NTFPs in climate programs has led to pressure on them to join markets that link up to international commodity chains. As research has shown, this can leave them with less control over their time, work, and resources, and can lead to greater social differentiation in the communities as the poorest are unable to benefit from the trade (Elias and Arora-Jonsson 2017; Elias and Saussey 2013). Efforts to bring women and their labor into local and global markets for NTFPs in climate programs are accompanied by decision-making about their environments and their trade moving not only to the national but also to the global level. In the absence of social policy that recognizes women's roles and contexts, the responsibilities of productive and reproductive care work in the forests, as well as in the community and home, are reinscribed in gendered and negative ways (Westholm and Arora-Jonsson 2015).

As feminist economists have shown, women's economic participation and increased incomes do not necessarily translate into empowerment within the household or reductions in their burden of care. They have pointed out how market-based models, on which many mitigation and income-generation policies and projects are based, fail to take into account the embedded nature of markets; that is, that "roles within market systems are structured by non-market criteria" such as social norms on gender, class, caste, ethnicity, age, seniority (Harriss-White 1998, 201).

Gender stereotypes and binary approaches: reinforcing gendered care inequalities

Critical researchers claim that climate policies, as well as some academic literature on gender and climate adaptation in rural contexts, are replete with simplified framings of women as a group that often reproduce myths and assumptions and miss women's different, place-specific needs, vulnerabilities, and opportunities (see, e.g., Carr and Thompson 2014; Carr et al. 2016; Arora-Jonsson 2011; Nelson and Stathers 2009; Onta and Resurreccion 2011; Doss et al. 2018). This literature highlights that women are not themselves a unitary category, but that the experience of being a woman is shaped by the intersection of gender with other categories (such as class, caste, age, seniority, ethnicity, sexuality, place of residence, etc.) and can shift in different contexts and in relation to different activities. This body of literature also debunks the stereotype of women as essentially more caring and pro-environmental than men, which, when used to justify the targeting of women for climate actions, stands in the way of gender equality (Lau et al. 2021).

Carr et al. (2016), who examine climate services (i.e., providing climate and weather information to women in rural contexts) and their differential effects in Senegal, conclude that the design and implementation of effective gender-sensitive climate services are crucial for equality as well as for the ability of different groups to adapt to climate change. They write that even a cursory consideration of gendered perceptions of the shocks and stresses impacting human well-being in the community demonstrates that there are differentiated assemblages of vulnerability, not only between men and women, but also among women. They write that of particular interest is the fact that junior women keeping animals without equipment have much higher rates of food insecurity than senior women in the same asset situation.

The binary approach to gender roles in the design of climate information services as part of adaptation programs ignores the relevant social differences that shape people's livelihoods decisions and outcomes—including but not limited to gender (Carr et al. 2016). For example, in rural Tanzania, van Aelst and Holvoet (2016) found that marital status (divorced, married, widow, single) was vital in women's ability to access adaptation strategies in a way it was not for men. They stress

the need to recognize diversity within the category of "women" and women's differential interests in relation to adaptation.

While much of the work cited above does not take up the question of care per se, it does indicate that these different concerns would have a direct impact on the care work carried out by these different women and indeed that the burden of care clearly differs between women. Not only do different women have different roles and responsibilities in relation to care, but, as Gonda (2017) shows in her studies of climate policies and projects in Nicaragua, the assumption that all care is carried out by women can reproduce gendered inequalities in care. She brings attention to how women were framed as vulnerable and deserving of attention in climate policies, ignoring the fact that men too carried out a great deal of care work. Thus, much like the gender-neutral interventions discussed above, climate programs that target women also tend to ignore the interdependencies between men and women and between different types of work.

Alongside the tendency to assume a strict division of labor between men (production) and women (reproduction/care), it is also important to acknowledge the deeply entrenched heteronormativity, and corresponding silence on LGBTQI+ people's experiences, in development policy and practice (Mason 2018; Weerawardhana 2018). There is a recognized need to question the implications of taking the heterosexual couple family to be the norm in policy initiatives: "What happens to the people who don't follow those familial narratives?" (Butler 2017, 271). Gaard (2019) notes the lack of research on the impacts of climate change on LGBTQI+ populations, arguing that climate interventions will not be gender transformative if they fail to redress homophobia and transphobia or to explicitly embed LGBTQI+ rights. In our review of the literature, we did not find any discussions of the needs and experiences of care work that are specific to LGBTQI+ people living in low-income rural communities in the global South. Academic feminist research on the gendered impacts of climate change appears to be as silent on this topic as climate policy-makers and practitioners (see, e.g., Lau et al. 2021).

4.4 SUMMARY

The problems and challenges identified in this section are not new. Climate interventions are reproducing problems that have plagued development strategies in the past, such as binary approaches to gender, exclusive decision-making processes, and institutional and bureaucratic barriers that limit women's access to information. As Chant (2008) has observed, women are more often made to work for development than development works for them. When climate interventions involve the mobilization of women's work in ways that are intended

to solve climate change but do not improve women's lives, the pattern is repeated.

Adopting a gendered approach has been daunting for many project officials tasked with mainstreaming gender in climate interventions (Acosta et al. 2019). As we have discussed, gender-insensitive climate projects have ranged from the idea of being neutral and ignoring gender differences altogether to investing in women's economic activities without simultaneous attention to their everyday lives and unpaid care work. Recognition of the value of care work and representation of care workers' concerns in climate programs is largely absent. When they are recognized, focusing on their economic empowerment without a corresponding understanding of their daily responsibilities for unpaid care work can exacerbate their marginalization.

As the literature indicates, climate projects might well increase women's work without compensation and reduce whatever decision-making rights they might have over their resources. Further, echoing an insight from years of development research, while it may be the case that eco-technologies intended to reduce women's care work are needed, it is also clear that without an understanding of their lives and ensuring their involvement in project design, these strategies are unlikely to succeed.

5 GENDER-JUST AND CARE-SENSITIVE CLIMATE ACTION

There is growing commitment to making climate change interventions more responsive to gender inequalities, which mostly means making them more attentive to women's concerns (see, for example, UN SDG 5: Gender Equality). Care work is mentioned in the scholarly literature connected to this goal, but the explicit recognition of its value, or making interventions more attentive to the needs of carers or reducing care work inequality, is rarely the focus. Instead, the emphasis tends to be placed on increasing women's empowerment through income generation and active participation. In the context of climate change interventions, the empowerment of women is regarded as instrumental to the development of resilient and sustainable human settlements. Seen through the lens of gender justice, it is questionable whether dominant empowerment strategies will lead to the reinforcement or transformation of the root causes of women's subordination, including gendered care work inequalities (Tovar-Restrepo 2017; Chant 2016; Elson 2015).

In this section, we begin by discussing what feminist organizations consider to be "gender-just climate solutions:" "just" in that they aim to be transformative of existing unjust (i.e., patriarchal) structures that disadvantage women and girls. We then distill from this literature a set of themes and examples of interventions that seem to hold promise for reducing negative impacts of climate change on care work inequalities in general and women's disproportionate responsibility for care work in particular. This distillation is achieved by applying the 5R Framework for transforming care work inequalities (presented in Table 2.3) and enables us to explain in more detail what we mean by a care-sensitive approach to climate change action.

5.1 "GENDER-JUST CLIMATE SOLUTIONS"

In the international climate policy sphere, there is much debate over how tackling the climate emergency can be made to work in concert with efforts to tackle other major crises, such as deepening income disparities or the global financial and health crises caused by the coronavirus pandemic. The IPCC (e.g., in the Fifth Assessment Report (5AR) 2014) and various UN agencies use the concept of "co-benefits" to refer to the positive effects of mitigating climate change via the reduction of GHGs. For example, the mass adoption of electric cars to reduce CO₂ emissions has the co-benefit of reducing the high number of deaths caused by air pollution. Or as in the Burkina Faso REDD+ program, the empowerment of

women was seen as a co-benefit of engaging them into global markets for their NTFPs (Westholm and Arora-Jonsson 2015). In the gender and climate change field, UN Women (2016) sets out a strategy for "leveraging development co-benefits between gender equality and climate change management." Their report identifies potential co-benefits of "harnessing gender equality" to deliver on Paris Agreement goals and suggests that finding ways to "optimise synergies...will be an active field of research in coming years" (UN Women 2016, 17). For them, climate programs are considered to be gender responsive when they generate social and economic benefits for women, notably in the areas of participation in income-generating agro-forestry and reduced drudgery from access to labor-saving and energy technologies (UN Women 2016).

As reviewed in section 4 (p. 50), feminist research has criticized the lack of appropriate gender sensitivity in interventions that aim at mitigating and/or adapting to climate change in low-income, rural areas of the global South. There is also a degree of skepticism of the concept of co-benefits in feminist climate change scholarship. This stems from criticism of the tendency to instrumentalize gender equality, to frame it as a means of achieving the efficiency and efficacy in climate actions, rather than as an end in itself. Bringing women into formal markets and making use of their work with NTFPs have been portrayed in policy documents as increasing their reach and modernizing a traditional division of labor where women are marginalized due to their isolation from markets. But little notice is taken of their reproductive work outside of markets (Westholm and Arora-Jonsson 2015, 195). There exists a similar degree of skepticism of, or perhaps more accurately disappointment in, the ability of climate interventions to "safeguard" the interests of marginalized women. Since the 2010 Cancun Agreement, governments are expected to protect vulnerable groups from negative effects of market-driven policy activities. These safeguards, such as those associated with REDD+, have, among other things, been used to ensure that gender equality and the participation of women are built into interventions. However, as Bee and Sijapati Basnett (2017) argue, in most REDD+ interventions, gender equality is treated as a technical issue and a "bureaucratic obligation" to be reported on, rather than a meaningful or lasting outcome on the ground. Others echo this point when claiming that even those interventions that purport to be transformative of existing economic structures fail explicitly to include gender inequality as a variable that needs to be tackled at its roots (Deering 2019; Acosta et al. 2019).

Such critical analyses of existing practice, combined with accumulated empirical evidence from local communities, have informed the development of principles for making climate interventions more "gender just" or "gender transformative." It is not sufficient for interventions to be gender "responsive" or even gender "sensitive" if that means "adding women and stirring" or carrying on with gender-as-usual (Bee and Sijapati Bassnett 2017). Rather, it implies radically changing

(Westholm and Arora-Jonsson, 2018) the material, political, and socio-cultural causes of gender inequality.

Reporting on her work at the Women's Environment and Development Organization (WEDO), Tovar-Restrepo offers this definition of "gender transformative:" "by recognising gender as a central dimension to achieve positive development incomes; by transforming unequal gender relations, promoting shared power and control of resources; and guaranteeing genderbalanced participation in decision-making that supports women's empowerment" (2017, 417–18). WEDO and similar NGOs seek to put these ideas into practice in their climate change planning and policy-related activities, such as those developed as part of REDD+ (CARE 2010; Westholm and Arora-Jonsson 2018). A report for CARE draws on similar principles to set out recommendations for how to develop "gender transformative climate adaptation" projects that fundamentally change "unequal gender relations and power structures" (Deering 2019, 4).

One of the most significant articulations of a set of principles (or criteria) of gender-just policy-making in the context of climate politics has been offered by the Women's and Gender Constituency (WGC), which is a stakeholder group of the UNFCCC made up of around 30 women's and environmental organizations (representing over 60 countries; including WEDO). The WGC's main goal is to promote changes at the UN level that will make gender equality and women's rights central to climate action. Since 2015 the WGC has collected case studies of local climate change initiatives and has given awards each year for "gender just climate solutions" (GJCS)—i.e., what they deem to be best practice interventions that have positive climate and gender impacts—in three categories: technical, non-technical, and transformational climate solutions. Box 5.1 presents the criteria used to adjudicate the applications received for the GJCS Award.

Box 5.1 The WGC's criteria for judging climate solutions to be "gender just"

- i. Provides equal access to benefits for women, men, and youth.
- ii. Aims to alleviate and/or does not add additional burden to women's workload (such as via additional natural resource management or care responsibilities without compensation).
- iii. Empowers women through better mobility/accessibility, enhanced livelihood security, enhanced food security, improved health, access to safe water, etc. (as many benefits as possible).²⁶

Oxfam Research Backgrounder

²⁶ We would add access to information to this list.

- iv. Promotes women's democratic rights and participation by ensuring decision-making by local women, men, women's groups, cooperatives, and communities.
- v. Locally led and/or locally driven (decentralized and appropriate).
- vi. Ensures self-sufficiency and a low input of resources (safe, affordable, and sustainable).
- vii. Contributes to climate change mitigation, emissions reduction, and/or climate adaptation (the project is sustainable).
- viii. Results can be shared, spread, and scaled up (replicable elsewhere, not just benefiting one individual).
- ix. Shows interlinkages to cross-cutting issues, such as (including, but not restricted to) peace-building, natural resources management, food security and/or health, water and sanitation.

Source: WGC 2020.

These criteria promote women's interests while also calling for gender equality and greater democratization in all aspects of climate action. This combination is noteworthy because it responds to the gender-specific impacts of climate change reviewed in section 3 (p. 32) and criticisms of gender-insensitive climate interventions we summarized in section 4 (p. 50). There is recognition, in criterion iii, that women are particularly disadvantaged by lack of access to services and resources and therefore need targeted projects to empower them via improved access. Criteria iv and v respond to awareness that top-down approaches tend to reproduce existing power relations. Calling for enhanced local control and decision-making, with added mention of women's agency and right to participate, underscores the view that climate interventions must not become tools of neocolonialism (see Westholm and Arora-Jonsson 2015; Arora-Jonsson et al. 2016; Bee and Sijapati Bassnett 2017; Resurrección et al. 2019).

Only criterion ii specifically addresses care work and does so via a concern for women's "workloads," suggesting that the amount of work that women do should be reduced or at least not increased. This framing is interesting in light of the more nuanced discussion of care work that we have presented in this report. It suggests that there is a narrow understanding of care work as a problem for women (i.e., care = drudgery) and possibly a lack of multi-dimensional, contextual, and intersectional analyses of care work and its interactions with the impacts of climate change. This is not surprising: even though feminist climate research includes analyses of social reproduction and the care economy, there are few specific and sustained examinations of care as a form of work in the grey literature on gender and climate change interventions; it is either absent or mentioned as one aspect of women's plight. For example, in their "Strengthening gender considerations in adaptation planning and implementation in the least developed countries" report, the LEG (2015) does not discuss care work at all. In

CARE's review of case studies, there is a discussion of three common features that they consider to be successful adaptation interventions as viewed through a feminist lens: building agency, changing relations, and transforming structures (Deering 2019). However, the report does not take a close look at care work. The IUCN's review of "gender-responsive adaptation across sectors" only refers to care work in relation to health (Aguilar et al. 2015). Resurrección et al.'s (2019) background paper on gender-transformative climate change adaptation discusses care work primarily in relation to women's time poverty and overburdening.

These are a few examples, but our review of the literature that zeroes in on the gender inequality-climate change nexus confirms that care work is rarely singled out for close, critical, and multidimensional examination. It is also instructive to note that in a survey of the WGC GJCS Awardees that asks about project outcomes and gender impacts, the criterion "reduce workload of women, especially of unpaid care work" is one of the least commonly mentioned out of 11 impacts, tied for last place with "creating new legislation and increasing the number of women in elected office" (WGC 2020).

In order to provide a discussion of the extent to which, and in what ways, gender-just climate solutions focus on improving the conditions under which people do care work and on transforming care work inequalities, we reviewed the WGC's summaries of award-winning GJCSs over a five-year period (2015–2020), along with key reports by CARE and Women Organizing for Change in Agriculture and Natural Resource Management (WOCAN). We looked for examples of interventions that seem to respond to one or more of the 5 Rs. This review yielded not only a set of examples of what might be called "win-win" solutions—in that they simultaneously respond effectively to climate change and care work inequality concerns—but also some reflections on potential pathways for transformation that have not yet been discussed in the literature.

5.2 CARE-SENSITIVE CLIMATE ACTION: APPLYING THE 5R FRAMEWORK

Feminist research that considers how to combine strategies for achieving gender equality and climate change adaptation or mitigation tends to advocate the adoption of a gender-transformative approach (cf. Tovar-Restrepo 2017). Echoing this claim, we argue that being gender "sensitive" in responses to climate change only takes us so far: to be gender transformative, interventions should be care sensitive so that they make care work possible and rewarding for everyone and integral to climate mitigation/adaptation strategies rather than being confined to the "gender and climate change" box. Evidence suggests that care-sensitive approaches may be more likely to be accepted by local people if

the benefits to the whole community is made evident, thereby avoiding the pitfalls of approaches that only target women (see Bryan et al. 2018). This means that there is a need for more research and learning on how to center care work in various forms of climate action (Butt et al. 2020); thus far care work is taken into account largely as an aspect (and cause) of women's vulnerability. Our view is that care work and gender inequality should be treated as related rather than conflated.

Moreover, our argument for care sensitivity stems from the observation that most climate solutions are only deemed gender just and/or transformative when they are bottom up and participatory. Almost without exception, the expectation is that women will be actively involved in the co-creation of projects, engaged in leadership and decision-making, and given many opportunities for training and other forms of enrichment. Income-generating activities are of course also part of the picture. But, while supportive of all of these features, we also note that seldom is the question of how these opportunities are to be juggled by individuals alongside already existing care work responsibilities addressed. For example, promoting training programs for women, such as in coastal monitoring or solar engineering, may be a celebrated feature in national Climate Change and Gender Action Plans (ccGAP), but, as discussed in section 4 (p. 50), technical and/or economic priorities may overshadow the implications for care work if there is no explicit or systematic analysis of care embedded into policy-making. As Resurrección et al. (2019) argue, a feminist approach demands that involvement in and responsibility for climate change mitigation/adaptation programs must not be added to women's already disproportionate (i.e., unfair) share of daily activities.

The 4 or 5R framework for transforming care inequalities by recognizing, reducing, redistributing, representing, and sometimes rewarding care work is the approach taken by feminist scholars as well as institutions such as the ILO, UN Women, and Oxfam. Drawing on the literature discussed in the previous sections, here we identify interventions that scholars believe are important for limiting the negative impacts of climate change, as well as the impacts of gender-insensitive climate change interventions, on women's disproportionate responsibility for unpaid care work.

In order to develop care-sensitive and gender-just interventions, the changes captured by the 5R framework are needed. As explained in section 2.4 (p. 28), this framework has been adopted widely in the grey and academic literature on care work inequalities in the global North and South. It is therefore useful to apply this framework to a discussion of climate change interventions, and to use it to identify pathways and possibilities for climate solutions that improve the distribution and conditions of care in low-income rural contexts. We are not aware of any other publication in which this approach has been taken.

In Table 5.1 we review the existing evidence from literature on "gender just climate solutions" (WGC 2020) against the five R verbs in the feminist framework (revisiting Table 2.3). We also identify how the 5Rs themselves might be modified to include greater recognition of the climate crisis-care crisis nexus (our modifications are presented column 2). It is important to note that the framework, as conventionally constructed, does not include an ecological/climate dimension, which highlights the fact that the topic of care work inequalities has rarely been analyzed in connection with questions of environmental quality or long-term sustainability—including by feminists.

In the sub-sections following this table, we explain and elaborate how the 5 Rs apply to climate actions. The Rs are organized in two groups: i) recognize, reward, and represent; and ii) reduce and redistribute. We give examples of the types of interventions that could help to respond to these goals, as well as examples of existing projects and policies where possible.

 Table 5.1 The 5R framework applied to climate interventions

	Climate-related modification	Interventions	Existing examples
Make care visible in policies; gather qualitative and quantitative data; mainstream care into policies and programs. Acknowledge the nature, extent, and contribution of unpaid care work to human development.	Make care inequalities visible so that they are not inadvertently exacerbated by climate change interventions that require additional responsibility, work, and time by carers (e.g., increased participation in other types of work, training programs, or decision-making processes). Recognize the role of care work in moving to a decarbonized, climate-just economy (care jobs as green jobs). Recognize the knowledge that comes from environmental care work. Recognize the role of carers and the work they do to enable households to cope in crisis/disaster situations and with everyday environmental stresses.	Challenge existing policies and plans that focus on technological fixes and masculinized production-focused jobs to the exclusion of feminized care-focused jobs (e.g., in "Green New Deals"). Ensure notions of climate justice used in advocacy campaigns include data to give evidence of the contribution of care work to a decarbonized economy and sustainable society.	The feminist Green New Deal campaign in the USA (Daniel and Dolan 2020; Palladino and Gunn-Wright 2021) and UK (Cohen and MacGregor 2021). Feminist economists, working in the US-based Times Up Foundation and UK Women's Budget Group, have calculated the benefits to job creation and carbon reduction strategies that could come from government investment in the care sector and its workforce (Palladino and Mabud 2021; de Henau and Himmelweit 2020). FUNDAECO works with Indigenous forest communities in Guatemala to integrate climate adaptation and reproductive health care. It officially recognizes midwives as community service providers (WGC 2019, 18). Colombian women recyclers recognized as environmental change agents and public service providers (WGC 2020, 9). A CSA project in East Godavari, India recognized Adivasi women's traditional knowledge of herbal remedies, learned through care for chickens, in disease prevention, leading to increased livelihood security (FAO and CARE 2019, 72). "Seeds for hope" in Northern India recognizes women's roles as owners of knowledge, conservation actors, and distributors of seeds as valuable to local climate adaptation (WGC 2017, 30)

Reduce Reduce the amount of time required to carry out care work by making it more convenient, safer, and less physically demanding. Provide social and physical infrastructure that takes the	Provide labor-saving domestic and agricultural technologies that simultaneously mitigate climate change and reduce time and effort of care work tasks. Increase access to climate information services that make it easier for carers to anticipate and plan for climate events in	Solar-powered lighting in homes makes care work easier. Solar cookers: women's workload is significantly reduced as they spend fewer hours on firewood collection and cooking (WGC 2020). Improved water technologies/infrastructure can reduce workload and lessen environmental impacts.	WGC showcases a number of projects and cooperatives involving domestic labor-saving technologies such as solar cookers and dryers, which will reduce GHG emissions, reduce care work, and enhance food and energy security for households. Oxfam's WE-Care project in the Philippines, Uganda, and Zimbabwe found that improved water sources could reduce women's average workload by one to four hours each day (Oxfam 2018). Fog water collection projects studied by Lucier and Qadir (2018).
onus off individuals to provide care.	order to minimize negative effects on households.	Building innovations that reduce energy use and individual care work such as	Trombe wall projects in Ladakh (Arora-Jonsson 2020).
		trombe walls and co-housing.	Also see, for example: Green Living Movement promotes argro-ecology and solar stoves across Zambia (WGC 2020, 16);
		CSA projects that improve food security in a climate-friendly way will reduce women's work to provision food for households.	The Union of Women Cooperatives for Argan Oil project to disseminate solar cookers across southern Morocco (WGC 2016, 9); Little Earth clean domestic energy projects in Tajikistan (WGC 2019, 10);
		Use of information and communication technologies (ICT) for climate information services should be accessible to carers	The Great Green Wall Project in Nigeria—energy-efficient cookstoves (WGC 2016, 16).
		spatially (i.e., close to home) and during different times in the day.	Gumucio et al. (2020, 245) report case study research that yields evidence that "women's capacity to access agro-meteorological advisories and weather and climate information is enhanced when services and information sources are located within the village, where women's childcare and household responsibilities tend to take place."
			NB: we could not find examples of specific projects.
Redistribute	Interventions should address assumptions about men/boy's	Ensure campaigns about "pro- environmental behaviors" that target	FANRPAN ATONU project in Tanzania and Ethiopia involving women rearing indigenous chickens for income, with emphasis on
Sharing of care work between adult family members (women and	and women/girl's roles in households and families in ways that lead to greater	households are explicitly gender inclusive rather than feminized or targeted at women.	men supporting through taking on increased domestic work and ensuring increases in women's resting time (Deering 2019, 11).

			I = 1 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 -
men in heterosexual	sharing of care work in		The GRAD (Graduation with Resilience to Achieve Sustainable
couple households).	households.	Climate adaptation projects with measures	Development) project uses village economic savings associations
		to increase "labor burden sharing" between	(VESA) that work with men and women to build gender-aware
Collectivize/socialize care	Deliver state-provided health	men and women.	adaptation strategies. The project has resulted in empowering
work through state policies,	and child care services;	Work with men in ways that get them to do	women with income-generating work and reducing their domestic
services, and facilities.	embed these care services in	more domestic and care work (this means	workload by redistributing work to husbands (Deering 2019).
Challenge norms that	national climate policies.	them taking responsibility as opposed to	
make care work a		"helping out" with women's chores).	Participatory processes to develop climate resilience that focus on
feminized activity.	Promote the benefits of care	,	gender division of labor and encourages men to share more of the
,	collectivization (in households	Assessments of women's participation in	load (e.g., Enda Graf Sahel in Saloum Delta, WGC 2020, 17).
	and via community co-ops) for	productive work and decision-making	(-19), -1100 -110 -110 -110 -110 -110 -110 -1
	gender equality and climate	should always be accompanied by	Oxfam's Living with Floods Information, Education and
	mitigation goals.	assessments of men's participation in care	Communication Clubs "resulted in shared responsibilities between
	Timingamori godioi	work (Folbre 2018, 26).	women and menand modified stereotypes" (Resurrección et al.
		Work (1 01510 2010, 20).	2019, 11).
		Provide childcare service for women	2010, 11).
		participating in climate projects and related	Oxfam's WE-Care project finds that when men participate in
		activities, whether research, decision-	activities that promote the valuing and sharing of unpaid care work,
		•	
		making, or training.	they report taking more responsibility and spending more time doing
		Operiod and to attend and a construction and	it than they have in the past (León-Himmelstine and Salomon 2020).
		Social protection and care services can	TI 010 MM
		enhance gender equality if the state	The SISAM project, which disseminates solar irrigation technologies
		commits to such goals, gives sufficient	in Benin, Burkina Faso, and Togo, provides childcare services to
		financial resources, and develops effective	women involved in meetings and training (WGC 2018, 17). NB: it is
		regulations (Staab and Gerhard 2011).	the only project in the GJCS Awards reports that mentions this.
			The Sahel Adaptive Social Protection Program (Béné et al. 2018).

Represent	Include carers in climate	Use of household methodologies (HHM)	IFAD (2016) provides a useful discussion of HHM and gives
	action planning so that their	and other participatory processes that	examples of projects in SSA where these have been used as a way
Give care workers a voice	care-specific concerns and	enable the needs, experiences,	to amplify women's voices in projects aimed at reducing care work
in decision-making; gather	needs can be embedded from	knowledge, and rights of carers to be	burdens through labor-saving technologies (see also Bishop-
data that illuminate their	the start.	mainstreamed into planning and policy-	Sambrook 2014).
lived experiences,		making for climate action.	
concerns, and ideas for	Conduct participatory research	-	While the participation of women is a major theme in the WGC
change.	with carers to amplify their	Include carers in community-level decision-	reports on GJCS, there seems to be no explicit mention of the
-	voices in climate change	making processes regarding climate	participation or representation of carers of any gender.
	interventions and lobbying.	action. Ensure their participation is not	
		restricted by caring responsibilities by	
		making childcare services available and	
		scheduling meetings around peak care	
		times in venues close to home.	
Reward/	Integrate cash transfers (and	Carer's income.	Campaign for a care income, promoted by the Global Women's
remunerate	other financial mechanisms)		Strike (GWS) and Women of Color GWS Movements
	that remunerate care work into	Findings from Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil,	(https://globalwomenstrike.net/careincomenow/).
	climate finance schemes such	and Chile indicate that non-contributory	
Pay for hitherto unpaid	as carbon trading programs.	pension funds can be a key measure to	WOCAN's W+ program that ensures women's empowerment
care work through direct		reduce gender gaps in benefits at old age	objectives as part of carbon trading programs (Westholm and Arora-
cash transfers or tax.		(Arza 2017).	Jonsson 2018).
		Findings from a multi-country cash-transfer	
		program in sub-Saharan Africa suggest	
		that promoting cash programs can	
		positively affect livelihoods as well as	
		agricultural productivity, provided there is	
		coordination with other sectoral	
		development programs and attention to	
		local contexts (Asfaw 2016).	

Recognizing care work and representing carers in climate interventions

As discussed in section 2.4 (p. 28), the 5R framework for transforming care work inequalities calls first for them to be recognized. Recognition entails acknowledging the value of care work to the economy and of carer's knowledge. In the context of climate interventions, both recognition of care and including the voices of those involved in care work would appear to be urgently needed solutions to the problems identified in section 4 (p. 50).

Two arguments found in the academic literature are worth summarizing here. The first is that care work should be seen as both foundational to society and low carbon, which presents a direct challenge to the mainstream climate change literature, where it is invisibilized. This argument has been developed by feminist ecological economists (Bauhardt 2014; Nelson and Power 2018) and has recently led activists in the UK and USA to adopt the slogan "care jobs are green jobs" (Cohen and MacGregor 2020, 2021; Daniel and Dolan 2020; Palladino and Gunn-Wright 2021). While gaining traction in the context of debates about a just transition in global North countries, this slogan could—in theory—be applied to low-income global South contexts. But given the porous boundaries and deep interconnections between the care work and productive work carried out by women and men in the global South, we would need to develop a contextualized and reflective approach.

In WGC's gender-just climate solutions awards, they acknowledge as commendable several projects that specifically recognize and celebrate the value of women's unpaid care work (see Table 5.1). For example, Colombian women recyclers have been recognized as "environmental change agents and public service providers" for doing the mundane, unpaid work of waste picking that could be seen as a form of environmental care (WGC 2020, 9). Acknowledging this work that women have been doing for decades without recognition, and giving it social, political, and economic value could contribute to successful campaigns for the fifth "R"—reward/remuneration of care work via a care income or other state social policy. While there are feminist campaigns for care incomes in Europe and North America (see James 2021), as far as we are aware, this type of intervention has not yet been debated in the literature on gender and climate change in the global South.

The second argument related to "recognize" is that knowledge gained via environmental care work is valuable and essential for the development of successful climate interventions. In many of their best practice examples, the WGC highlights the importance of building on the customary and ancestral knowledge of women and Indigenous people in the search for appropriate adaptation strategies. In forestry and agricultural projects involving locally adapted seeds, small livestock species, and ancestral uses of plants, for example, knowledge is treated as central to both empowerment and transformation (WGC 2019, 2020). These interventions integrate the benefits of

local knowledge for mitigating and coping with climate impacts with the benefits for communities and individual women of treating women as experts with environmental skills and knowledge.

Recognizing and valuing the work of caring, which often involves holding families and communities together in times of crisis, as well as giving women credit for doing this essential work, offers a counternarrative to the dominant positioning of poor women in the global South as vulnerable victims of climate change (Arora-Jonsson 2011, 2013; UN Women 2016; Huyer and Gumucio 2020).

The 5R framework calls for representation of care workers so that their experiences and needs are integrated into strategies for change. Representation often takes the form of political organizations advocating for better conditions and pay, but it can also be enabled via consultation and participation using innovative research methods, and even co-production of interventions by carers. Because women's voices are often missing from policy decisions, and because women are more likely than men to be care workers, methods of increasing representation of women are relevant to both researchers and practitioners who are committed to care-sensitive climate action.

Increasing the representation of carers and enabling their active participation and leadership is an important strategy for redressing the use of simplistic narratives and rehearsal of "zombie facts" (noted in section 3 (p. 32)). At the same time, "it is important to ensure that increased meaningful participation in governance spaces does not add to the care burden faced by girls or women" (Deering 2019, 23). Several academic articles make the point that increasing the participation of women in climate actions (such as those associated with REDD+) is liable to exploit their care work at the same time as ignoring their domestic responsibilities "and as a consequence risk burdening their labor demands and perpetuating the already uneven distribution of labor between men and women" (Bee and Sijapati Bassnett 2017, 795).

Feminist scholars have argued that sex- and gender-disaggregated research is necessary to improve representation of women and to support the implementation of gender-sensitive adaptation (Bryan et al. 2018; Lau et al. 2021). Several have argued that greater collaboration across different types of organizations in order to share knowledge and best practices and strengthen the integration of participatory research into adaptation programs is crucial for climate adaptation as well as to address the care work done by women and men (Bryan et al. 2018; Arora-Jonsson et al. 2019). Household surveys (see, e.g., Oxfam 2018) and other forms of household-based and context-specific research (see, e.g., the household methodology toolkit prepared by IFAD (2016) that involve all household members in discussion of gender inequalities, tensions, and individual and collective goals are increasingly used in investigations of the dynamics of care work. However, coordination and integration of interventions

from the point of view of recipients of projects and programs has been an acknowledged need in the field of development for many years but has proven to be difficult for agencies and government organizations to operationalize (Arora-Jonsson et al. 2019).

5.3 REDUCING AND REDISTRIBUTING CARE WORK AS PART OF CLIMATE INTERVENTIONS

As discussed earlier, many feminist climate experts agree that climate interventions should be designed to benefit carers by valuing their work and knowledge and to avoid instrumentally mobilizing their already scarce time and energy. The question to consider next is what are the types of interventions that go further to reduce and redistribute care work so that it is not disproportionately and detrimentally shouldered by women and girls. As established in section 3 (p. 32), climate impacts such as drought, deforestation, and related resource scarcity are expected to significantly increase amounts of unpaid care work.

In searching for pathways for linking gender equality and climate change solutions, both the grey and academic literature place emphasis on interventions that reduce, or at very least that do not add to, the burdens shouldered by carers. As an outcome of their extensive literature survey, Resurrección et al. (2019, 34) recommend "invest[ment] in basic social services and infrastructure - particularly health care, water, sanitation, childcare and labor-saving technologies - that reduce women's workloads and build resilience without further curtailing their time and self-determination." They go on to advocate strategies for redistributing care work, including through education and awareness raising, so that patriarchal ideas about how care for people and environments ought to be done can be challenged (Resurrección et al. 2019). It is important to build on these recommendations by looking more closely at how these care work reductions and redistributions can be achieved in climate interventions. Relating back to material in earlier sections, we organize the discussion into three types of interventions where evidence of (or potential for) reduction and redistribution of care work has been recognized in the literature: labor-saving infrastructure and technologies; social infrastructure and support mechanisms; and encouraging the sharing of care work in households.

Labor-saving infrastructure and technologies

Infrastructural and technological changes are needed, not only for mitigation and adaptation, but also for people to survive life-threatening loss and damage caused by climate change. A significant amount of climate intervention work focuses on developing resilient infrastructure, such as energy and water/sanitation, and distributing labor-saving equipment to places where these are currently lacking. This is an area where synergies between climate action

and gender equality have been identified and could be achieved through the provision of care-related infrastructure and new technologies that reduce the amount of time and energy that individuals need to spend doing care work.

Technical interventions can directly address the intersection of climate change and care work by reducing the impacts of adverse climate conditions on activities relating to indirect care such as collecting water and fuel, and provisioning food for households. Among the examples given to demonstrate positive impacts are the time reductions that result from ensuring easier access to water and energy sources, such as from drilling boreholes and planting trees in woodlots, as well as rural electrification programs (see LEG 2015, 24; Deering 2019). Research conducted as part of Oxfam's WE-Care project in the Philippines, Uganda, and Zimbabwe found that improved water sources could reduce women's average workload by one to four hours each day (Oxfam 2018).

Agricultural technologies have been shown to reduce workloads while increasing food production and reducing negative impacts on health, which result in women having more time for other activities such as education (Huyer and Gumucio 2020). Climate-smart agricultural technologies and practices such as using machines to sow seeds, planting zero-tillage crop varieties, green manuring, and laser land levelling have been found, in studies conducted in Nepal for example, to reduce women's drudgery in agricultural work (Khatri-Chhetri et al. 2019; FAO and CARE 2019) and potentially in their work of care.

Alternative fuel and cooking technologies for women have been on national and international development agendas since the 1980s (Agarwal 1986). New, improved cookstoves are seen as making existing care work less dangerous by reducing indoor smoke from fires and reducing the time needed to prepare food (Clancy et al. 2012; Lindgren 2020). Some researchers see this technology as a potential win-win intervention (WGC 2018, 2020).

Although they are now also seen as an important strategy for climate mitigation, there has been little uptake of low-impact cookstoves. Addressing this problem over several decades, Khandelwal et al. (2017) write that published research has shown that poor women do not rank cookstoves as one of the most urgent means of improving their lives. They have tended to be much more vocal about their desire for improved drinking water, irrigation systems, electrification, and access to land. However, these demands often require capital-intensive investment, and increased access to land requires taking on powerful interests responsible for the over-exploitation of resources. As Khandelwal et al. write, responding to such demands by women is difficult by definition. In fact, as we can see from the REDD+ projects described above, women are expected to give up access to land and resources and are made responsible for carbon

sequestration. Providing cookstoves then becomes a much simpler alternative.²⁷ Khandelwal et al. raise the ethical question of scholars and activists in the global North focusing so much attention on changing the behavior of poor women in rural areas of low-income countries. It becomes easy for "us" to think that we know what is in the interests of non-literate rural women and that it is their responsibility to change their behavior, rather than the responsibility of those of us living in the high-consuming urban societies to change ours (Khandelwal et al. 2017).

Further, improvements in water and sanitation infrastructure, such as the provisioning of water through plumbing and pumps, are necessary for reducing the time and effort required for direct, indirect, and environmental care work. But as with other types of technology, reducing effort does not automatically result from the uptake of water technologies, and nor is redistribution of the work a necessary outcome (Jerneck 2018; León-Himmelstine and Salomon 2020). For example, the Pacific Gender and Climate Change Toolkit (2015) presents as gender responsive a climate solution that involves installing a community cistern with solar pumps.²⁸ The intervention is expected to increase water access but could have a range of effects on gendered care work, because those most likely to use the technologies were not represented: without incorporating an analysis of gendered roles and relations, women might benefit from greater flexibility but have increased workload, whereas men's workload might be reduced because women are able to do more of the water-related work (UN Women 2016, 55).

Lucier and Qadir (2018), who study fog water collection in places where access to water is unreliable (for example in South and Central America, the Caribbean, Africa, and Southern Europe), illustrate that it can reduce the amount of time spent on water collection while also ensuring less pressure on the water table that might contribute to climate change. This has clear implications for women's care work and health outcomes as well as perceptions of self and welfare of the community. Fog water collection is a passive, low maintenance, and sustainable option that can supply fresh drinking water to communities where fog events are common. However, social infrastructure such as supportive policies, functional

²⁷ Khandelwal et al. do not suggest that the cookstoves issue is simple. On the contrary, they recognize that there is considerable debate over the benefits and challenges of implementing solar and biomass cookstoves in rural communities. They are an intervention that is potentially cheap and effective, yet in 50 years of effort there has been very low uptake for a variety of reasons. One may be that the focus has been on supply more than demand, with insufficient attention to design and use by those doing the cooking—a point that resonates with the discussion we presented in section 4 (p. 50).

²⁸ However, evidence suggests that the growing solar system market promoted by funders is leading to debt, using technologies that people do not know how to fix and abandon in the long term. See https://nextbillion.net/an-impact-investor-urges-caution-on-the-energy-access-hype-cycle/.

local institutions, expert communities, and gender equality are essential for it to work (Lucier and Qadir 2018).

Many climate projects have sought to work with labor-saving technologies in order to reduce the time required for care and to free up time for women to engage in more remunerative, income-generation activities as well as leisure and community participation. In development work, labor-saving technologies have long been seen as being instrumental in achieving gender equality and women's empowerment (see, e.g., IFAD 2016; FAO and CARE 2019). However, as we discussed in section 4 (p. 50), in the absence of attention to context and lack of awareness of users' needs and habits, some eco-technologies tend to be ignored by the people on the receiving end (Gay-Antaki 2020; Wang and Corson 2015). As a result, the literature on gender-transformative adaptation indicates that it is important to ensure that perceptions of performance or service-level improvements are shared by both the project designers and beneficiaries from the outset, keeping in mind the intersecting dimensions of power among men and women (Doss 2001; Beuchelt and Badstue 2013; Bryan et al. 2018; Carr et al. 2016).

The appropriateness of the technologies in daily life, and how the workload might shift as a result of these technologies (and what that would imply for gender relations), are important questions to consider. Further, a broader community approach is indispensable for many such interventions. For example, Arora-Jonsson (2020) found that the building of trombe walls in passive solar houses in mountain villages in Ladakh in the Himalayas by a local NGO freed up time for women from poor households (i.e., time normally spent doing care work, gathering/buying fuelwood to heat their homes and tending to the stove) to undertake activities outside the house. One woman related that it enabled her to get employment outside the home as she no longer needed to tend to the stove to generate heat and ensure that there were no fire hazards for her elderly mother who was at home during the day. However, trombe walls require direct sunlight from the south, and their effectiveness would be jeopardized if another house blocks their access to sunlight. Thus a community planning approach that includes everyone in the neighborhood is vital in these interventions (Arora-Jonsson 2020).

Finally, information and communication technologies (ICT) are mentioned in a number of reports and articles that assess gender-sensitive climate intervention (e.g., Gumucio et al. 2020; Mittal 2016; Carr et al. 2016; Deering 2019). Climate information services (CIS), such as weather forecasts and early warnings, are recognized as important in climate adaptation and building resilience in rural and agrarian settings. There is some evidence, discussed by Gumucio et al. (2020) in their review of the literature, that mobile phones and other ICT have potential to reduce care burdens by increasing access to CIS that make it easier for carers to anticipate and plan for climate events in order to minimize negative effects on

households. Moreover, CSA projects with women in India found that ICT-based agro-advisories, weather forecasts, and CIS can contribute to care work reduction by enabling women farmers to learn new practices (Chanana et al. 2018; Deering 2019). Gumucio et al. (2020, 245) further note that women's access to CIS is hugely dependent on contextual factors (including access to mobile phones, networks, and energy infrastructure) but that access can be improved by locating them close to where childcare and domestic work tends to take place. They also suggest that care work may reduce the amount of time available for accessing climate information, such as listening to radio programs. This means that for ICT-delivered CIS to contribute to reducing care burdens, they need to incorporate both time-sensitive and time-saving features in their design and delivery (Gumicio et al. 2020; see also USAID 2012).

It is important to note, however, that a review of the literature indicates that structural and sociocultural factors, including poverty, illiteracy, and gender norms and practices, as well as gender biases in technology dissemination, can limit women's access to ICT and other technologies, with resulting impacts on their empowerment and agricultural productivity (Arora-Jonsson et al. 2019). Masika and Bailur (2015) argue that ICT should be understood not as automatic sources of women's empowerment, but as a site of contestation where women carefully calibrate gender relations in complex ways.

Social infrastructure and support mechanisms

It is clear from a great deal of research, and especially from disaster studies, that infrastructural and technological support provided in the wake of climate disasters such as water, sanitation and health (WASH) programs, are wholly insufficient when they do not also pay attention to the need for supporting the social infrastructure and include the end users in the design and delivery of such systems (Geere and Hunter 2020; Collins et al. 2019). As explained in section 2 (p. 12), social infrastructure refers to the public, state-provided services and support/protection systems required to meet local needs and contribute towards a good quality of life for the population. It is a concept favored by feminist economists because it implies these care-related services are as foundational to the economy as bricks, mortar, and fiber-optic cables, thereby challenging the gendered "hard versus soft" binary that is commonly used in mainstream policy literatures (Elson 2016; de Henau and Himmelweit 2020).

The importance of social protection (SP) policies has been recognized by key agencies such as the World Bank, ILO, and UNICEF. Over the years, it has taken a central place in the development agenda (Razavi 2007). The links between SP, public services, and climate change are less recognized, but as we can see from emerging literature on climate adaptation and mitigation, they are central to the question of how care work and climate change are connected (Mugehera and Parkes 2020). Safeguarding gendered concerns and care work in climate programs as well as assuming automatic co-benefits from women's

inclusion in markets, advocated by some climate programs, have been considered inadequate in actually considering the work of care. Researchers have argued for the need for social policy that centers care as an essential complement to climate policies and programs (Westholm and Arora-Jonsson 2015).

Given the increasingly complex and interlinked array of risks that poor and vulnerable people face, Arnall et al. (2010) argue that SP, disaster risk reduction (DRR), and climate change adaptation (CCA) initiatives are unlikely to be sufficient if applied in isolation from each other. In recognition of this challenge, they develop the concept of Adaptive Social Protection (ASP) to refer to a series of measures that build resilience of the poorest and most vulnerable people into climate change responses by combining elements of SP, DRR, and CCA in programs and projects. A new initiative, the Sahel Adaptive Social Protection Program, represents such an integrated approach. Accompanying measures include health, education, nutrition, family planning, among others (WB 2019; Béné et al. 2018). The concept of SP has evolved from a relatively narrow focus on safety nets in the 1980s and 1990s to present-day definitions that include interventions to reduce the effect of climate shocks as well as considering longerterm mechanisms designed to combat chronic poverty. Arnall et al. (2010) cite the National Rural Employment Guarantee Schemes (NREGS) Program in India that guarantees employment for 100 days per rural household per year at a minimum agricultural wage as well as Practical Action projects in Bangladesh as important interventions that combine protection and promotion measures. Of these, the NREGS in India is further grounded in a rights-based approach, important for questions of care and informal labor. Relying on 124 agricultural programs implemented in five countries in Asia, Davies et al. (2013) state that full integration of SP, DRR, and CCA is still relatively limited but that, when it occurs, it helps to shift the time horizon beyond short-term interventions aimed at supporting peoples' coping strategies and/or objectives towards longer-term interventions that can help promote transformation towards climate and disasterresilient livelihood options.

Other core interventions have included cash and asset transfers as well as micro-insurance schemes. The explicit focus on asset protection and promotion have the potential to address gendered entitlements and capabilities, gendered norms and division of labor, and gendered perceptions of risk and climate change (Bee et al. 2013). At present, however, the trend is more towards market-based strategies and women's economic empowerment than lobbying for this kind of policy change. The LEG, for example, calls for "family friendly policies to increase the labor force participation of women" (2015, 15) rather than to reduce gendered divisions of care work within families.

State intervention in the form of safety nets (e.g., pensions in old age and grants for living with disabilities) and socialized care services that reduce the

individualization of care work should be factored into climate interventions if they are to be considered gender transformative (i.e., to succeed in addressing the 5Rs—reduction and redistribution specifically). This could include state-provided health services to alleviate the burdens placed on family caregivers, which are intensified by climate impacts. The IUCN calls for gender-responsive climate solutions that involve the health sector, such as developing climate and health early warning systems to prevent severe outbreaks and disease occurrence, ensuring equal access to coping and recovery resources, and enhancing education and employment in health care fields (Aguilar et. al 2015, 9). It would be fruitful to examine research on the ability of state provision of childcare and adult social care services to give carers more time for the income-generating, educational, and leisure activities for insights into how, if promoted in climate mitigation and adaptation strategies, socialized care services could contribute to gender-transformative change.

There has been very little debate on the need for care and gendered concerns in climate finance funds. One exception is the W+ standard conceived by WOCAN that has attempted to use climate finance to generate income for women but also to remunerate care work. The W+ Standard, a certification label, endorses climate projects that create increased social and economic benefits for women participating in economic development or environmental and climate projects. including those that provide renewable energy technologies, time and laborsaving devices, forest and agriculture activities, and employment opportunities.²⁹ The W+ is meant to complement the carbon certification schemes operationalized through carbon markets and be a certification that development projects could apply for. For example, four projects, located in Asia, have been certified according to the W+ Standard: one working with improved cookstoves (Cambodia), two biogas projects (Indonesia and Nepal), and one project on financial literacy (Vietnam). The W+ Standard allows projects to certify the cobenefits relating to gender, and to monetize them in the same way that the Climate, Community and Biodiversity Standards (CCB) Standards certify community and biodiversity co-benefits. No less than 20 percent of the price of a W+ unit has to be paid to the women beneficiaries or women's groups. Although these initiatives are seen as controversial by some for wanting to work within unequal markets, their attempts may also be seen as "rewarding" women for the care work they already do and redistributing the benefits from climate programs (Westholm and Arora-Jonsson 2018). In an activist-academic conversation on the W+, Arora-Jonsson and the founder of W+, Jeanette Gurung, write that while W+ Standard can be seen as engaging with a current unequal system, it is also a practical approach in a time when all kinds of efforts are needed for transformation. The W+ Standard seeks to ensure that gender and power are

²⁹ For information on the W+ Standard, see https://www.wocan.org/what-we-do/wstandarde.

part of the discourse within existing systems and can thereby open space for discussions of inequality, thus slowly transforming business as usual (Arora-Jonsson and Gurung, 2021). Rewarding the women for their care work through the W+ could potentially pave the way to transformation as advocated by the 5R framework. As pointed out by feminist economists, addressing the larger gendered constraints embedded in markets is essential to achieving this outcome.

Sharing and collectivizing care work in households and communities

Social support systems exist at multiple scales, and, in very low-income rural contexts, they more often function informally at household, kinship, and community levels than they are provided by the state. In their research on climate adaptation in India and African countries, for example, Rao et al. (2020, 9) found that "community-based support systems are crucial for survival, as public services are not easily available." They go on to point out that "when the state is dysfunctional or absent, men and women in the community have no choice but to support each other" (Rao et al. 2020, 11).

There is a small amount of evidence in the grey literature on gender-just climate solutions that it is possible for interventions to achieve collectivization and/or sharing of care work in the household at the same time as delivering on adaptation and/or mitigation goals. In the WGC award reports, there are a few examples of this integration of goals. Among the best examples is the FUNDAECO project in Guatemala that combines forest conservation with the establishment of community maternal and sexual health care services (serving 50,000 people) run by Indigenous midwives (WGC 2020). Others are more modest in that they provide childcare to enable women's participation, such as that mentioned in the SISAM solar irrigation project in West Africa (WGC 2018).

In addition to collectivizing care work at the community level, some researchers and organizations explicitly mention the importance of increasing "labor-burden sharing" between men and women (Deering 2019, 21). Some CSA projects aim to be gender transformative by "engaging men" to accept and support women's empowerment (FAO and CARE 2019). These do not go as far as projects that specifically work with men in ways that encourage them to reconsider gender norms and to take on a larger load of domestic work (i.e., to actually do the work because it is their responsibility). A key finding of Oxfam's WE-Care project is that when men participate in activities that promote the valuing and sharing of unpaid care work, they report taking more responsibility and spending more time doing it than they have in the past (León-Himmelstine and Salomon 2020). Deering (2019) discusses projects that establish that all household members should be involved in livelihood activities, including food, water, and fuel provisioning, which are part of projects to increase resilience to climate change. In some projects, greater sharing means that men take on an increased load of care work so that the women in the household have greater time to engage in

income-generating activities or even have more rest time. The Enda Graf Sahel project in Saloum Delta involves participatory processes to develop climate resilience that focus on gender divisions of labor that encourage men to share more of the load (WGC 2020). A project aiming to build capacity for more resilient agricultural practices in Kenya had the added impact of fostering more equitable sharing of income among household members (including young people), which is reported to have led to increased harmony (Deering 2019, 10). There are few mentions in the climate adaptation literature of redistributing care work from women to men and even less so from girls to boys, however; we note that there is room for more research on this aspect of gender transformation through challenging gender roles and divisions of care work within heterosexual couples and their families.

By placing a stronger focus on promising practices already shaping gender relations and care in specific places, change is possible (Njuki et al. 2016; León-Himmelstine and Salomon 2020). Development programs spearheaded by the CGIAR institutions have pioneered household approaches through which people can come together and challenge norms or cross boundaries of traditional gender roles or conduct. Such approaches often comprise a set of participatory methodologies for encouraging equitable intra-household relations and decisionmaking processes, encouraging all household members to realize that working together is a solution that benefits everyone (Njuki et al. 2016). The division of care work can be expected to be central to such discussions. For example, Evans (2014) documents that, in Zambia, women without exposure to men performing care work often expressed resentment and were more resigned to their fate than women who had grown up sharing care work with brothers and were more optimistic about social change. Hillenbrand et al. (2015) suggest that better monitoring and evaluation of gender-transformative programs and prioritizing policy action on context-specific gender issues are needed for successfully countering unequal distributions of care work. Support for women's groups and their rights, although these entail complex gendered negotiations, have also made it possible for women to challenge gendered inequalities in the home (Arora-Jonsson 2013).

5.4 REFLECTIONS ON TRADE-OFFS AND KNOWLEDGE GAPS

As explained in section 4 (p. 50), most climate interventions have not been devised with care work in mind, and nor do they succeed in reducing or redistributing the work of care that shapes the everyday lives of women, girls, boys, and men in diverse ways. There are many examples of climate interventions that claim to be gender responsive yet do not include specific measures to redress unfair, unhealthy, or unsustainable burdens of care work

that are shouldered primarily by women and girls in low-income rural contexts. When referring to mitigation programs such as REDD+, Westholm and Arora-Jonsson (2015) have argued for the need to go beyond the "safeguards" or "cobenefits" written into climate policies to consider the social policy-making that would specifically address the question of care in relation to climate concerns. They argue that there is a need for care work to be addressed as a question in its own right in the development climate projects. In other words, there is a case to be made for care-sensitive climate solutions.

As this section has shown, there are examples and experience accumulated from years of environmental and development research and practice to support the idea that pathways can be found for integrating climate interventions and strategies for transforming care work inequalities. Such "win-win" pathways, we conclude, will be paved by a more focused and gender-just approach that mobilizes insights from the 5R framework for transforming the relations and conditions that shape care work. They must also be developed and assessed with contextual factors in mind, as well as sensitivity to continuous processes of change, both in environmental resources and the societies and communities in which interventions are made. Recognizing interdependencies at the household and community level, and being aware of and responding to gendered impacts of climate interventions, are essential, not only to reduce the impact of climate change on care work, but also to ensure that interventions do not exacerbate gendered inequalities and produce new ones.

The availability of labor-saving infrastructure and technologies, social support mechanisms, and intra-household cooperation is indispensable for enabling people to withstand climate-related impacts (e.g., Haeffner et al. 2018), as well as having a direct bearing on the work of care in its many sites and types. While existing research highlights these intersections, future research will need to consider the trade-offs and tensions between climate mitigation/adaptation. transforming gender inequalities, and greater sensitivity to the place of care work in these fields of policy and practice. There might also be tensions between the Rs that require further investigation. Our review has highlighted considerable tension between increasing representation and participation of carers in climate interventions and the need to reduce the time women spend in unpaid caring for people and environments. Moreover, alongside the desire to be more sensitive to women's care burdens, especially to alleviate the drudgery exacerbated by climate impacts, there is a strange silence on the rewarding and positive aspects of care work, which should be preserved and enhanced by gender-just climate solutions. Although there is growing attention to the benefits of valuing ancestral and customary knowledge and skills gained from environmental care, it seems important to monitor the extent to which this results in transformations of gendercoded and labor-intensive work. And finally research that gains insights into the emotional and psychological aspects of the care-climate change nexus is needed to inform the identification of pathways for transformational change at the level of individuals and kin relationships.

6 CONCLUSIONS

Although it has received only minor attention in research and policy circles, climate change is having significant impacts on the amount, distribution, and conditions of care work that people perform every day in rural communities of the global South. As caregivers, heads of households, and community leaders, women in particular experience an increase in and intensification of unpaid and under-paid care work as a result of the impacts of climate change and their related livelihood stresses. In addition to increased time spent in care work, climate impacts can also cause increases in interpersonal conflict and violence, greater demands on emotional labor, and higher levels of mental ill health (Tovar-Restrepo 2017; Osei-Agyemang 2007). To address these intersections of care work and climate change, we argue for a gender-transformative approach that is care sensitive and alert to the intertwined types of care work (i.e., direct, indirect, and environmental) carried out primarily by women and girls in households and communities in contexts shaped by a range of factors (economic, social, cultural, political). This final section of the report summarizes the main findings of the literature review and suggests what, in light of these findings, we think may be promising pathways for mitigating the negative, and enhancing the potential for the positive, impacts of climate change interventions on care work.

6.1 CLIMATE CHANGE INTENSIFIES GENDER-UNJUST CARE WORK INEQUALITIES

The existing evidence found in the corpus of grey and academic literature that we reviewed supports the conclusion that the impacts of climate change make the existing burdens of care work more difficult for rural people living in low-income, less-industrialized countries. These burdens are felt acutely by women whose livelihoods depend on natural resources and who lack access to the other forms of resources, such as land, income, infrastructure, technologies, and support services that facilitate unpaid care work in families and communities. Gender and power imbalances shape how women and men, and girls and boys, respond to climate stresses as well as to the increased and intensified care work burdens that arise due to these threats and stresses.

While there is a high degree of difference between the various countries and communities that have been studied, the literature identifies common patterns that are discussed in most, if not all, the major evidence reviews of gender and climate change research (e.g., Goh 2012; Sellers 2016; Resurrección et al.

2019). These patterns have shaped assumptions in the gender and climate change field, and are important to consider when developing and evaluating climate interventions. Most of the literature that lists these patterns is either based in local/regional case studies (and even then the diversity and fluidity of experiences is usually recognized) or is a synthesis of existing evidence that may reflect a highly generalized picture and may contain "zombie facts." We have therefore suggested (in section 3.4 (p. 46) that generalizations about how climate change affects unpaid care work should be treated cautiously in order to avoid perpetuating problematic myths and stereotypes. Our survey of the literature suggests that, even though research on gender and climate change has exploded over the past decade, evidence of impacts on different groups, as well as of how the intersecting axes of social difference create vulnerabilities in specific parts of the world, remains "limited, patchy, varied and highly contextual" (Goh 2012; see also Carr and Thompson 2014; Jerneck 2018, 3). The same point should be made about the evidence presented to support claims about the impacts of climate change on care work. Our report offers an initial picture (by no means comprehensive) of the interactions of climate impacts and care work, which should inform future investigation.

6.2 THE IMPORTANCE OF CARE-SENSITIVE ANALYSIS

The literature we reviewed demonstrates that it is essential to understand how care forms the underlying basis for most other economic activities and that it is difficult to disentangle unpaid care work from other forms of work in rural contexts. As we discuss in section 2 (p. 12), a multi-dimensional and multi-level approach enables a comprehensive analysis of care work as part of a care economy involving individual carers, families and households, local communities, and environments (see Table 2.2). Development practice has often focused on the question of care as something that happens between individuals and within the household, and sometimes extended to the community. In response to the limitations of the literature, we have stressed the need for contextual and relational understandings of care and have suggested that the work of caring for the local environment be included in both analyses and interventions. A focus on the material conditions in which care work is performed is especially important in the context of climate change-induced impacts, which have a range of effects discussed in section 3 (p. 32).

Environmental care work has long been discussed separately as natural resource management by feminist environmental and development scholars who have tried to make space for the "ethic of care" in environmental governance (Arora-Jonsson 2013). In this report, we emphasize the opposite: the need to

make space for the "quiet politics of environmental care" (Arora-Jonsson et al. 2021) in discussions of care work within both climate and development policy. Climate change creates new challenges by intensifying the burden of care that stems from poverty and inequalities. It is important to understand how this changes the nature of the environmental care carried out by women and men as well as its effects on care at different levels—for individuals, the household, and communities. At present, there is a lack of attention to environmental work as care work in the literature; to the extent that it is included, it is often instrumentalized and feminized in problematic ways. However, as discussed in section 5 (p. 64), valuing this work as connected to local knowledge and expertise as well as part of global flows and interrelationships offers a potential strategy for more gender-transformative climate action.

A central take-away message from this report is that the care work-climate change nexus should be tackled as a standalone topic rather than as a subtheme of a gender (or women) and climate change discussion. Climate policies may have transitioned from being completely gender insensitive to more gender responsive, but there is still a long way to go to become gender transformative. largely because of the enduring assumption that care is a feature of gender relations rather than a collective necessity, as foundational to economies and human survival as agriculture (Mugehera and Parkes 2020). Gendertransformative policies are those that redress the underlying causes of gender inequality, one of which is the feminization and invisibilization of care work. Focusing only on women's economic empowerment or the consequences of gender inequality will not automatically lead to changes in these deeply rooted problems (Deering 2019). Recognizing care work and the care economy to be as central to livelihoods as agriculture or forestry means that it will be possible to include care workers of all genders in the analysis, thereby breaking the entrenched link between women and care. It may also be possible to acknowledge that not all women are involved in care work. Of course, in many societies, the coding of care work as feminine is "utterly resistant" to change (Jerneck 2018), so we think calling for its re-coding as a shared human activity requires patience and a commitment to feminism as a global social movement (Resurrección n.d.).

Important for this project of re-coding and rethinking care is to keep in mind the psychological and emotional dimensions of care and in particular of environmental care in the face of climate breakdown. Currently there is a disproportionate focus on the physical aspects of care work, and freeing people's time to do paid work, without considering how the environment is important for people's well-being or how its destruction can lead to mental ill health. A more care-sensitive approach would include an analysis of how people's worries, fears, and hopes in the face of environmental disaster, displacements, and other climate impacts affect their everyday lives.

We conclude that interventions should strive to be care sensitive and that an analysis of care is mainstreamed into the planning, implementation, and evaluation of programs and projects in order to not further disadvantage the givers and receivers of care. At the same time, efforts should be made to go beyond mainstreaming care into climate actions to developing both standalone social policies on care work and care infrastructures. Lessons from gender-responsive planning (as seen with REDD+, for example) suggest that unless there is sustained and targeted attention to redressing the negative impacts of climate stresses on care work, there is a risk of these concerns being subsumed into/eclipsed by dominant interests (e.g., the market).

6.3 GENDER-JUST AND CARE-SENSITIVE CLIMATE ACTION: POTENTIAL PATHWAYS

The availability of labor-saving infrastructure, technologies, and social protection services, encouraging greater household sharing, and the use of participatory methodologies can all play a role in reducing the unequal distribution of care work between men and women. These measures appear to be equally important for dealing with the impacts of climate change on care work and when designing climate interventions and strategies.

There are several implications for policy and research that flow from the literature we have reviewed. We have attempted to identify what may be the most promising pathways for mitigating the negative and accentuating the positive impacts of the interactions between climate change and care work inequalities. We relate our suggestions to the 5R framework for transforming care work inequalities (see Table 5.1). In particular, we consider how unpaid care work is recognized, how unpaid care work might be better reduced and redistributed, and how carers' voices might be heard and their needs represented in climate interventions. Table 6.1 presents a simplified version of the care-sensitive and gender-just climate solutions that we discussed in section 5 (p. 64) (see Table 5.1); these are our recommendations for bringing together the twin goals of gender justice and greater sensitivity to care work in climate change policy and action.

Table 6.1 Strategies for moving towards gender-just and care-sensitive climate action

5R framework	Gender-just AND care-sensitive climate action
Recognize care work	Recognize and value care work as foundational to a decarbonized, climate-just society. Recognize and value the role of carers and the work they do to enable households to cope in crisis/disaster situations and with everyday environmental stresses. Recognize and value the knowledge that comes from environmental care work to climate mitigation, adaptation, and resilience.
Reduce care work	Provide labor-saving domestic and agricultural technologies that simultaneously mitigate/adapt to climate change and reduce the time and effort required to carry out daily care work tasks. Increase access to climate information services that make it easier for carers to anticipate and plan for climate events in order to minimize negative effects on households.
Redistribute care work	Embed state-provided care services (e.g., childcare, elder care) in national and international climate policies. Promote and facilitate equal responsibility for and hands-on delivery of care work among men/boys and women/girls.
Represent carers	Include carers in debates and decision-making processes regarding climate action (e.g., through voluntary organizations and unions). Ensure that the participation of carers in debates and decisions about climate action is not restricted by their caring responsibilities (e.g., provide childcare services).
Reward carers	Include funding for training and job creation in formal care sectors in climate finance programs. Include a care income and living wages for care workers in comprehensive packages for a just transition (e.g., Green New Deal).

While not included in Table 6.1, we have suggested two additional Rs by calling for more research on care-climate intersections in addition to taking a more relational approach to care work as always embedded in relationships with others (Esquivel 2014), whether immediate and extended family members, people in a community, or with other living non-human beings, such as animals and plants. Our relational approach takes care work inequalities to be shaped by gender as a product of intersecting axes of difference and a social relation, which means we resist the tendency in much of the literature to approach women and men's roles in a binary or asymmetrical manner.

Policy-related arguments and recommendations

Our suggestions for influencing policy and conducting future research are as follows:

- At a very basic level, the argument should be made that climate interventions will not be socially just unless the value of care work and the needs, experiences, and knowledge of carers are included at all stages and unless they are developed with both the 5Rs and an intersectional-relational understanding of gender in mind. These points are compatible with existing strategies that connect the need to transform the unfair gendered division of care work with women's human rights and the SDGs that have emerged from Oxfam's WE-Care initiative (Fooks 2018; Oxfam 2020; León-Himmelstine and Salomon 2020).
- Policies should avoid a simplistic women-men binary, heteronormative
 assumptions, and stereotypes about vulnerable women, and instead
 recognize a diversity of household arrangements and changing gender
 relations, thereby making space for more sensitive, intersectional analyses of
 gender relations within interventions aiming to be win-win solutions. In that
 respect, care-sensitive strategies could avoid some of the pitfalls of genderresponsive approaches that treat gender in problematic ways, even when
 trying to be intersectional.
- Social policies that deliver care as a collective social good are needed that
 make it possible to reduce the care burden shouldered by individuals. Climate
 interventions (both adaptation and mitigation strategies) have in some cases
 increased the care burden by being gender neutral and by ignoring the
 gendered practices and norms involved in their implementation on the
 ground. Critical attention to how gender shapes the politics of technologies
 and infrastructure, and in whose interests and by whom they are designed
 and distributed, is essential.
- The most gender-transformative way to redistribute care work is through provision of care-supporting social services. It is clear in the literature that simply providing physical infrastructure and technologies is not enough: there needs to be increased state investment in social policies and public services that collectivize the work of social reproduction. This should include increasing childcare, adult social care, and health care services, while also taking an holistic and intersectional approach to the provision of social, care-related infrastructure. Long-term transformation of care inequalities will not be achieved unless the cost and the responsibility for care work are redistributed between women and men in heterosexual couple households as well as between households and the state and employers. We have acknowledged that more research is needed into how social protection policies can contribute to more care-sensitive climate interventions.
- Having said that, we have also found that physical infrastructure and laborsaving technologies that are co-designed with, and compatible with the needs and practices of, their users and that facilitate daily care work—such as

solutions for water access, low-impact cookstoves, and mobile/radio climate information services—can make a positive difference and are essential for meeting the challenges presented by climate change impacts when they succeed at reducing the time demands and drudgery of care work.

- The representation/participation of carers in climate interventions is likely to work best when the larger community as well as other household members are also engaged. Attention to relationships and contextual factors is imperative and requires wider collaboration on the part of development agencies with each other and with government authorities.
- Coordination and integration of interventions has been an acknowledged need in the field of development for many years. The urgent need for integrating communities of practice around disaster risk reduction, social protection, and climate adaptation, which has been called for by many, has so far not been very successful. Integration of interventions has the potential to reduce the care work required by women and men in coordination with different actors in their everyday lives as well as helping to redistribute it.
- It is important to understand that reality is messy and complex: a contextual and collaborative approach to analyzing care work can enable unexpected insights and tensions to be revealed, such as carers' mixed emotions or enjoyment of some aspects of care work in spite of the drudgery. Easy binaries of men and women also need to be challenged or at least approached with caution in participatory interventions. In such cases, starting from a care-sensitive analysis rather than a gender-sensitive analysis might be useful. By this we mean addressing people as carers first, and women or men second. Moreover, a relational approach to care work, which avoids an over-emphasis on individuals and enables more collaborative and dynamic methodologies and interventions (e.g., household methodologies) is essential.

Research gaps to be filled

Our review has identified a number of research gaps that will need to be filled if the intersections of care work inequalities and climate change impacts are to be addressed effectively in the future. They include:

• Funding and capacity building are needed for carrying out research that gathers contextualized and gender-disaggregated evidence of the impacts of climate change on the amount, conditions, and distribution of care work in low-income rural settings in the global South. Support for this claim can be enhanced by making the argument that gender-sensitive research does not necessarily lead (and has not thus far led) to adequate knowledge of the specificities of the care-climate nexus. That researching women or gender is not the same as researching care is a key message we wish to convey in this report.

- The 4 or 5R framework is about transforming gendered care work inequalities, but it demonstrates little concern for the implications of the Rs—the synergies as well as tensions and trade-offs between them—for sustainable development or for tackling the climate emergency. This report has identified and reflected on some potential "win-win" pathways, where climate solutions can simultaneously contribute to gender-transformative change. While ecofeminist scholars have been theorizing about these intersections for decades, more research is needed to develop interdisciplinary, evidence-based, and contextual analyses of these potential pathways.
- Research in this field should continue to use innovative participatory, household, and community-based methods that can: amplify the voices of carers—especially those of women and girls who are marginalized due to intersecting axes of inequality and oppression; capture evidence of the valuable knowledge and expertise they hold for developing climate solutions; and involve men and boys as equal partners in care work as well as in achieving gender-just climate solutions that allow all people to live well in a changing climate.
- There are gaps in the existing literature on care work resulting from a tendency to focus on women and/or heterosexual couple households whenever care work inequalities are studied. We recommend more research on the role and practices of men and boys in care work. In addition, as in the field of development studies and policy more generally, gender-based analyses of the care-climate nexus should challenge cis-gender and heteronormative biases by researching how sexual orientation, gender identity/expression, and structural discrimination and violence against LGBT+ people affect the experience of caring in a changing climate.

REFERENCES

Acosta, M., S. van Bommel, M. van Wessel, E. L. Ampaire, L. Jassogne, and P. H. Feindt. 2019. Discursive translations of gender mainstreaming norms: The case of agricultural and climate change policies in Uganda. *Women's Studies International Forum* 74:9–19.

Adatti, L., U. Cattaneo, V. Esquivel, and I. Valarino. 2018. Care work and care jobs for the future of decent work. International Labour Organization (ILO), Geneva. http://www.ilo.org/global/publications/books/WCMS_633135/lang-en/index.htm.

Agarwal, B. 1986. Cold hearths and barren slopes: The woodfuel crisis in the third world. Riverdale, MD: The Riverdale Co., Inc.

Agarwal, B. 1992. The gender and environment debate: Lessons from India. *Feminist Studies* 18 (1): 119–158.

Aguilar, L., M. Granat, and C. Owren. 2015. Roots for the future: The landscape and way forward on gender and climate change. International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) and Global Gender and Climate Alliance (GGCA), Washington, DC.

Aguilar, L., G. Mata, and A. Quesada-Aguilar. 2008. Gender and biodiversity. IUCN. https://www.cbd.int/gender/doc/fs_uicn_biodiversity.pdf.

Alston, M., and K. Whittenbury, eds. 2013. *Research, action and policy: Addressing the gendered impacts of climate change.* Dordrecht: Springer.

Andrea, P. 2018. Potentials of system of rice intensification (SRI) in climate change adaptation and mitigation. *International Journal of Agricultural Policy and Research* 6 (9): 160–168.

Aranas, M., S. Hall, and A. Parkes. 2020. Making care count: An overview of the women's economic empowerment and care initiative. Annual report. Oxfam.

Arnall, A., K. Oswald, M. Davies, T. Mitchell, and C. Coirolo. 2010. Adaptive social protection: Mapping the evidence and policy context in the agriculture sector in South Asia. Institute of Development Studies (IDS) Working Papers 01–92.

Arora-Jonsson, S. 2011. Virtue and vulnerability: Discourses on women, gender and climate change. *Global Environmental Change* 21:744–751.

Arora-Jonsson, S. 2013. *Gender, development and environmental governance: Theorizing connections.* London/New York, NY: Routledge.

Arora-Jonsson, S. 2014. Forty years of gender research and environmental policy: Where do we stand? *Women's Studies International Forum* 47, Part B (November–December): 295–308.

Arora-Jonsson S. 2020. A study in solar housing technology: The impact of trombe walls in Ladakh. Skolan för industriell teknik och management, Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm.

Arora-Jonsson, S., and J. Gurung. 2021. Making space for gender justice in voluntary carbon markets: The W+ Standard. Unpublished manuscript.

Arora-Jonsson, S., C. J. P. Colfer, and M. González-Hidalgo. 2021. Seeing the quiet politics in unquiet woods: A different vantage point for a future forest agenda. *Human Ecology* 49:297–308.

Arora-Jonsson, S., L. Westholm, B. John Temu, and A. Petitt. 2016. Carbon and cash in climate assemblages: The making of a new global citizenship. *Antipode* 48 (1): 74–96.

Arora-Jonsson, S., S. Agarwal, C. J. P. Colfer, S. Keene, P. Kurian, and A. Larson. 2019. SDG 5: Gender equality – a precondition for sustainable forestry. In Sustainable Development Goals: Their impacts on forests and people, eds. P. Katila, C. Pierce Colfer, W. De Jong, G. Galloway, P. Pacheco, and G. Winkel, 146–177. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Arza, C. 2017. Non-contributory benefits, pension re-reforms and the social protection of older women in Latin America. Social Policy and Society 16 (3): 361–375.

Asfaw, S. 2016. "From protection to production": Do social cash transfer programmes promote agricultural activities and livelihoods? *Global Social Policy* 16 (2): 205–208.

Babugura, A. 2010. Gender and climate change: South Africa case study. Heinrich-Böll-Stiftung.

https://www.boell.de/sites/default/files/assets/boell.de/images/download_de/ecology/south_africa.pdf.

Babugura, A. 2017. Gender equality, sustainable agricultural development and food security. In *The Routledge handbook of gender and environment*, ed. S. MacGregor, 357–371. London: Routledge.

Babugura, A. 2019. Gender equality in combating climate change: The African context. South African Institute of International Affairs. https://media.africaportal.org/documents/Babugura__Gender_equality_in_combatting_climate_change.pdf. Bakker, I. 2007. Social reproduction and the constitution of a gendered political economy. *New Political Economy* 12 (4): 541–556.

Barca, S. 2020. Forces of reproduction: Notes for a counter-hegemonic anthropocene. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Bastia, T., and N. Piper. 2019. Women migrants in the global economy: A global overview (and regional perspectives). *Gender & Development* 27 (1): 15–30.

Bauhardt, C. 2014. Solutions to the crisis? The Green New Deal, degrowth, and the solidarity economy: Alternatives to the capitalist growth economy from an ecofeminist economics perspective. *Ecological Economics* 102:60–68.

Bee, B. A. 2013. Who reaps what is sown? A feminist inquiry into climate change adaptation in two Mexican ejidos. *ACME* 12 (1).

Bee, B. A., and B. Sijapati Bassnett. 2017. Engendering social and environmental safeguards in REDD+: Lessons from feminist and development research. *Third World Quarterly* 38 (4): 787–804.

Bee, B. A., M. Bierman, and P. Tschakert. 2013. Gender, development, and rights-based approaches: Lessons for climate change adaptation and adaptive social protection. In *Research, action and policy: Addressing the gendered impacts of climate change*, eds. M. Alston and K. Whittenbury. Dordrecht: Springer.

Béné, C., A. Cornelius, and F. Howland. 2018. Bridging humanitarian responses and long-term development through transformative changes—some initial reflections from the World Bank's Adaptive Social Protection Program in the Sahel. *Sustainability* 10:1697.

Beneria, L. 1992. Accounting for women's work: The progress of two decades. *World Development* 20 (11): 1547–1560.

Beuchelt, T. D., and L. Badstue. 2013. Gender, nutrition- and climate-smart food production: Opportunities and trade-offs. *Food Security* 5: 709–721. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-013-0290-8

Bhattacharya, T. 2017. Social reproduction theory: Remapping class, recentering oppression. Pluto Press.

Bishop-Sambrook, C. 2014. The time poverty trap: Rural women's poverty of time is one of the biggest challenges facing smallholder development in sub-Saharan Africa. International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD). https://ifad-un.blogspot.com/2014/10/the-time-poverty-trap-rural-womens.html.

Bittman, M., J. M. Rice, and J. Wajcman. 2004. Appliances and their impact: The ownership of domestic technology and time spent on household work. *British Journal of Sociology* 55 (3): 401–423.

Bradshaw, S. 2010. Women, poverty and disasters: Exploring the links through Hurricane Mitch in Nicaragua. In *International handbook of gender and poverty*, ed. S. Chant. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

Bryan, E., Q. Bernier, M. Espinal, and C. Ringler. 2018. Making climate change adaptation programmes in Sub-Saharan Africa more gender responsive: Insights from implementing organizations on the barriers and opportunities. *Climate and Development* 10:417–431.

Bryant, L. 2020. Farming, gender and mental health. In *The Routledge handbook of gender and agriculture*, eds. C. Sachs, L. Jensen, P. Castellanos, and K. Sexsmith, 421–434. New York, NY: Routledge.

Buckingham, S., and V. Le Masson. 2017. Introduction. In *Understanding climate change through gender relations*, ed. S. Buckingham and V. Le Masson. London: Routledge.

Budlender, D. 2008. The statistical evidence on care and non-care work across six countries. Research Institute for Social Development (UNRISD). https://unrisd.org/unrisd/website/document.nsf/462fc27bd1fce00880256b4a0060d2af/f9fec4ea774573e7c1257560003a96b2/\$FILE/BudlenderREV.pdf.

Butler, C. 2017. A fruitless endeavour: Confronting the heteronormativity of environmentalism. In *The Routledge handbook of gender and environment*, ed. S. MacGregor. London: Routledge.

Butt, M. N., S. K. Shah, and F. A. Yahya. 2020. Caregivers at the frontline of addressing the climate crisis. *Gender and Development* 28 (3): 479–98.

CARE. 2010. Adaptation, gender, and women's empowerment. CARE International Climate Change Brief.

Carr, E. R., and M-C. Thompson. 2014. Gender and climate change adaptation in agrarian settings: Current thinking, new directions, and research frontiers. *Geography Compass* 8:182–197.

Carr, E. R., G. Fleming, and T. Kalala. 2016. Understanding women's needs for weather and climate information in agrarian settings: The case of Ngetou Maleck, Senegal. *Weather, Climate, and Society* 8:247–264.

Carr, M., and M. Hartl. 2008. Gender and non-timber forest products - promoting food security and economic empowerment. IFAD.

https://dlc.dlib.indiana.edu/dlc/bitstream/handle/10535/5374/08 IFAD Women forest_products.pdf?sequence=1.

Castañeda Camey, I., L. Sabater, C. Owren, and A. E. Boyer. 2020. Gender-based violence and environment linkages: The violence of inequality, ed. J. Wen. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland.

Chanana, N., A. Khatri-Chhetri, K. Pande, and R. Joshi. 2018. Integrating gender into the climate-smart village approach of scaling out adaptation options in agriculture. CCAFS Info Note. CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS). Copenhagen. www.ccafs.cgiar.org.

Chant, S. 2008. The "feminisation of poverty" and the "feminization" of anti-poverty programmes: Room for revision? *The Journal of Development Studies* 44 (2): 165–197.

Chant, S. 2016. Women, girls and world poverty: Empowerment, equality or essentialism? *International Development Planning Review* 38 (1): 1–24. doi:10.3828/idpr.2016.1.

Charmes, J. 2015. Time use across the world: Findings of a world compilation of time use surveys. United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/charmes_hdr_2015_final.pdf.

Chopra, D., and E. Zambelli. 2017. No time to rest: Women's lived experiences of balancing paid work and unpaid care work. IDS. https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/handle/20.500.12413/13574.

Christiano, T. 2014. Introduction to symposium on climate change. *Politics, Philosophy & Economics* 13 (4): 317e–319.

Chung, Y. B., S. L. Young, and R. B. Kerr. 2019. Rethinking the value of unpaid care work: Lessons from participatory visual research in central Tanzania. *Gender, Place & Culture* 26 (11): 1544–1569.

Ciaconi, P., S. Betrò, and L. Janiri. 2020. Impact of climate change on mental health: A systematic descriptive review. *Frontiers in Psychiatry* 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00074.

Clancy, J., and S. Dutta. 2005. Women and productive uses of energy: Some light on a shadowy area. Paper presented at the UNDP meeting on productive uses of renewable energy, Bangkok, Thailand, May 9–11, 2005. https://ris.utwente.nl/ws/portalfiles/portal/160145880/43_Women_and_productive_use_of_energy_1_.pdf.

Clancy, J., T. Winther, M. Matinga, and S. Oparaocha. 2012. Gender equity in access to and benefits from modern energy and improved energy technologies: World Development Report (WDR) Background Paper. Gender and Energy WDR Background Paper.

Clement, F., M-C. Buisson, S. Leder, S. Balasubramanya, P. Saikia, R. Bastakoti, E. Karki, and B. van Koppen. 2019. From women's empowerment to food security: Revisiting global discourses through a cross-country analysis. *Global Food Security* 23:160–172.

Coffey, C., P. Espinoza Revollo, R. Harvey, M. Lawson, A. Parvez Butt, K. Piaget, D. Sarosi, and J. Thekkudan. 2020. Time to care. Oxfam International. https://www.oxfam.org/en/research/time-care.

Cohen, M., and S. MacGregor. 2020. Towards a feminist Green New Deal for the UK. Policy paper for the Commission on a Gender Equal Economy. Women's Budget Group, UK. https://wbg.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/Feminist-Green-New-Deal.pdf.

Cohen, M., and S. MacGregor. 2021. Draft roadmap for a feminist Green New Deal. Women's Budget Group and Women's Environmental Network, UK. https://wbg.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/FINAL-Roadmap-Feminist-Green-New-Deal.pdf.

Collins, S. M., P. M. Owuor, J. D. Miller, G. O. Boateng, P. Wekesa, M. Onono, and S. L. Young. 2019. "I know how stressful it is to lack water!" Exploring the lived experiences of household water insecurity among pregnant and postpartum women in western Kenya. *Global Public Health* 14 (5): 649–662.

Cook, N. J., T. Grillos, and K. P. Andersson. 2019. Gender quotas increase the equality and effectiveness of climate policy interventions. *Nature Climate Change* 9:330–334.

Cornwall, A., E. Harrison, and A. Whitehead. 2007. Gender myths and feminist fables: The struggle for interpretive power in gender and development. *World Development* 38 (1): 1–20.

Costello A., M. Abbas, A. Allen, S. Ball, S. Bell, R. Bellamy, S. Friel, N. Groce, A. Johnson, M. Kett et al. 2009. Managing the health effects of climate change: Lancet and University College London Institute for Global Health Commission. *Lancet* 373 (9676): 1693–1733.

Dados, N., and R. Connell. 2012. The global south. Contexts 11 (1): 12–13.

Dah-gbeto, A. P., and G. B. Villemore. 2016. Gender-specific responses to climate variability in a semi-arid ecosystem in northern Benin. *Ambio* 45:297–308.

Daniel, T., and M. Dolan. 2020. Intersectionality and collective action: Visioning a feminist Green New Deal in the US. *Gender & Development* 28 (3): 515–533.

Danish Refugee Council (DRC). 2012. A sexual and gender-based violence rapid assessment: Doro Refugee Camp, Upper Nile State, South Sudan. DRC, Copenhagen.

Davies, M., C. Béné, A. Arnall, T. Tanner, A. Newsham, and C. Coirolo. 2013. Promoting resilient livelihoods through adaptive social protection: Lessons from 124 programmes in South Asia. *Development Policy Review* 31:27–58.

de Henau, J., and S. Himmelweit. 2020. The gendered employment gains of investing in social vs. physical infrastructure: Evidence from simulations across seven OECD countries. Innovation, Knowledge and Development Research Centre (IKD) Working Paper No. 84. The Open University.

Deering, K. 2019. Gender transformative adaptation: From good practice to better policy. CARE. www.care.org.

Development Alternatives with Women for a New Era (DAWN). 1995. Rethinking social development: DAWN's vision. *World Development* 23 (11): 2001–2004.

Dico-Young, T., A. Petros, and B. Terefe. 2017. Gender analysis for drought response in Ethiopia – Somali Region. Oxfam. https://policy-practice.oxfam.org/resources/sima-the-great-equalizer-pushes-everyone-to-destitution-gender-analysis-for-dro-620394/.

Dolbin-MacNab, M. L., and L. A. Yancura. 2018. International perspectives on contextual considerations for advancing global discourse. *International Journal of Aging and Human Development* 86 (1): 3–33.

Doss, C. 2001. Designing agricultural technology for African women farmers: Lessons from 25 years of experience. *World Development* 29 (12): 2075–2092.

Doss, C., R. Meinzen-Dick, A. Quisumbing, and S. Theis. 2018. Women in agriculture: Four myths. *Global Food Security* 16:69–74.

Dowling, E. 2021. *The care crisis: What caused it and how can we end it?* London: Verso.

Doyle, T., D. McEachern, and S. MacGregor. 2015. *Environment and politics*. 4th edition. London: Routledge.

Eastin, J. 2018. Climate change and gender equality in developing states. *World Development* 107:289–305.

Elias, M., and S. Arora-Jonsson. 2017. Negotiating across difference: Gendered exclusions and cooperation in the shea value chain. *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space* 35 (1): 107–125.

Elias, M., and M. Saussey. 2013. "The gift that keeps on giving": Unveiling the paradoxes of fair trade shea butter. *Sociologia Ruralis* 53:158–179.

Elsner, J., J. Kossin, and T. Jagger. 2008. The increasing intensity of the strongest tropical cyclones. *Nature* 455:92–95.

Elson, D. 1991. Male bias in macroeconomics: The case of structural adjustment. In *Male bias in the development process*, ed. D. Elson. Manchester: Manchester University Press.

Elson, D. 2009. The three R's of unpaid work: Recognition, reduction and redistribution. Presented at the Expert Group Meeting on Unpaid Work, Economic Development and Human Well-Being. UNDP, New York.

Elson, D. 2015. Women's empowerment and environmental sustainability in the context of international UN agreements. In *Why women will save the planet*, ed. J. Hawley, 11–20. London: Zed Books.

Elson, D. 2016. Plan F: Feminist plan for a caring and sustainable economy. *Globalizations* 13 (6): 919–921.

Elson, D. 2017. Recognize, reduce, and redistribute unpaid care work: How to close the gender gap. *New Labor Forum* 26 (2): 52–61.

ENERGIA. 2019. Gender in the transition to energy for all: From evidence to inclusive policies. ENERGIA, the International Network on Gender and Sustainable Energy. https://www.energia.org/assets/2019/04/Gender-in-the-transition-to-sustainable-energy-for-all_-From-evidence-to-inclusive-policies_FINAL.pdf.

Esquivel, V. 2013. Care in households and communities: Background paper on conceptual issues. Oxfam Research Reports, October. Oxfam, Oxford.

Esquivel, V. 2014. What is a transformative approach to care and why do we need it? *Gender and Development* 22 (3): 423–439.

Evans, A. 2014. "Women can do what men can do": The causes and consequences of growing flexibility in gender divisions of labour in Kitwe, Zambia. *Journal of Southern African Studies* 40 (5): 981–998.

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). 2011. Women in agriculture: Closing the gap for development. The state of food and agriculture. FAO, Rome.

FAO. 2012. Smallholders and family farmers. Sustainability Pathways, FAO, Rome.

FAO 2016. The state of food and agriculture: Climate change, agriculture and food security. FAO, Rome.

FAO and CARE. 2019. Good practices for integrating gender equality and women's empowerment in climate-smart agriculture projects. FAO and CARE, Atlanta.

FAO, IFAD, UNICEF, World Food Programme (WFP), and World Health Organization (WHO). 2017. The state of food security and nutrition in the world 2017. Building resilience for peace and food security. FAO, Rome.

Ferrant, G., and A. Thim. 2019. Measuring women's economic empowerment: Time use data and gender equality. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Policy Paper no. 16. March.

Folbre, N. 2006. Measuring care: Gender, empowerment, and the care economy. *Journal of Human Development* 7 (2): 183–199.

Folbre, N. 2014. The care economy in Africa: Subsistence production and unpaid care. *Journal of African Economies* 23 (1): i128–i156.

Folbre, N. 2018. Developing care: Recent research on the care economy and economic development. International Development Research Centre (IDRC). https://idl-bnc-idrc.dspacedirect.org/bitstream/handle/10625/57142/IDL-57142.pdf.

Fooks, L. 2018. Making policy care: A guide to influencing on unpaid care. Oxfam GB for Oxfam International.

Fortmann, L., and J. W. Bruce. 1988. Whose trees? Proprietary dimensions of forestry. Rural Studies Series. Boulder: Westview Press.

Fortmann, L., and D. Rocheleau. 1985. Women and agroforestry: Four myths and three case studies. *Agroforestry Systems* 2 (4): 253–272.

Fraser, N. 1997. Justus interruptus. New York, NY: Routledge.

Fraser, N. 2013. Fortunes of feminism: From state-managed capitalism to neoliberal crisis. London: Verso.

Fraser, N. 2021. Climates of capital. New Left Review 127 (Jan.-Feb.).

Gaard, G. 2019. Out of the closet and into the climate! Queer feminist climate justice. In *Climate futures: Reimagining global climate justice*, eds. K. Bhavanani, J. Foran, P. Kurian, and D. Munshi, 92–104. London: Zed Books.

Gabrielson, S., and V. Ramasar. 2013. Widows: Agents of change in a climate of water uncertainty. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 60:34–42.

Gay-Antaki, M. 2016. "Now we have equality": A feminist political ecology analysis of carbon markets in Oaxaca, Mexico. *Journal of Latin American Geography* 15 (3): 49–66.

Gay-Antaki, M. 2020. Grounding climate governance through women's stories in Oaxaca, Mexico. *Gender, Place & Culture*. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/0966369X.2020.1789563.

Geere, J., and P. Hunter. 2020. The association of water carriage, water supply and sanitation usage with maternal and child health. A combined analysis of 49 Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys from 41 countries. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health* 223 (1): 238–247.

Gentle, P., R. Thwaites, D. Race, and K. Alexander. 2014. Differential impacts of climate change on communities in the middle hills region of Nepal. *Natural Hazards* 74 (2): 815e836.

Gnade, H., P. F. Blaauw, and T. Greyling. 2017. The impact of basic and social infrastructure investment on South African economic growth and development. *Development Southern Africa* 34 (3): 347–364.

Goh, A. H. X. 2012. A literature review of the gender-differentiated impacts of climate change on women's and men's assets and well-being in developing countries. CAPRi Working Paper No. 106. International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI). Washington, DC.

Gonda, N. 2017. Revealing the patriarchal sides of climate change adaptation through intersectionality: A case study from Nicaragua. In *Understanding climate change through gender relations*, eds. S. Buckingham and V. Le Masson, 173–189. London: Routledge.

Government of Malawi. 2015. Malawi 2015 floods post disaster needs assessment report. https://www.gfdrr.org/sites/default/files/publication/pda-2015-malawi.pdf.

Graddy-Lovelace, G. 2018. Plants: Crop diversity pre-breeding technologies as agrarian care co-opted? *Area* 52 (2): 235-243.

Grassi, F., Landberg, J. and Huyer, S. 2015. Running out of time: The reduction of women's work burden in agriculture. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.

Gumucio, T., J. Hansen, S. Huyer, and T. van Huysen. 2020. Gender responsive rural climate services: A review of the literature. *Climate and Development* 12 (3): 241–254.

Gururani, S. 2002. Forests of pleasure and pain: Gendered practices of labor and livelihoods in the forests of the Kumaon Himalayas, India. *Gender, Place & Culture: A Journal of Feminist Geography* 9 (3): 229–243.

Haddaway, N. R., J. McConville, and M. Piniewski. 2018. How is the term "ecotechnology" used in the research literature? A systematic review with thematic synthesis. *Ecohydrology & Hydrobiology*. 10.1016/j.ecohyd.2018.06.008.

Haeffner, M., J. A. Baggio, and K. Galvin. 2018. Investigating environmental migration and other rural drought adaptation strategies in Baja California Sur, Mexico. *Regional Environmental Change* 18:1495–1507.

Hallegatte, S., M. Bangalore, M. Fay, T. Kane, and L. Bonzanigo. 2015. Shockwaves: Managing the impacts of climate change on poverty. World Bank Publications.

Harriss-White, B. 1998. Female and male grain marketing systems: Analytical and policy issues for West Africa and India. In *Feminist visions of development: Gender analysis and policy,* eds. C. Jackson and R. Pearson, 189–213. London/New York: Routledge.

Hennebry, J., K. C. Hari, and N. Nicola Piper. 2019. Not without them: Realising the sustainable development goals for women migrant workers. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 45 (14): 2621–2637.

High-level Political Forum on Sustainable Development. 2017. 2017 HLPF thematic review of SDG 5: Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/hlpf.

Hillenbrand, E., and M. Miruka. 2019. Gender and social norms in agriculture: A review. In 2019 annual trends and outlook report: Gender equality in rural Africa: From commitments to outcomes, eds. A. Quisumbing, R. Meinzen-Dick, and J. Njuki, Chapter 2, 11–31. IFPRI, Washington, DC. https://doi.org/10.2499/9780896293649 02.

Hillenbrand, E., N. Karim, P. Mohanraj et al. 2015. Measuring gender-transformative change: A review of literature and promising practices. Working paper number 40647, The WorldFish Center, April.

Himmelweit, S. 1995. The discovery of "unpaid work." *Feminist Economics* 1 (2): 1–20.

Human Rights Watch (HRW). 2015. Marry before your house is swept away. Child marriage in Bangladesh.

https://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/report_pdf/bangladesh0615_web.pdf.

Huyer, S., and T. Gumucio. 2020. Going back to the well: Women, agency, and climate adaptation. *World Journal of Agriculture and Soil Science* (online). https://www.wocan.org/sites/default/files/WJASS.MS_.ID_.000611.pdf.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). 2014. Climate change 2014: Synthesis report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Core writing team, eds. R. K. Pachauri and L. A. Meyer. IPCC, Geneva.

Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES). 2018. Summary for policymakers of the assessment report on land degradation and restoration of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services, eds. R. Scholes, L. Montanarella, A. Brainich, N. Barger, B. ten Brink, M. Cantele, B. Erasmus, J. Fisher, T. Gardner, T. G. Holland et al. IPBES secretariat, Bonn.

Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre (IDMC). 2011. Displacement due to natural hazard-induced disaster: Global estimates for 2009 and 2010. IDMC, Geneva.

International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD). 2016. Reducing rural women's domestic workload through labour-saving technologies and practices. IFAD Policy and Technical Advisory Division, Rome.

https://www.ifad.org/documents/38714170/40196082/Reducing+rural+women%E 2%80%99s+domestic+workload+through+labour-

saving+technologies+and+practices/db859c93-9066-411a-ad40-a0204c98351c.

Irani, L., and V. Vemireddy. 2021. Getting the measurement right! Quantifying time poverty and multitasking from childcare among mothers with children across different age groups in rural north India. *Asian Population Studies* 17 (1): 94–116.

Jackson, C. 1996. Rescuing gender from the poverty trap. *World Development* 24 (3): 489–504.

James, S. 2021. Our time is now: Sex, race, class and caring for people and planet. Oakland, CA: PM Press.

Jerneck, A. 2018. What about gender in climate change? Twelve feminist lessons from development. *Sustainability* 10:627–647.

Jinnah, S. 2011. Climate change bandwagoning: The impacts of strategic linkages on regime design, maintenance, and death. *Global Environmental Politics* 11 (3): 1–9.

Jones, K. 2020. Zero hunger, zero emissions: Land-based climate change mitigation, food security, and equity. Oxfam Research Backgrounder series.

https://www.oxfamamerica.org/explore/research-publications/zerohunger-zero-emissions.

Jost, C., F. Kyazze, J. Naab, S. Neelormi, J. Kinyangi, R. Zougmore, P. Aggarwal, G. Bhatta, M. Chaudhury, M. L. Tapio-Bistrom, and S. Nelson. 2016. Understanding gender dimensions of agriculture and climate change. *Climate and Development* 8 (2). https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2015.1050978.

Kakota, T., D. Nyariki, D. Mkwambisi, and W. Kogi-Makau. 2011. Gender vulnerability to climate variability and household food insecurity. *Climate and Development* 3 (4): 298–309.

Karimli, L., E. Samman, L. Rost, and T. Kidder. 2016. Factors and norms influencing unpaid care work. Household survey evidence from five rural communities in Colombia, Ethiopia, the Philippines, Uganda and Zimbabwe. Oxfam (WE-Care report).

Kato-Wallace, J., N. van der Gaag, G. Barker, S. Santos, K. Doyle, V. Vetterfalk, W. van den Berg, M. Pisklakova-Parker, J. van de Sand, and L. Belbase. 2019. Men, masculinities & climate change: A discussion paper. MenEngage Alliance. http://menengage.org/men-masculinities-and-climate-change-a-discussion-paper/ (accessed August 7, 2021).

Kawarazuka, N., T. M. Duong, and E. Simelton. 2020. Gender, labor migration and changes in small-scale farming on Vietnam's north-central coast. *Critical Asian Studies* 52 (4): 550–64.

Kennedy, J., and L. King. 2014. The political economy of farmers' suicides in India: Indebted cash-crop farmers with marginal landholdings explain state-level variation in suicide rates. *Global Health* 10 (1): 1–9.

Khandelwal, M., M. E. Hill, P. Greenough, J. Anthony, M. Quill, M. Linderman, and H. S. Udaykumar. 2017. Why have improved cook-stove initiatives in India failed? *World Development* 92:13–27.

Khatri-Chhetri, A., P. P. Regmi, N. Chanana, and P. Aggarwal. 2019. Potential of climate-smart agriculture in reducing women farmers' drudgery in high climatic risk areas. *Climatic Change* 158:29–42. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-018-2350-8.

King-Dejardin, A. 2019. The social construction of migrant care work. At the intersection of care, migration and gender. ILO, Geneva. http://fnope.org.pl/dokumenty/2019/03/wcms_674622.pdf.

Klepp, S. 2017. Climate change and migration. Oxford research encyclopedia of climate science.

https://oxfordre.com/climatescience/view/10.1093/acrefore/9780190228620.001. 0001/acrefore-9780190228620-e-42.

Kristjanson, P., E. Bryan, Q. Bernier, J. Twyman, R. Meinzen-Dick, C. Kieran, C. Ringler, C. Jost, and C. Doss. 2017. Addressing gender in agricultural research for development in the face of a changing climate: Where are we and where should we be going? *International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability* 15 (5): 482–500.

Kumari, A., and A. K. Sharma. 2017. Physical & social infrastructure in India & its relationship with economic development. *World Development Perspectives* 5:30–33.

Lam, T. 2019. Young women and girls left behind. Causes and consequences. In Supporting brighter futures. Young women and girls and labour migration in South-East Asia and the Pacific, 11–28. International Organization for Migration, Geneva.

Lam, T., and B. Yeoh. 2019. Parental migration and disruptions in everyday life: Reactions of left-behind children in Southeast Asia. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 45 (16): 3085–3104.

Larson, A. M., T. Dokken, A. E. Duchelle, S. Atmadja, I. A. P. Resosudarmo, P. Cronkleton, M. Cromberg, W. D. Sunderlin, A. Awono, and G. Selaya. 2015. The role of women in early REDD+ implementation: Lessons for future engagement. *International Forestry Review* 17 (1): 43–65.

Lau, J. D., D. Kleiber, S. Lawless, and P. J. Cohen. 2021. Gender equality in climate policy and practice hindered by assumptions. *Nature Climate Change* 11 (March): 186–192.

Least Developed Countries Expert Group (LEG). 2015. Strengthening gender considerations in adaptation planning and implementation in the least developed countries. UNFCCC.

León-Himmelstine, C., and H. Salomon. 2020. Findings from WE-Care Project final evaluation. January. Oxfam. doi: 10.21201/2020.5587.

Lindgren, S. A. 2020. Clean cooking for all? A critical review of behavior, stakeholder engagement, and adoption for the global diffusion of improved cookstoves. *Energy Research & Social Science* 68:101539. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.10153.

Listo, R. 2018. Preventing violence against women and girls in refugee and displaced person camps: Is energy access the solution? *Energy Research & Social Science* 44:172–177.

Lopez-Alzina, D. G. 2020. Indigenous women in agriculture: Focus on Latin America. In *The Routledge handbook of gender and agriculture*, eds. C. Sachs, L. Jensen, P. Castellanos, and K. Sexsmith, 336–347. London: Routledge.

Lopez-Ruiz, M., F. G. Benavides, A. Vives, and L. Artazcoz. 2017. Informal employment, unpaid care work, and health status in Spanish-speaking Central American countries: A gender-based approach. *International Journal of Public Health* 62 (2): 209–218.

Lucier, K. J., and M. Qadir. 2018. Gender and community mainstreaming in fog water collection systems. *Water* 10:1472.

MacGregor, S. 2010. A stranger silence still: The need for feminist social research on climate change. *Sociological Review* 57 (2): 124–40.

MacGregor, S. 2017. Moving beyond impacts: More answers to the "gender and climate change" question. In *Understanding climate change through gender relations*, eds. S. Buckingham and V. Le Masson. London: Routledge.

Masika, R., and S. Bailur. 2015. Negotiating women's agency through ICTs: A comparative study of Uganda and India. *Gender, Technology and Development* 19 (1): 43–69.

Mason, C., ed. 2018. *The Routledge handbook of queer development studies*. London: Routledge.

Mersha, A. A., and F. V. Laerhoven. 2016. A gender approach to understanding the differentiated impact of barriers to adaptation: Responses to climate change in rural Ethiopia. *Regional Environmental Change* 16:1701–1713.

Meyiwa, T., T. Maseti, S. Ngubane, T. Letsekha, and C. Rozani. 2014. Women in selected rural municipalities: Resilience and agency against vulnerabilities to climate change. *Agenda* 28 (3): 102–114. doi: 10.1080/10130950.2014.955686.

Mies, M. 1982. The lace makers of Narsapur. London: Zed Books.

Mies, M. 1986. Patriarchy and accumulation on a world scale: Women in the international division of labour. London: Zed Books.

Mikulewicz, M. 2020. The discursive politics of adaptation to climate change. *Annals of the American Association of Geographers* 110 (6): 1807–1830.

Mínguez, A. M. 2012. Gender, family and care provision in developing countries:Towards gender equality. *Progress in Development Studies* 12 (4): 275–300.

Mittal, S. 2016. Role of mobile phone-enabled climate information services in gender-inclusive agriculture. *Gender, Technology and Development* 20 (2): 200–217.

Molyneaux, M. 1979. Beyond the domestic labour debate. *New Left Review* 3–27. https://newleftreview.org/issues/i116/articles/maxine-molyneux-beyond-the-domestic-labour-debate.

Morrissey, J. 2018. Linking electrification and productive use. Oxfam Research Backgrounder series. Oxfam America.

Moser, C. 1989. Gender planning in the third world: Meeting practical and strategic gender needs. *World Development* 17 (11): 1799–1825.

Mosse, D. 2004. Is good policy unimplementable? Reflections on the ethnography of aid policy and practice. *Development and Change* 35 (4): 639–671.

Mugehera, L., and A. Parkes. 2020. Unlocking sustainable development in Africa by addressing unpaid care and domestic work. Oxfam policy brief. https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/620939/bpsustainable-development-africa-ucdw-030220-en.pdf.

Nelson, J. A., and M. Power. 2018. Ecology, sustainability, and care: Developments in the field. *Feminist Economics* 24 (3): 80–88.

Nelson, V., and T. Stathers. 2009. Resilience, power, culture, and climate: A case study from semi-arid Tanzania, and new research directions. *Gender & Development* 17 (1): 81–94.

Neumayer, E., and T. Plümper. 2007. The gendered nature of natural disasters: The impact of catastrophic events on the gender gap in life expectancy, 1981–2002. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers* 97 (3): 551–566.

Newth, H. 2016. Women's economic empowerment and care (WE-Care) – Oxfam: Phase 1 final report.

Njuki, J., Parkins, J.R. and Kaler, A. 2016. Transforming Gender and Food Security in the Global South. *Routledge Studies in Food, Society and the Environment* London: Earthscan.

Olsson, P., M. Opondo, P. Tschakert, A. Agrawal, S. H. Eriksen, S. Ma, L. N. Perch, S. A. Zakieldeen, C. Jampel, E. Kissel et al. 2014. Livelihoods and poverty. In Climate change 2014: Impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability. Part A: Global and sectoral aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report – IPCC, 793–832.

Onta, N., and B. Resurreccion. 2011 The role of gender and caste in climate adaptation strategies in Nepal. *Mountain Research and Development* 31 (4): 351–356.

Opuko, E., and T. Glazebrook. 2018. Gender, agriculture and climate policy in Ghana. *Environmental Ethics* 40:371–387.

Osei-Agyemang, M. 2007. Temperatures rising: Understanding the relationship between climate change, conflict and women. *Women and Environments* 74/75:21–24.

Otzelberger, A. 2014. Tackling the double injustice of climate change and gender inequality. CARE International. https://careclimatechange.org/double-injustice/.

Oxfam. 2018. Measuring unpaid care work in household surveys. Research in practice briefing. https://policy-practice.oxfam.org/resources/measuring-unpaid-care-work-in-household-surveys-620490/.

Oxfam. 2017. Beneath the dry land. Kenya Drought Gender Analysis. Maria Libertad Mella Dometita, Gender Adviser – Humanitarian Support Personnel. Oxfam International.

https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/handle/10546/620403

Oxfam. 2019. Forced from home: Climate-fuelled displacement. Oxfam media briefing.

https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/620914/mb-climate-displacement-cop25-021219-en.pdf.

Oxfam. 2020. Making care count. An overview of the women's economic empowerment and care initiative. https://policy-practice.oxfam.org/resources/making-care-count-an-overview-of-the-womens-economic-empowerment-and-care-initi-621100/.

Palladino, L., and R. Gunn-Wright. 2021. Care and climate: Understanding policy intersections. A Feminist Green New Deal Coalition Brief. April. http://feministgreennewdeal.com/2021/04/15/care-&-climate:-understanding-the-policy-intersections/.

Palladino, L., and R. Mabud. 2021. It's time to care: The economic case for investing in a care infrastructure. Time's Up Foundation.

https://timesupfoundation.org/work/times-up-impact-lab/times-up-measure-up/its-time-to-care-the-economic-case-for-investing-in-a-care-infrastructure/.

Peach-Brown, H. C. 2011. Gender, climate change and REDD in the Congo basin forests of Central Africa. *International Forestry Review* 13:163–176.

Pearson, R. 2004. The social is political. *International Feminist Journal of Politics* 6 (4): 603–622.

Peluso, N. L., and C. Lund. 2011. New frontiers of land control: Introduction. *Journal of Peasant Studies* 38 (4): 667–681.

Perkins, P. E. 2007. Feminist ecological economics and sustainability. *Journal of Bioeconomics* 9:227–24.

Peterman, A., J. Behrman, and A. Quisumbing. 2010. A review of empirical evidence on gender differences in nonland agricultural inputs, technology, and services in developing countries. FAO, Rome. http://www.fao.org/3/a-am316e.pdf.

Peterman, A., N. Kumar, A. Pereira, and D. O. Gilligan. 2019. Toward gender equality: A critical assessment of evidence on social safety nets in Africa. In Gender equality in rural Africa: From commitments to outcomes, eds. A. Quisumbing, R. Meinzen-Dick, and J. Njuki, 140–148. ReSAKSS 2019 Annual Trends and Outlook Report. IFPRI, Washington, DC.

Pettengell, C. 2015. Africa's smallholders adapting to climate change. Joint agency briefing note. Published by Oxfam GB for Oxfam International.

Public Health Institute (PHI)/Centre for Climate Change and Health (CCCH). 2016. Special focus: Climate change and women's heath. https://climatehealthconnect.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/PregnantWomen.pdf.

Quisumbing, A., R. Meinzen-Dick, and J. Njuki, eds. 2019. Gender equality in rural Africa: From commitments to outcomes. ReSAKSS 2019 Annual Trends and Outlook Report. IFPRI, Washington, DC.

Rai, S., C. Hoskins, and D. Thomas. 2014. Depletion: The cost of social reproduction. *International Feminist Journal of Politics* 16 (1): 86–105.

Rao, N. 2018. Global agendas, local norms: Mobilizing around unpaid care and domestic work in Asia. *Development and Change* 49 (3): 735–758.

Rao, N. 2019. From abandonment to autonomy: Gendered strategies for coping with climate change, Isiolo County, Kenya. *Geoforum* 102:27–37.

Rao, N., E. Lawson, W. Raditloaneng, D. Solomon, and M. Anglua. 2019. Gendered vulnerabilities to climate change: Insights from the semi-arid regions of Africa and Asia. *Climate and Development* 11 (1): 14–26.

Rao, N., A. Mishra, A. Prakash, C. Singh, A. Qaisrani, P. Poonacha, K. Vincent, and C. Bedelian. 2019. A qualitative comparative analysis of women's agency and adaptive capacity in climate change hotspots in Asia and Africa. *Nature Climate Change* 9:964–971.

Rao, N., C. Singh, D. Solomon, L. Camfield, R. Sidiki, M. Angula, P. Poonacha, A. Sidibé, and E. T. Lawson. 2020. Managing risk, changing aspirations and household dynamics: Implications for wellbeing and adaptation in semi-arid Africa and India. *World Development* 125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2019.104667.

Razavi, S. 2007. The political and social economy of care in a development context. Gender and Development Programme Paper Number 3, UNRISD. https://www.unrisd.org/80256B3C005BCCF9/%28httpAuxPages%29/2DBE6A93 350A7783C12573240036D5A0/\$file/Razavi-paper.pdf.

Razavi, S. 2009. From global economic crisis to the "other crisis." *Development* 52:323–328.

Resurrección, B. P. 2013. Persistent women and environment linkages in climate change and sustainable development agendas. *Women's Studies International Forum* 40:33–43.

Resurrección, B. P. 2019. Water insecurity in disaster and climate change context. In *People and climate change: Vulnerability, adaptation, and social justice*, eds. L. Reyes Mason and J. Riggs. Oxford: Oxford Scholarship Online.

Resurrección, B. P. n.d. The gender and climate debate: More of the same or new pathways of thinking and doing. https://www.rsis.edu.sg/wp-content/uploads/rsis-pubs/NTS/resources/research_papers/MacArthur%20Working%20Paper_Bernadette.pdf. (Link is dead—quoted in Jerneck 2018, 11).

Resurrección, B. P., B. A. Bee, I. Dankelman, C. M. Y. Park, M. Halder, and C. P. McMullen. 2019. Gender-transformative climate change adaptation: Advancing social equity. Background paper to the 2019 report of the Global Commission on Adaptation. Rotterdam and Washington, DC. www.gca.org.

Rewald, R. 2017. Energy and women and girls. Oxfam Research Backgrounder. https://s3.amazonaws.com/oxfam-us/www/static/media/files/energy-womengirls.pdf.

Rezwana, N., and R. Pain. 2020. Gender-based violence before, during and after cyclones: Slow violence and layered disasters. *Disasters* 45 (4): 741–761. https://doi.org/10.1111/disa.12441.

Richards, J. A., and S. Bradshaw. 2017. Uprooted by climate change. Oxfam. https://www.oxfam.org/en/research/uprooted-climate-change.

Rocheleau, D., and D. Edmunds. 1997. Women, men and trees: Gender, power and property in forest and agrarian landscapes. *World Development* 25 (8): 1351–1371.

Rocheleau, D., B. Thomas-Slayter, and E. Wangari. 1996. Gender and environment: A feminist political ecology perspective. In *Feminist political ecology: Global issues and local experiences*, eds. D. Rocheleau, B. Thomas-Slayter, and E. Wangari, 3–26. Abingdon: Routledge.

Romero Gonzales, A. M., A. Belemvire, and S. Sauliere. 2011. Climate change and women farmers in Burkina Faso. Oxfam Research Report.

Roseborough, S., J. Chan, and P. Parmar. 2009. Responding to gender-based violence in disasters. *Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness* 3 (1): 8–10.

Rost, L., K. Bates, and L. Dellepiane. 2015. Women's economic empowerment and care: Evidence for influencing. Baseline research report. Oxfam. https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/578732/rr-baseline-report-we-care-200715-en.pdf?sequence=1.

Salleh, A. 2009. *Eco-sufficiency and global justice: Women write political ecology.* London: Pluto Press.

Sandström, S., and A. Strapasson. 2017. Socio-environmental assessment of gender equality, pastoralism, agriculture and climate information in rural communities of Northern Tanzania. *Journal of Gender, Agriculture and Food Security* 2:66–83.

Sasser, J. 2018. On infertile ground: Population control and women's rights in the era of climate change. New York, NY: New York University Press.

Schatz, E., and J. Seeley. 2015. Gender, ageing and carework in East and Southern Africa: A review. *Global Public Health* 10 (10): 1185–1200.

Sellers, S. 2016. Gender and climate change: A closer look at existing evidence. Global Gender and Climate Alliance, New York, NY.

Sen, G., and C. Grown. 1987. *Development, crises, and alternative visions*. New York, NY: Monthly Review Press.

Shiva, V. 1989. *Staying alive: Women, ecology and development.* London: Zed Books.

Slavchevska, V., S. Kaaria, and S-L. Taivalmaa. 2016. Feminization of agriculture in the context of rural transformations: What is the evidence? World Bank, Washington, DC.

https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/25099.

Smyrilli, C., P. Silva, L. Rosado, and M. Thompson. 2018. Identifying and analyzing the gendered impacts of Hurricane María on WASH practices in rural

communities of Puerto Rico. Oxfam Research Backgrounder. www.oxfamamerica.org/WASH-gender-Puerto-Rico.

Staab, S., and R. Gerhard. 2011. Putting two and two together? Early childhood education, mothers' employment and care service expansion in Chile and Mexico. *Development and Change* 42 (4): 1079–1107.

Sultana, F. 2011. Suffering for water, suffering from water: Emotional geographies of resource access, control and conflict. *Geoforum* 42:163–172.

Szabo, S., W. N. Adger, and Z. Matthews. 2018. Home is where the money goes: Migration-related urban-rural integration in delta regions. *Migration and Development* 2324:1–17.

Tovar-Restrepo, M. 2017. Planning for climate change: REDD+SES as gender-responsive environmental action. In *The Routledge handbook of gender and environment*, ed. S. MacGregor, 412–429. London: Routledge.

Tronto, J. C. 2013. *Caring democracy: Markets, equality, and justice*. New York, NY: New York University Press.

United Nations (UN). 2019. "Race against time" to help women who bore brunt of Cyclone Idai: UN reproductive health agency. UN News. https://news.un.org/en/story/2019/03/1035581.

United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). 2017. Making cash transfers work for children and families: Child poverty and social protection. UNICEF, New York, NY. https://www.unicef.org/lac/sites/unicef.org.lac/files/2019-11/Making%20cash%20transfers%20work%20for%20children%20and%20familie s.pdf (accessed July 17, 2021).

United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). 2015. The SDGs in action (Sustainable Development Goals). https://www.undp.org/sustainable-development-goals.

United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). 2011. Reducing vulnerability to climate change, climate variability and extremes, land degradation and loss of biodiversity: Environmental and developmental challenges and opportunities.

http://unfccc.int/resource/docs/publications/ldc_reducingvulnerability.pdf.

UNFCCC. 2015. Paris Agreement United Nations (UN) General Assembly (2015). Transforming our world: The 2030 agenda for sustainable development, October 21, A/RES/70/1. https://www.refworld.org/docid/57b6e3e44.html.

UN Human Rights Council (UNHRC). 2019. Analytical study on gender-responsive climate action for the full and effective enjoyment of the rights of

women. July 12. A/HRC/41/26. https://www.refworld.org/docid/461e2c602.html (accessed March 8, 2021).

United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA). 2015. Shelter from the storm. UNFPA. https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/sowp/downloads/State_of_World_Population_2015_EN.pdf.

UN Water. 2018. Water and climate change. WaterFacts_water_and_climatechange_Sep2018.pdf.

UN Women. n.d. SDG 4: Ensure inclusive and quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all. https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/infocus/women-and-the-sdgs/sdg-4-quality-education (accessed November 12, 2021).

UN Women. 2014. Gender equality and sustainable development. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/1900unwomen_surveyreport_advance_16oct.pdf.

UN Women. 2015. Progress of the world's women 2015–2016. Summary. UN Women, New York, NY.

UN Women. 2016. Leveraging co-benefits between gender equality and climate action for sustainable development. Y. Glemarec, S. Qayum, and M. Olshanskaya. UN Women, New York, NY.

UN Women Fiji. 2014. Climate change, disasters and gender-based violence in the Pacific. United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women, Fiji.

https://www.uncclearn.org/sites/default/files/inventory/unwomen701.pdf.

United States Agency for International Development (USAID). 2012. Gender mainstreaming in ICT for agriculture. Briefing paper.

http://www.ngoconnect.net/documents/592341/749044/Gender+Mainstreaming+in+ICT+ for+Ag.pdf.

Upton, R. L. 2003. "Women have no tribe": Connecting carework, gender, and migration in an era of HIV/AIDS in Botswana. *Gender and Society* 17:314–322.

van Aelst, K., and N. Holvoet. 2016. Intersections of gender and marital status in accessing climate change adaptation: Evidence from rural Tanzania. *World Development* 79:40–50.

Verbruggen, A., ed. 2007. Annex 1 Glossary. In *Climate change 2007: Mitigation of climate change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, eds. B. Metz, O. R. Davidson, P. R. Bosch. R. Dave, and L. A. Meyer, 809–822. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Wang, Y., and C. Corson. 2015. The making of a "charismatic" carbon credit: Clean cookstoves and "uncooperative" women in western Kenya. *Environment and Planning A* 47:2064–2079.

Waring, M. 1999. Counting for something. *Gender and Development* 11 (1): 35–43.

Warner, K., and T. Afifi. 2014. Where the rain falls: Evidence from 8 countries on how vulnerable households use migration to manage the risk of rainfall variability and food insecurity. *Climate and Development* 6 (1): 1–17.

Webb, J. 2015. Gender dynamics in a changing climate: How gender and adaptive capacity affect resilience. CARE. https://careclimatechange.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Gender-and-Adaptation-Learning-Brief.pdf.

Weerawardhana, C. 2018. Decolonising development work: A transfeminist perspective. In *The Routledge handbook of queer development studies*, ed. C. Mason, 119–130. London: Routledge.

Westholm, L., and S. Arora-Jonsson. 2015. Defining solutions, finding problems: Deforestation, gender and REDD+ in Burkina Faso. *Conservation & Society* 13 (2): 189–199.

Westholm, L., and S. Arora-Jonsson. 2018. What room for politics and change in global climate governance? Addressing gender in co-benefits and safeguards. *Environmental Politics* 27 (5): 917–938.

Wheeler, T., and J. von Braun. 2013. Climate change impacts on global food security. *Science* 341 (6145): 508–513.

Women's and Gender Constituency (WGC). 2016. Gender just climate solutions – award report: 2nd edition. Women Engage for Common Future (WECF).

WGC. 2017. Gender just climate solutions – award report: 3rd edition. Women Engage for Common Future (WECF).

WGC. 2018. Gender just climate solutions – award report: 4th edition. Women Engage for Common Future (WECF).

WGC. 2019. Gender just climate solutions – award report: 5th edition. Women Engage for Common Future (WECF).

WGC. 2020. Gender just climate solutions – award report: 6th edition. Women Engage for Common Future (WECF). https://womengenderclimate.org/gender-just-climate-solutions-2/. (NB: all reports online, as well as a database of award-winning initiatives).

Women's Refugee Commission (WRC). 2011. Cooking fuel saves lives: A holistic approach to cooking in humanitarian settings.

https://www.womensrefugeecommission.org/firewood/resources/679-cooking-fuel-saves-lives-overview.

World Bank (WB). 2013. Turn down the heat: Climate extremes, regional impacts, and the case for resilience. A report for the World Bank by the Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research and Climate Analytics. World Bank, Washington, DC.

WB. 2019. Gender-based violence (violence against women and girls). https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/socialdevelopment/brief/violence-against-women-and-girls.

Wright, H., and A. Chandani. 2014. Gender in scaling up community based adaptation to climate change. In *Community based adaptation to climate change: Scaling it up*, eds. L. Schipper, J. Ayers, H. Reid, S. Huq, and A. Rahman. New York, NY: Routledge.

Yadav, S. S., and R. Lal. 2018. Vulnerability of women to climate change in arid and semi-arid regions: The case of India and South Asia. *Journal of Arid Environments* 149: 4–17.

Yurco, K. 2018. Beyond the boma: A gendered approach to conceptualizing resource access in pastoral households. *Geoforum* 97:343–351.

Zaman, S. 2020. Climate change induced gender based violence against women during water collection: A case study in Shatkhira Upazilla, Bangladesh. Case study report, Bangladesh Centre for Advanced Studies (BCAS) Secretariat, Cap-Net Bangladesh. https://capnet-bd.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Case_study_Report_-2020_CN_BD.pdf

RESEARCH BACKGROUNDER SERIES LISTING

"Making Investments in Poor Farmers Pay: A Review of Evidence and Sample of Options for Marginal Areas," by Melinda Smale and Emily Alpert (2009).

"Turning the Tables: Global Trends in Public Agricultural Investments," by Melinda Smale, Kelly Hauser, and Nienke Beintema, with Emily Alpert (2009).

"Risk and Risk Transfer in Agriculture:
Facilitating Food Security and Poor Farmer
Participation," by Leander Schneider (2010).

"From the Ground Up: Strategies for Global Community-based Disaster Risk Reduction," by Kelly Hauser (2010).

"Impact of Climate Change on Response Providers and Socially Vulnerable Communities in the US," by John Cooper and Jasmine Waddell (2010).

"Climate Change and Violent Conflict: A Critical Literature Review," by Ellen Messer (2010).

"Under Pressure: Reducing Disaster Risk and Enhancing US Emergency Response Capacity in an Era of Climate Change," by Marc Cohen, Kelly Hauser, Ellen Messer, and M. Cristina Tirado (2011).

"Impact of Garment and Textile Trade
Preferences on Livelihoods in Cambodia," by
Sophal Chan and Sothea Oum (2011).

"In Need of a Better WASH: Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene Policy Issues in Post-earthquake Haiti," by Figaro Joseph (2011).

"Local Capacity in Humanitarian Response: Vision or Mirage?," by Michael Delaney and Jacobo Ocharan (2012).

"Systems, Power and Agency in Marketbased Approaches to Poverty," by Chris Jochnick (2012).

"Measuring Economic Progress and Well-Being: How to move beyond GDP?," by Heloisa Marone (2012).

"Land Rights, Land Tenure, and Urban Recovery: Rebuilding Post-Earthquake Portau-Prince and Léogâne," by Harley F. Etienne (2012).

"Haiti Rice Value Chain Assessment: Rapid Diagnosis and Implications for Program Design," by David C. Wilcock and Franco Jean-Pierre (2012).

"From Controversy to Consensus: Lessons
Learned from Government and Company
Consultations with Indigenous Organizations
in Peru and Bolivia," edited by Emily
Greenspan (2012).

"Community Consent Index: Oil, Gas, and Mining Company Public Positions on Free, Prior, and Informed Consent (FPIC)," by Marianne Voss and Emily Greenspan (2012).

"Harvesting Data: What Can 10 Years of Official Development Assistance Data Tell Us About US International Agricultural Development?," by Kelly Hauser (2012).

"Summary of reports on mining and development in the province of Espinar, Peru," by Gerardo Castillo Guzmán (2013).

- "US Investment in Large-scale Land Acquisitions in Low- and Middle-Income Countries," by Joshua Humphreys, Ann Solomon, and Emmanuel Tumusiime (2013).
- "Local Institutions, External Interventions, and Adaptations to Climate Variability: The case of the Borana pastoralists in southern Ethiopia," by Dejene Negassa Debsu (2013).
- "Local Institutions, External Interventions, and Adaptations to Climate Variability: The case of southern Mali," by Rebecca Joy Howard (2013).
- "The Power of Oil Palm: Land grabbing and impacts associated with the expansion of oil palm crops in Guatemala: The case of the Palmas del Ixcan Company," by Arantxa Guerena and Ricardo Zepeda (2013).
- "Human Rights and Social Conflict in Oil, Gas, and Mining Industries: Policy recommendations for national human rights institutions," by Ben Collins and Lesley Fleischman (2013).
- "The Rice Value Chain in Haiti: Policy proposal," by Carlos Furche (2013).
- "Housing Delivery and Housing Finance in Haiti: Operationalizing the national housing policy," by Duong Huynh, et al. (2013).
- "Development Assistance on Local Adaptive Capacity to Climate Change: Insights from Senegal," by Henri M. Lo and Emmanuel Tumusiime (2013).
- "Agriculture Change, Land, and Violence in Protracted Political Crisis: An examination of Darfur," by Abdal Monium K. Osman, Helen Young, Robert F. Houser, and Jennifer C. Coates (2013).
- "Sustainable and inclusive Investments in Agriculture: Lessons on the Feed the Future Initiative in Tanzania," by Emmanuel Tumisiime and Demund Matotay (2014).
- "Feed the Future Investment in Haiti: Implications for sustainable food security and poverty reduction," by Danielle Fuller Wimbush and Cardyn Fil-Aime (2014).
- "Delivering Aid in contested Spaces: Afghanistan," by Erin Blankenship (2014).
- "The Drivers of Economic Inequality: A Primer." by Nick Galasso (2014).

- "Ready for gold? Assessing Haiti's governance and regulatory capacity for large-scale mining," by Scott Sellwood and Stuart Levit (2015).
- "Global Reach of the US Financial Sector," by Stephanie Fontana (2015).
- "Climate change, equity and stranded assets," by Simon Caney (2016).
- "Gender and Social Accountability: Ensuring women's inclusion in citizen-led accountability programming relating to extractive industries," by Sarah Bradshaw with Brian Linneker and Lisa Overton (2016).
- "Transformative and Feminist Leadership for Women's Rights," by Shawna Wakefield (2017).
- "The energy challenge in sub-Saharan Africa: A guide for advocates and policy makers: Part 1: Generating energy for sustainable and equitable development," by Nkiruka Avila, Juan Pablo Carvallo, Brittany Shaw, and Daniel M. Kammen (2017).
- "The energy challenge in sub-Saharan Africa: A guide for advocates and policy makers: Part 2: Addressing energy poverty," by James Morrissey (2017).
- "<u>Political Rigging: A primer on political capture and influence in the 21st century,</u>" by Janine R. Wedel, Nazia Hussain, and Dana Archer Dolan (2017).
- "Energy and Women and Girls: Analyzing the needs, uses, and impacts of energy on women and girls in the developing world," by Rebecca Rewald (2017).
- "The Rise of Populism and Its Implications for Development NGOs," by Nick Galasso, Gianandrea Nelli Feroci, Kimberly Pfeifer, Martin Walsh (2017).
- "Mitigating Poverty and Climate Change: How reducing short-lived climate pollutants can support pro-poor sustainable development", by Ryan Hottle and Thomas Damassa (2018).
- "Identifying and analyzing the gendered impact of Hurricane María on WASH practices in rural communities of Puerto Rico," by Christiana Smyrilli, Pamela Silva, Lenulisy Rosado, and Martha Thompson (2018).
- "Linking Electrification and Productive Use," by James Morrissey (2019).

- "Saving for Change in Mali: From Women's Financial Inclusion to Public Engagement," by Tara F. Deubel and Micah Boyer (2019).
- "USAID's AVANSE Project in Haiti: An
 Assessment of Its Conformity with Aid
 Effectiveness Principles," by Marc Anglade,
 Marc J. Cohen, and Tonny Joseph (2019).
- "Accountable to Whom? Promoting Women's Rights through Extractive Industries Revenue Accountability," by Namalie Jayasinghe, Mirna de la Rosa Jimenez, Maritza Ruiz, Tamara Billima-Mulenga, and Mwiinga Cheelo (2019).
- "Natural Gas for Development?

 Understanding the opportunities and challenges for gas in a context of climate change", by Kendra Kintzi (2019).
- "Achieving Universal Electricity Access at the Lowest Cost: A comparison of least-cost electrification models", by James Morrissey (2019)
- "The Demand Side of Impact Investing: Elevating the Perspectives of Local Entrepreneurs in the Impact Sector", by Jessica Jones (2019)
- "Masculinities and the Rise of the Far-Right: Implications for Oxfam's Work on Gender Justice", by Alan Greig (2019)
- "Can Haiti's Peanut Value Chain Survive US
 Generosity? Political economy analysis", by
 Camille Chalmers, Guelsonne Calixte,
 François Gérard Junior Denart, Tonny
 Joseph, and Marc J. Cohen (2020)

- "Zero Hunger, Zero Emissions: Land-based climate change mitigation, food security, and equity", by Krystal Jones (2020)
- "Policy Landscape for the Scaling-Up of Agroforestry in Mali", by Faye Duan (2020)
- "Gender-Responsive Budgeting in Ghana An analysis of GRB implementation and its existing and potential impacts on women small-scale farmers", by Ibrahim Akalbila, Emmanuel Ayifah, Lisa Hilt, Hafiz Muntaka, and Rebecca Rewald (2020)
- "Gender and Technology: A rights-based and intersectional analysis of key trends", by Vanessa Ceia, Benji Nothwehr, and Liz Wagner (2021)
- "Empowering Local Governments?
 The LOKAL+ project in Haiti", by Tonny
 Joseph (2021)
- "Risk Factors for Gender-based Violence: The Case of Indian Agriculture", by Isadora Frankenthal and Diya Dutta (2021)
- "Gender-Responsive Budgeting in Tanzania" by Bertha O. Koda and Lilian V. Mtasingwa (2021)
- "Gender-Responsive Budgeting in Agriculture in Ethiopia" by Bedaso Taye, Nuru Hussen, and Ermias Mengistu (2021)
- "Carbon Pricing: A primer for Oxfam", by James Morrissey (2022)
- "Caring in a changing climate: Centering care work in climate action" by Sherilyn MacGregor, Seema Arora-Jonsson and Maeve Cohen (2022)

Oxfam is a global organization working to end the injustice of poverty. We help people build better futures for themselves, hold the powerful accountable, and save lives in disasters. Our mission is to tackle the root causes of poverty and create lasting solutions. Join us. www.oxfamamerica.org.



US HEADQUARTERS

226 CAUSEWAY STREET, 5TH FLOOR BOSTON, MA 02114-2206 (800) 77-OXFAM

US POLICY & ADVOCACY OFFICE

1101 17TH STREET, NW, SUITE 1300 WASHINGTON, DC 20036 (202) 496-1180

www.oxfamamerica.org

© 2016 Oxfam America Inc. All rights reserved. *Oxfam* is a trademark of Oxfam America Inc., and the Oxfam logo is a registered trademark of Stichting Oxfam International. None of the trademarks may be used without permission of the owner.